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Sterling Bank, Dallas, TX
Sale Leaseback {leased through 2027}
Sterling Bank Acquisition 2006

Charter One, Cleveland, QH
Sale Leaseback (leased through 2011)
Citizens Bank Acguisition 2006
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Marine Bark of the Florida Keys, Marco Island, FL

Formulated Price Contract {leased through 2021)
‘Wachovia Bank, N_A. Acquisition 2005

Cultivating relationships with banks

American Financial Realty Trust had its beginnings as a private
enterprise in the late 1990’ acquiring, leasing and selling vacant bank

real estate. In 2003, the Company went public under the ticker “AFR,”
trading on the New York Stock Exchange as a Real Estate Investment
Trust (REIT). Today, AFR is the only REIT focused solely on acquiring
properties from, and leasing properties to, financial institutions. By acquir-
ing properties from financial institutions through a wide range of transac-
tion structures, we enable them to improve their operating earnings and
maximize return on capital. In turn, we acquire credit rated tenants that
provide a secure and predictable stream of rental income. AFR has culti-
vated its relationships with these customers by delivering on their needs,
and as a result it has become a leader in providing customized real estate
solutions to financial institutions, At the end of 2006, American Financial
Realty Trust owned 1,148 properties geographically dispersed throughout
38 states and employed a staff of 150 dedicated employees who service

AFR’ financial institution customers across the country.

Provident Bank, Richmond, VA Wa

chovia Bunk, Charlotte, NC Bank of America, Sarta Barbura, CA

Formulated Price Contract (leased through 2015) Formulated Price Contract {leased through 2023} Sale Leaseback (leased through 2023)
Wachovia Bunk, N.A. Acquisition 2004 Prefeo Five Acquisition 2003 Bank of America, N.A. Acquisition 2002




“Our strength is a customer-centric strategy that provides
a competitive advantage as it generates deal flow from
both existing and new relationships.”

t is my privilege to write this first letter to you as CEO of your
Icompany. After joining the Board of American Financial Re-
alty Trust in the Spring of 2006, I was asked by the Board to as-
sume leadership of the Company in mid-August and to develop
a strategic plan to unlock shareholder value.

STRATEGY

AFR focuses on a unique niche in the real estate market. Stated
most simply, we acquire real estate from financial institutions, en-
abling them to improve operating earnings and maximize their re-
turn on capital. Our strength is a customer-centric strategy that
provides a competitive advantage as it generates deal flow from
both existing and new relationships. AFR’s acquisition of properties
from financial institutions comes in one of three forms:

1. Long-term sale leasebacks of tenant properties that are
leased to a single tenant on a triple net basis;

2. Acquisition of branches being vacated by a financial institu-
tion that will be leased to another financial institution on a
triple net basis or sold for an alternative use; and

3. Structuring of specifically-tailored transactions, potentially
consisting of office properties, operations centers, as well as
branches, designed to assist the customer in planning for
long-term space needs.

STRATEGIC REVIEW

During the Summer of 2006, the Board conducted a thorough
review of the Company’s business strategy, its operations and
performance and its strategic options. This review resulted in the
following conclusions:

+ the Company indeed occupies a strong market position, serv-
ing the real estate needs of the financial services industry;
* the current trends in this industry, namely continued

consolidation, an increased focus on expense control and
the need for efficient utilization of capital, should serve to
accelerate AFR’s opportunities;

+ the Company’s basic business model is sound, when
properly executed;

¢ the AFR team possesses the requisite skills and specific
industry expertise; and

¢ the Company should immediately undertake a repositioning
designed to more effectively execute its strategy and improve
core operations and financial performance.

REPOSITIONING PLAN

In August 2006, we announced a five point repositioning plan
that was to be completed by the end of 2007. As of this writing,
I am pleased to report substantial progress on all fronts.

1. Sell between $1.5-2.0 billion in assets which are either off-
strategy or nen-core to our customer relattonships, or represent
a drag on shareholder value.

Harold W. Pote
President and
Chief Executive Officer
American Financial Realty Trust
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“The current trends in this industry should serve to
accelerate AFR’s opportunities.”

By year-end 2006, we completed $993 million of property
dispositions related to the strategic repositioning. Included
in this total is the saie of State Street Financial Center for
$889 million, a property which offered no potential for
growih in net operating income or opportunity for further
asset acquisitions from this customer. Further, the 2006 dis-
positions included $104 million in non-core assets, i.e. prop-
erties which are not central to a customer relationship and
which do not offer sufficient upside potential.

Additionally, as a result of an intensive review of our portfo-
lio, we moved all other assets currently targeted for disposi-
tion into the Held-for-Sale category. As of December 31,
2006, 237 assets with a written-down book value of $595 mil-
lion remained in this category. Since the beginning of 2007,
74 assets were sold or under contract for a sales price of
$478 million that we expect to result in a gain of $35 mil-
lion. Included in this total are three large assets with a
combined book value of $325 million, including the head-
quarters of the Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company.

Our goal, therefore, for the remainder of this year is to com-
plete the sale of the remaining $170 million in assets Held-
for-Sale.

. Rationalize the Company’s liability structure by reducing
leverage (the ratio of our debt to total book value of our as-
sets) to between 60-65 percent and improving net cash flow
through repayment of debt with high interest rates or debt
service constants,

The debt to total book ratic, which was 72 percent at the end
of the second quarter of 2006, stands at 67 percent, and we
have reduced our average cost of funds from 5.73 percent

to 5.66 percent.

3. Reduce general and administrative costs by $6-8 million.

This was accomplished by year-end 2006, when the annu-
alized G&A run rate stood at $27.4 million compared to
$35.4 million in the second quarter, and we continue to
seek additional savings.

4, Reduce the dividend by 30 percent to $.19 per share per
quarter and strive to cover this dividend from operating cash
flow by the second half of 2007.

This reduction, while painful in the near term for you, the
owners of our Company, was necessary and prudent, and we
are on target to achieve dividend coverage later this year.

5. Restore AFR's credibility in the markets by clearer enunci-
ation of our strategy, enhanced financial reporting and

consistent execution.

Based on the overwhelmingly positive feedback from many
of you, I know that we have made substantial progress with
this initiative. We are endeavoring to lay out our plans in
clear and simple language, do what we said we would do, and
provide you with the metrics to track our progress. Addition-
ally, we will continue to improve the information we provide
in upcoming earnings releases.

OUTLOOK

As I noted above, we are very pleased with the progress made to
date in repositioning your company, and we have now turned our
attention to improving financial performance by achieving our
principal goals for 2007:




“We have now turned our attention to improving financial
performance by achieving our principal goals for 2007.”

1. Enhance the operating performance of our core assets

As enumerated in our recent earnings guidance, successful
execution of our 2007 plan is expected to resuit in:

» an increase in overall occupancy to 90-92 percent (compared
to 86 percent at the end of the second quarter 2006) with 80-
85 percent of rental income coming from financial institutions;

« growth in same store net operating income of 2-4 percent; and

* improvement in operating earnings and more efficient use
of capital.

2. Generate profitable new business

We have re-energized our efforts to acquire assets which are
consistent with our strategic direction.

As of the date of this letter, I am encouraged by our early
progress in building a pipeline of attractive opportunities. In
mid-2006, we announced a partnership with Sandler O'Neill &
Partners, L.P, a leading advisor and investment bank to mid-
sized financial institutions. The purpose of this partnership is to
expand our acquisition reach into this market segment. Together
we are now meeting with these institutions to discuss how we can
help them improve their business performance while meeting
their real estate needs.

. Build out the Company’ infrastructure

By year-end, we would expect to have substantially completed
the redesign of key processes and implementation of our
enterprise-wide technology platform, as well as updating our
plans for further enhancements.

POSITIONING

Our strategy, when executed with clarity and consistency, will
produce a company which, in my judgment, will be strongly po-
sitioned in the marketplace as a “high quality triple net REIT
with some real estate upside” because:

e a substantial majority of our rental income will be derived
from long-term leases with financial institutions which allow
pass-through of operating and capital costs;

* we will have the opportunity to create additional value
through lease rollover, lease up of vacancy and control of
operating expenses; and

» we will sell, in a disciplined manner, properties which are not
core to our customers’ needs and do not offer our Company
the opportunity to create additional value,

Our path forward is clear, and the team is experienced, focused
and working hard on your behalf. We occupy a unique niche in
the real estate industry and market forces within that niche seem
to be favorable. We are striving to minimize our cost of debt and
maxirnize the efficient use of our capital. We have begun to exe-
cute with excellence and, very importantly, we are doing what we
said we would do. As a result, I am confident we are on track to
unlock substantial shareholder value.

Thank you for your support.
Sincerely,

Newotd 10 SHs

Harold W. Pote
President and Chief Executive Officer
American Financial Realty Trust




SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Period from
September 10,
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended 2002 to
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Operating Information:
Total revenues $ 426,622 $ 380,072 $ 232939 $ 119790 $ 13202
Income (loss) from continuing operations (132,578) (84,060) (46,476) (25,084) 8412
Net income (loss) (20,598) (93,615) (22,245) (18,822) 8,944
Basic income (loss) per share:
From continuing operations (1L.04) (0.71) {0.45) (0.35) 020
From discontinued operations 0.87 (0.07) 0.23 0.09 0.01
Total basic income (loss) per share 017 (0.78) 022) (0.26) 021
Diluted income (loss) per share:
From continuing operations (1.04) (0.71) (0.45) (0.35) 0.19
From discontinued operations (0.87) {0.07) 023 0.09 0.0
Total diluted income (loss) per share {0.17) (0.78) (0.22) (0.26) 0.20
Dividends/distributions declared per common
share and Operating Partnership units 0.92 1.08 1.02 1.00 0.22
Cash Flow Information:
From operating activities (26,689) 80,637 118,620 94,809 12,879
From investing activities 1,124,225 (700,745) (1,744,112} (46,387) (1,365,239)
From financing activities (1,101,775) 619,746 1,524,940 101,894 1,413,202
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Balance Sheet Information:
Real estate investments, at cost $ 2,320,600 $3,296,026 $ 3,054,532 $1,654,723 $ 250,544
Cash and cash equivalents 106,006 110,245 110,607 211,158 60,842
Marketable investments and accrued interest 3,457 3,353 24,272 67,561 144,326
Residential mortgage-backed securities portfolio — — — — 1,116,119
Intangible assets, net 314,753 642,467 590,341 115,084 2,413
Total assets 3,606,164 4,623,576 3,951,847 2,142,339 1,605,165
Mortgage notes payable 1557313 2,467,596 2,008,554 921,355 149,886
Credit facilities 212,609 171,265 270,000 _— —_
Convertible debt, net 446,343 446,134 445,926 — —
Reverse repurchase agreements — — — — 1,053,529
Total debt 2,216,265 3,084,995 2,724,480 921,355 1,203,415
Below-market lease liabilities, net 7,173 67,613 59,232 49,485 1,268
Total liabilities 2,807,807 3,662,509 3,016,789 1,128,373 1,231,990
Minority interest 12,393 53224 65,099 36,365 36,513
Total sharcholders’ equity 785,964 907 843 869,959 977,601 336,662
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 3,606,164 4,623,576 3,951,847 2,142,339 1,605,165
Predecessor
Period from

January 1, 2002 to
September 9, 2002

Operating Information:

Total revenues

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income {loss)

Cash Flow Information:

From operating activitics
From investing activities
From financing activities

$520,349
(94,290)
5,657

2382
6.625
(7,388)




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements and the notes
thereto included elsewhere in this report.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The following discussion includes a number of forward-
looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Exchange Act, reflecting information about possible or
assumed future results of our business, financial condi-
tion, liquidity, results of operations, plans and objectives.
These forward-looking statements are subject to risks
and uncertainties. Statements regarding the following
subjects are forward-looking by their nature:

® our business strategy;

* our projected operating results;

* our ability to identify and complete additional property
acquisitions;

* our ability to profitably dispose of non-core assets;

* our ability to complete and finance pending property
acquisitions, including those under our formulated
price contracts, and the estimated timing of the closings
of such acquisitions;

* our ability to obtain future financing,

* our ability to lease-up assumed leasehold interests
above the leasehold liability obligation;

 our ability to execute our repositioning strategy;

* estimates relating to our future dividends;

¢ our understanding of our competition;

* market trends;

*® projected capital expenditures; and

* the impact of technology on our products, operations
and business.

The forward-looking statements are based on our
beliefs, assumptions and expectations of our future per-
formance, taking into account all information currently
available to us. These beliefs, assumptions and expecta-
tions can change as a result of many possible events or
factors, not all of which are known to us. If a change
occurs, our business, financial condition, liquidity and
results of operations may vary materially from those
expressed in the forward-looking statements. You
should carefully consider these risks before you make an
investment decision with respect to our common shares,
along with the following factors that could cause actual
results to vary from our forward-looking statements:

» general volatility of the capital markets and the market
price of our common shares;

® our ability to obtain financing with respect to our
properties on favorable terms or at all;

¢ our ability to maintain our current relationships with
financial institutions and to establish new relation-
ships with additional financial institutions;

* our ability to execute our repositioning strategy and
other changes in our business plan;

* gvailability, terms and deployment of capital;

* our ability to successfully complete our information
system implementation currently in progress;

¢ availability of qualified personnel;

* our ability to maintain an adequate, effective control
environment;

* our ability to accurately project future financial per-
formance;

® changes in our industry, interest rates or the general
economy;

s the degree and nature of our competition;

* the conversion provisions of our convertible senior
notes; and

* the additional risks relating to our business described
under the heading “Risk Factors” in Item IA, Part I of
the Companys Form 10-K as filed on March 1, 2007.
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When we use the words “believe,” “expect,” “antici-
pate,” “estimate” or similar expressions, we intend to
identify forward-looking statements. You should not
place undue reliance on these forward-looking state-
ments. We do not intend to update publicly any forward-
looking statement, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, except as
required by law.

OVERVIEW

We are a self-administered, self-managed Maryland
real estate investment trust, or REIT. We are focused
primarily on acquiring and operating properties leased
to regulated financial institutions. We believe banks will
divest of their corporate real estate, in order to enhance
operating performance. We also believe that our con-
tractual relationships, with large national banks, our
growing visibility within the banking industry and the
flexible acquisition and lease structures we can offer
financial institutions positions us for continued growth.
We seek to lease our properties to banks and financial
institutions, generally using long-term triple net or bond
net leases, resulting in stable risk-adjusted returns on
our capital. We lease space not occupied by financial
institutions to other third-party tenants at market terms.

We believe that our competitive advantage over tradi-
tional real estate companies is our ability to provide
banks and other financial institutions with operational
flexibility and the benefits of reduced real estate expo-
sure, We seek to become the preferred landlord of lead-
ing banks and other financial institutions through the
development of mutually beneficial relationships and by
offering flexible acquisition structures and lease terms.
We believe that financial institutions enjoy our long-
term relationship oriented business strategy rather than
undergoing a competitive, selective bidding process with
various real estate companies. Recent transactions




involving Bank of America, N.A., Wachovia Bank, N.A.,
Citizens Financial Group, Inc. and Regions Financial
Corporation demonstrate our ability to cultivate and
maintain mutually beneficial relationships with leading
financial institutions.

As of December 31, 2006, we owned or held leasehold
interests in 1,148 properties located in 37 states and
Washington, D.C., including 700 bank branches and 424
office buildings, containing an aggregate of approximately
33.2 million rentable square feet.

Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we
acquired interests in 156 properties, containing an aggre-
gate of approximately 2.0 million square feet, and 11
land parcels, for a total net purchase price of $192.8 mil-
lion. Acquired properties consist primarily of bank
branches acquired under existing formulated price con-
tracts or properties purchased in sale-leaseback transac-
tions. Included in these were the acquisition of 16
multi-tenanted buildings from National City Bank con-
taining 1.1 million square feet, purchased for $35.2 mil-
lion and the acquisition of 8 and 16 properties in
sale-leaseback transactions with Western Sierra Bank
and Sterling Bank, respectively. These portfolios contain
51,000 and 179,000 square feet and were acquired for
$14.1 million and $28.8 million, respectively.

We also acquired, through an investment in an uncon-
solidated joint venture with Dillon Read Capital
Management LLC, an approximately 25% interest in 239
bank branches fully leased on a triple net basis to sub-
sidiaries of Citizens Financial Group, Inc. This portfolio
contains 983,000 rentable square feet with leases ranging
from five to fifteen years. Our initial equity contribution
totaled approximately $19.7 million.

Dispositions °

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we disposed
of 154 non-core properties, land parcels and leasehold
interests aggregating approximately 5.8 million square
feet, for net proceeds of $1,421.5 million. Included in these
dispositions is the sale of five properties aggregating
approximately 1.16 million square feet to Resnick
Development Corp. for a gross sales price of $301.0 million,
before transaction and closing costs. The five properties
consisted of 215 Fremont, San Francisco, California;
Condominium Unit #1 at 123 S. Broad Street, Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania; 2200 S. Cobalt Way, Meridian, Idaho; 1806
Tuckerstation Road, Louisville, Kentucky; and 5430
Millstream Road, McLeansville, North Carolina.
Additionally, in December, we completed the sale of State
Street Financial Center, a one million square foot Class
“A” office building located in Boston, Massachusetts, in
which we owned a 70% interest. This property was sold to
Fortis Property Group for a gross sale price of $88%.0 mil-
lion. We disposed of another 148 other properties consist-
ing of 3.6 million rentable square feet for an aggregate sale
price of approximately $244.8 million.

Financings

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we received
proceeds of $327.9 million from new financings, including
(i) debt secured by properties acquired during the year
ended December 31, 2006 of $40.0 million from our
secured credit facility, (ii) debt secured by properties
acquired in prior periods of $62.3 million from our
secured credit facility, (iii) $104.2 million refinancing of
the mortgage debt on our One Montgomery Street prop-
erty and Pitney-Wachovia B portfolio of properties on
our secured credit facility, (iv) $43.5 million long-term
refinancing of the short-term bridge loan on our One
Citizens Plaza property, (v) $18.0 million long-term refi-
nancing of the short-term bridge loan on our One
Colonial Place property, (vi} long-term financing of $19.9
million secured by the Sterling Bank properties we
acquired in December 2006, and (vii) short-term financ-
ing of $40.0 million secured by the Agreement of
Purchase and Sale from our One Lincoln Street property.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, principal
payments aggregated $1,207.6 million. Included in this
amount were two defeaseance transactions that extin-
guished $575.0 million of debt; other repayments due to
property dispositions of $243.4 million; refinancings and
bridge loan repayments of $172.8 million, repayments of
advances under our secured line of credit of $165.1 million
and scheduled debt amortization of $51.3 million.

In April 2006, we sold five fully occupied office prop-
erties to Resnick Development Corp. In connection with
this transaction, we executed a legal defeasance on one
of the properties that resulted in the extinguishment of
$35.0 million of debt. The buyer assumed $66.1 million
of debt and we repaid the remaining $130.3 million of
mortgage debt. This $231.4 million in mortgage debt had
a weighted average interest ratec and debt constant of
6.46% and 8.05%, respectively.

In December 2006, we sold the State Street Financial
Center through a combination of debt repayment and
defeasance. We repaid mezzanine debt of $50.0 million
and extinguished the remaining $490.0 million of debt
through a legal defeasance. This property had a debt to
total assets ratio of 82% and a weighted average interest
rate of 5.86%.

Portfolio Review

Summarized in the following table are our key portfolio
statistics, certain decreases were primarily due to the
recapture of scheduled short-term space occupied by
bank tenants subsequent to recent acquisitions of certain
properties and the acquisition of vacant branches pur-
chased under our formulated price contracts in the
fourth quarter of 2005. Over the upcoming periods, we
expect that our occupancy will increase through the
lease-up of core properties and the disposal of non-core
properties. However, we expect that other key portfolio
metrics will decrease as we lease-up core properties to
non-bank tenants.




December 31, 2006 2005
Occupancy 86.9% 863%
% base revenue from financial institutions  81L2% 86.7%
% base revenue from tenants rated “A-"

or better (per Standard & Poor’s) 76.5% 842%
% base revenue from net leases (1) T78% 851%
Average remaining lease term (years) 11.6 134

(1) Includes triple net and bond net leases, as well as other similar leases
in which our exposure to operating expenses is capped at the amount
that has been, or we expect will be, reached in the near future.

We intend to continue our strategy of acquiring high
quality properties through a combination of sale lease-
back transactions, specifically tailored transactions and
through our formulated price contracts, and to finance
our acquisitions with a combination of equity and debt.
We expect to arrange long-term financing on both a
secured and unsecured fixed rate basis. We intend to con-
tinue 1o grow our existing relationships and develop new
relationships throughout the banking industry, which we
expect will lead to further acquisition opportunitics. We
will also continue to dispose of non-core properties that
do not meet our continuing porifolio objectives.

New Information System

Effective January 1, 2006, we implemented a new
information system. As a result, a number of our opera-
tional processes and internal control procedures
changed to conform to the work-flow of the new applica-
tion. The new information system and internal control
procedures have enhanced our current processes and
financial reporting structure. However, as we continue
with ongoing implementation related efforts, we cannot
assure you that these enhancements will be executed
without some interruption of our processes and controls.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Set forth below is a summary of the significant
accounting estimates and critical accounting policies that
management believes are important to the preparation
of our consolidated financial statements. Certain of our
accounting estimates are particularly important for an
understanding of our financial position and results of
operations and require the application of significant
judgment by our management. As a result, these estimates
are subject to a degree of uncertainty. These significant
accounting estimates include:

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues, which are derived primarily from rental
income, include rents that each tenant pays in accor-
dance with the terms of cach lease reported on a
straightline basis over the initial term of the lease. Since
many of our leases provide for rental increases at specified

intervals, straightline basis accounting requires us to
record a receivable, and include in revenues, unbilled
rent receivables that we will only receive if the tenant
makes all rent payments required through the expiration
of the initiat term of the lease. Revenues also include
income related to tenant reimbursements for common
arca maintenance expenses and certain other recover-
able expenses that are recognized as revenue in the period
in which the related expenses are incurred.

We continually review receivables related to rent,
tenant reimbursements and unbilled rent receivables
and determine collectibility by taking into considera-
tion the tenant’s payment history, the financial condi-
tion of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in
which the tenant operates and economic conditions in
the area in which the property is located. In the event
that the collectibility of a receivable is in doubt, we
record an increase in our allowance for uncollectible
accounts or record a direct write-off of the receivable in
our consolidated statements of operations.

Investments in Real Estate

Investments in real estate are recorded at cost.
Improvements and replacements are capitalized when
they extend the useful life of the asset. Costs of repairs
and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Depreciation is computed using the straightline
method over the estimated useful life of up to 40 years
for buildings and improvements, five to ten years for
equipment and fixtures and the shorter of the useful life
or the remaining lease term for tenant improvements
and leasehold interests.

We are required to make subjective assessments as to
the useful lives of our properties for purposes of deter-
mining the amount of depreciation to record on an annual
basis with respect to our investments in real estate.
These assessments have a direct impact on our net
income because if we were to shorten the expected use-
ful lives of our investments in real estate we would
depreciate these investments over fewer years, resulting
in more depreciation expense and lower net income on
an annual basis.

We follow Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which
established a single accounting model for the impairment
or disposal of long-lived assets including discontinued
operations. SFAS No. 144 requires that the operations
related to properties that have been sold or properties that
are intended to be sold be presented as discontinued oper-
ations in the statement of operations for all periods pre-
sented, and properties intended to be sold to be designated
as “held for sale” on the balance sheet.




Based on the occurrence of certain events or changes
in circumstances, we review the recoverability of the
property’s carrying value. Such events or changes in
circumstances include the following:

* a significant decrease in the market price of a long-
lived asset;

* a significant adverse change in the extent or manner
in which a long-lived asset is being used or in its
physical condition;

* a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the
business climate that could affect the value of a long-
lived asset, including an adverse action or assessment
by a regulator;

* an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the
amount originally expected for the acquisition or
construction of a long-lived asset;

* g current-period operating or cash flow loss combined
with a history of operating or cash flow losses or a pro-
jection or forecast that demonstrates continuing losses
associated with the use of a long-lived asset; and

* g current expectation that, more likely than not, a
long-lived asset will be sold or otherwise disposed of
significantly before the end of its previously estimated

useful life.

We review our portfolio on an ongoing basis to evalu-
ate the existence of any of the aforementioned events or
changes in circumstances that would require us to test
for recoverability. In general, our review of recoverabil-
ity is based on an estimate of the future undiscounted
cash flows, excluding interest charges, expected to result
from the property’s use and eventual disposition. These
estimates consider factors such as expected future oper-
ating income, market and other applicable trends and
residual value expected, as well as the effects of leasing
demand, competition and other factors. If impairment
exists due to the inability to recover the carrying value of
a property, an impairment loss is recorded to the extent
that the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value
of the property. We are required to make subjective
assessments as to whether there are impairments in the
values of our investments in real estate. These assess-
ments have a direct impact on our net income because
recording an impairment loss results in an immediate
negative adjustment to net income.

Purchase Price Allocation

Pursuant to SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,”
we follow the purchase method of accounting for all
business combinations. To ensure that intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a purchase method
business combination can be recognized and reported
apart from goodwill, we ensure that the applicable criteria
specified in SFAS No. 141 are met.

We allocate the purchase price of acquired properties
to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired
based on their respective fair values. Tangible assets
include land, buildings, equipment and tenant improve-
ments on an as-if vacant basis. We utilize various esti-
mates, processes and information to determine the as-if
vacant property value. Estimates of value are made
using customary methods, including data from
appraisals, comparable sales, discounted cash flow
analysis and other methods. Identifiable intangible
assets include amounts allocated to acquired leases for
above- and below-market lease rates, the value of in-place
leases, and the value of customer relationships.

Amounts allocated to land, buildings, equipment and
fixtures are based on cost segregation studies performed
by independent third parties or on our analysis of compa-
rable properties in our portfolic. Depreciation is com-
puted using the straightline method over the estimated
life of 40 years for buildings, five to ten years for building
equipment and fixtures, and the lesser of the useful life or
the remaining lease term for tenant improvements.

Above-market and below-market in-place lease values
for owned properties are recorded based on the present
value (using an interest rate which reflects the risks asso-
ciated with the leases acquired) of the difference
between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to
the in-place leases and management’ estimate of fair mar-
ket lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases, meas-
ured over a period equal to the remaining non-cancelable
term of the lease. The capitalized above-market lease val-
ues are amortized as a reduction of rental income over the
remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases.
The capitalized below-market lease values are amortized
as an increase to rental income over the initial term and
any fixed-rate renewal periods in the respective leases.

The aggregate value of intangible assets related to in-
place leases is primarily the difference between the
property valued with existing in-place leases adjusted to
market rental rates and the property valued as if vacant.
Factors considered by us in our analysis of the in-place
lease intangibles include an estimate of carrying costs
during the expected lease-up period for each property,
taking into account current market conditions and costs
to execute similar leases. In estimating carrying costs, we
include real estate taxes, insurance and other operating
expenses and estimates of lost rentals at market rates
during the expected lease-up period, which typically
ranges from six to 18 months. We also estimate costs to
execute similar leases including leasing commissions,
legal and other related expenses.

The aggregate value of intangible assets related to cus-
tomer relationship is measured based on our evaluation
of the specific characteristics of each tenants lease and
our overall relationship with the tenant. Characteristics
considered by us in determining these values include the
nature and extent of our existing business relationships
with the tenant, growth prospects for developing new




business with the tenant, the tenant’s credit quality and
expectations of lease renewals, among other factors.

The value of in-place leases is amortized to expense
over the initial term of the respective leases, which range
primarily from two to 20 years. The value of customer
relationship intangibles is amortized to expense over the
initial term and any renewal periods in the respective
leases, but in no event does the amortization period for
intangible assets exceed the remaining depreciable life of
the building. If a tenant terminates its lease, the unamor-
tized portion of the in-place lease value and customer
relationship intangibles is charged to expense.

In making estimates of fair values for purposes of allo-
cating purchase price, we utilize a number of sources,
including independent appraisals that may be obtained in
connection with the acquisition or financing of the respec-
tive property and other market data. We also consider
information obtained about each property as a result of
our pre-acquisition due diligence, as well as subsequent
marketing and leasing activities, in estimating the fair
value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and
intangible liabilities assumed. The allocations presented
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are sub-
stantially complete; however, there are certain items that
we will finalize once we receive additional information.
Accordingly, these allocations are subject to revision
when final information is available, although we do not
expect future revisions to have a significant impact on our
financial position or results of operations.

Accounting for Derivative Financial Investments
and Hedging Activities

We use derivatives to hedge, fix and cap interest rate
risk and we account for our derivative and hedging activ-
ities using SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended, which
requires all derivative instruments to be carried at fair
value on the balance sheet. Derivative instruments desig-
nated in a hedge relationship to mitigate exposure to
changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm com-
mitment attributable to a particular risk, are considered
fair value hedges. Derivative instruments designated in a
hedge relationship to mitigate exposure to variability in
expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted
transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. The
Company only engages in cash flow hedges. We formally
document all relationships between hedging instruments
and hedged items, as well as our risk-management objec-
tive and strategy for undertaking each hedge transaction.
Cash flow hedges that are considered highly effective are
accounted for by recording the fair value of the deriva-
tive instrument on the balance sheet as either an asset or
liability, with a corresponding amount recorded in other
comprehensive income within shareholders’ equity.
Amounts are reclassified from other comprehensive
income to the income statements in the period or periods
the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.

Under cash flow hedges, derivative gains and losses

not considered highly effective in hedging the change in
expected cash flows of the hedged item are recognized
immediately in the income statement. For hedge trans-
actions that do not qualify for the short-cut methed, at
the hedge’s inception and on a regular basis thereafter, a
formal assessment is performed to determine whether
changes in the fair values or cash flows of the derivative
instruments have been highly effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged items and whether
they are expected to be highly effective in the future.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the SEC issued SAB No. 108,
“Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements
when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year
Financial Statements.” SAB No. 108 provides guidance
on how prior year misstatements should be considered
when quantifying misstatements in current year financial
statements for purposes of determining whether the cur-
rent year’s financial statements are materially misstated.
SAB No. 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after
November 15, 2006.

We adopted SAB No. 108 during the quarter ended
December 31, 2006. Prior to adopting SAB No. 108, our
approach to quantifying misstatements only considered
the amount of errors originating in the current year con-
solidated statement of operations. Thus the effects of
correcting the portion of the consolidated balance sheet
misstatement that originated in prior years were not con-
sidered. Upon adopting SAB No. 108, we changed our
approach to quantifying the effects of misstatements to
include an analysis of the impact on the current year
consolidated statement of operations for the cumulative
balance of any known errors, regardless of when they
originated. When we applied this approach to quantify-
ing the effects of misstatements to our 2006 consclidated
financial statements, we identified two errors that were
not material to our consolidated statements of opera-
tions in any prior quarter or annual period; however, the
cumulative error would have been material to correct in
the current period. Since the errors were not material to
any prior consolidated statement of operations, we were
not required to restate prior year financial statements.
The first error related to the accrual of a property oper-
ating expense which the Company had not previously
accrued for. The second error related to overstated
deferred costs resulting from separately accounting for
the gross cash inflows and outflows which originated
from a lease modification in which the Company should
have capitalized the net cash outflow. The consolidated
financial statements were corrected with an adjustment
of $2,101 to the beginning balance of retained earnings
at January 1, 2006.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157,
“Fair Value Measurements,” which defines fair value, pro-
vides a framework for measuring fair value, and expands
the disclosures required for fair value measurements. SFAS
No. 157 applies to other accounting pronouncements that




require fair value measurements; it does not require any
new fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and
is required to be adopted by the Company beginning in
the first quarter of fiscal 2008. Although the Company
will continue to evaluate the application of SFAS No.
157, management does not currently believe adoption
will have a material impact on the Company’s results of
operations or financial position.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation
No. (“FIN”) 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes-an Interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 109.” FIN No. 48 clarifies the accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes by creating a framework
for how companies should recognize, measure, pres-
ent, and disclose in their financial statements uncer-
tain tax positions that they have taken or expect to
take in a tax return. FIN No. 48 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2006 and is
required to be adopted by the Company beginning in
the first quarter of fiscal 2007. Although the Company
will continue to evaluate the application of FIN No. 48,
management does not currently believe adoption will
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have a material impact on the Company’s results of
operations or financial position.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

COMPARISON OF THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2006 AND 2005

The following comparison of our results of operations
for the year ended December 31, 2006 to the year ended
December 31, 2005, makes reference to the following: (i)
the effect of the “Same Store,” which represents all prop-
erties owned by us at January 1, 2005 and still owned by
us at December 31, 2006, excluding assets held for sale at
December 31, 2006 and (ii) the effect of “Acquisitions,”
which represents all properties acquired during the
period from January 1, 2005 through December 31, 2006.
Acquisitions include Regions Bank portfolio, One
Citizens Plaza, National City portfolio, Charter One
Bank portfolio, National City Bank, 801 Market Street,
Bank of America~-West, One Colonial Plaza, One
Montgomery, Umpqua Western Sierra Bancorp portfo-
lio, Sterling Bank portfolic and properties acquired
under our formulated price contracts.

Corporate and

Same Store Acquisitions Eliminations Total Portfolio
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Revenues:
Rental income $203340 $201,070 $51,172 $19442 § (1,027) § (823) $ 253485 $ 219689
Operating expense reimbursements 154,501 149,649 12,566 3,519 (355) 13 166,712 155,181
Interest and other income, net 283 2,722 97 57 3,498 2,423 6,425 5,202
Total revenues 360,671 353,441 63,835 25018 2,116 1,613 426,622 380,072
Property operating expenses 206,085 191,551 33,180 12,064 (10,251) (12,664) 229,014 190,951
Net operating income 154,586 161,890 30,655 12,954 12,367 14,277 197,608 189,121
Marketing, general
and administrative — — — — 24,934 24,144 24,934 24,144
Broken deal costs — — — — 176 1,220 176 1,220
Amortization of deferred
equity compensation — — — — 8,687 10,411 8,687 10,411
Repositioning — — — — 9,065 — 9,065 —
Severance and related accelerated
amortization of deferred
compensatioh — — — — 21,17 4,503 21917 4,503
Earnings before interest,
depreciation and amortization 154,586 161,890 30,655 12,954 (52412) (26,001) 132,829 148,843
Depreciation and amortization 101,534 104,833 20,485 9292 4,288 1,314 126,307 115439
Operating income $ 53,052 $ 57057 $10,170  $ 3662 $(56,700) $(27.315) 6522 33404
Interest expense (142,432 (120,514)
Gain on sale of land 2,043 1,596
Net loss on investments — (530)
Equity in loss of unconsolidated
joint venture (1,397 —
Minority interest 2,686 1,984
Loss from continuing operations (132,578) (84,060)
Loss from discontinued operations (79,174) (29,182)
Yield maintenance fees (46,402) (567)
Net gains on disposals 237,556 20,194
Income (loss) from
discontinued operations 111,980 (9,555)

Net loss
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$ (20,598) $ (93,615)




Rental Revenue

Rental income increased $33.8 million, or 15.4%, to
$253.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006,
from $219.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2005. This increase is primarily attributable to an
increase in rental revenue from- Acquisitions which
increased $31.8 million compared to the year ended
December 31, 2005. This increase in rental revenue from
Acquisitions reflects a full year of results for
Acquisitions purchased in 2005 and a partial period of
results for Acquisitions purchased in 2006.

Same Store rental revenue increased $2.2 million, or
1.1%, to $203.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2006 from $201.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2005. Same Store increased largely due to lease-up of
vacancy within certain portfolios, particularly
Harborside, 101 Independence and the Wachovia Bank,
N.A. and Bank of America 2004 portfolios. Also, addi-
tional revenue was recorded in our Bank of America 2004
portfolio during 2006 reflecting favorable adjustments to
leased square footage following the re-measurement of
buildings within the portfolio that were completed in the
fourth quarter of 2005. These increases were partially
offset by scheduled lease terminations in our Dana
Commercial Credit portfolio, 123 South Broad Street
Unit II building in Philadelphia, PA, Beaver Valley in
Wilmington, DE and the Bank of America 2003 Portfolio.

Operating Expense Reimbursements and
Property Operating Expenses

Operating expense reimbursements increased $11.5
million, or 7.4%, to $166.7 million during the year ended
December 31, 2006, from $155.2 million for 2005.
Property operating expenses increased $38.0 million, or
19.9%, to $229.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2006, from $191.0 million for year ended December 31,
2005. Both these increases are partially related to the
effect of Acquisitions which represents $7.2 million and
$17.7 million of the increase in operating expense reim-
bursements and property operating expenses, respec-
tively. Total operating expense reimbursements as a
percentage of total property operating expenses (“reim-
bursement ratio”) decreased to 72.8% from 81.3%. This
decrease is also partially due to Acquisitions, which had
reimbursement ratios of 40.3% and 45.7% for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, as
acquired properties have a lower recovery than proper-
ties in the Same Store portfolio, based on the structure
of the corresponding leases and overall occupancy.

Same Store operating expense reimbursements
increased $4.9 million, or 3.3%, to $154.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2006, from $149.6 million for
same period in 2005. Same Store property operating
expenses increased $14.5 million, or 7.6%, to $206.1
million from $191.6 million in the prior year. These

changes resulted in a decrease in the Same Store reim-
bursement ratio to 75.0% from 78.1% for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Same Store operating expense reimbursements were
negatively impacted in 2006 by a lease modification exe-
cuted concurrent with the completion of the 2004 and
2005 operating expense reconciliation associated with
the Bank of America, N.A. 2003 and 2004 portfolios.
Certain lease terms affecting reimbursable expenses
were adjusted retroactively as a result of the modification.
The medification and reconciliation resulted in a reduc-
tion of operating expense reimbursements of approxi-
mately $3.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2006.
Furthermore, the 2004 operating expense reconciliation
associated with the Wachovia portfolio was finalized
during the third quarter of 2005 which contributed an
additional $1.3 million of operating expense reimburse-
ment during calendar 2005 that was not repeated in 2006.

Same Store property operating expenses increased in
2006 compared to 2005 partly as a result of impairment
charges recorded on two properties within continuing

. operations, a multi-tenant office property on which a
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$1.4 million impairment was recorded and a leaschold
interest. The leasehold impairment, which totaled $3.3
million, was recorded in connection with the execution
of subleases at our Harborside leasehold location during
2006. This impairment was recorded by comparing the net
cash inflows we anticipate receiving from sub-tenants,
inclusive of tenant improvement allowances, to the net
cash outflows we will pay under our leasehold interest
obligation. Excluding these impairment adjustments and
the lease modification adjustment noted above, the
Same Store reimbursement ratio would increase to
77.7% for the year ended 2006

Interest and Other Income

Interest and other income increased $1.2 million from
$5.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 to $6.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This was
primarily due to an increase in interest income reflecting
higher average interest rates paid on the Company’s
deposits during the year ended December 31, 2006. The
Company’s cash management accounts bear interest at a
LIBOR-based rate. LIBOR increased from 2.40% at
January 1, 2005 to 5.35% at December 31, 2006.

Marketing, General and Administrative Expenses
Marketing, general and administrative expenses
increased $0.8 million, or 0.8%, to $24.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006, from $24.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2005. This increase was prima-
rily attributable to increased personnel costs, profes-
sional fees and office and travel related expenses. These
increases were partially offset by the increase in the cap-
italization of certain leasing-related costs. The decrease




of marketing, general and administrative expenses as a
percentage of total revenues to 5.8% for the year ended
December 31, 2006, from 6.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2005, primarily reflects the increase in
rental income and operating expense reimbursements
resulting from Acquisitions.

Broken Deal Costs

Broken deal costs decreased $1.0 million to $0.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2006, from $1.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005. Our policy is to cap-
italize, as deferred costs, external expenses associated with
potential acquisitions. However, when we make the deci-
sion not to pursue transactions that do not meet our invest-
ment criteria, the previously capitalized costs are
immediately expensed as broken deal costs in our consoli-
dated statement of operations. The majority of our broken
deal costs during the year ended December 31, 2005 related
to withdrawing from potential transactions associated with
our European expansion efforts.

Amortization of Deferred Equity Compensation

The amortization of deferred equity compensation
decreased $2.1 million to $8.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006, from $10.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005. This decrease is due to
restricted stock grants issued in September 2002 to the
board of trustees, which were amortized over the three-
year period ended in September 2005 and also to a full
period of amortization of restricted shares issued in July
2003 to certain members of senior management, which
vested over the three-year period ended in June of 2006.
These decreases were partially offset amortization
expense related to restricted share awarded in 2006.

Repositioning

On August 17, 2006, the Company announced the
results of a strategic review of its operations. This review
resulted in several broad initiatives which include accel-
erating asset sales, reducing the Company’s leverage
ratio and reducing marketing, general and administra-
tive expenses. During the year ended December 31,
2006, the Company incurred $9.1 million of charges asso-
ciated with the repositioning plan. These charges are pri-
marily comprised of $4.4 million in professional and
other fees related to the strategic review, $2.7 million in
termination and impairment charges incurred in connec-
tion with subleasing the Company's New York office,
and $1.6 million of previously deferred costs related to
the Company’s decision not to pursue a collateralized
financing arrangement.

12

Severance and Related Accelerated
Amortization of Deferred Compensation

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we
recorded severance charges related to the separation of
our former President and Chief Executive Officer, and
two additional senior executives, positions which will not
be refilled, as well as certain other employeces. These
charges include a combination of cash severance and
accelerated vesting of equity compensation totaling
$17.3 million and $4.3 million, respectively. During the
year ended December 31, 2005, we incurred severance
charges related to the separation of two senior officers
totaling $4.5 million. These severance charges included
the amortization of deferred compensation associated
with the acceleration of vesting and additional issuance
of restricted stock awards.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense increased
approximately $10.9 million, or 9.4%, to $126.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2006, from $115.4 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase
is related primarily to the timing of acquisitions due to
depreciation and amortization expense for the year
ended December 31, 2006, including a full year of
expense for Acquisitions purchased in 2005 and a partial
period of expense for Acquisitions purchased in 2006.
As a result, depreciation and amortization for
Acquisitions increased $11.2 miliion for the year ended
December 31, 2006 compared to the prior year.

Depreciation and amortization in Same Store
decreased $3.3 million from $104.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005 to $101.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006. This decrease includes lower
depreciation and amortization at our 123 South Broad
Street Unit II building in Philadelphia, PA and our
Beaver Valley property in Wilmington, DE reflecting the
impact of early lease terminations on these properties
and the cessation of depreciation of certain building
equipment that had reached the end of its depreciable
life at 123 South Broad Street Unit II. Depreciation and
amortization in the Bank of America, N.A. 2003 portfo-
lio decreased principally due to the accelerated amorti-
zation of intangibles and leasehold improvements
recorded during the second quarter of 2005 related to an
early lease termination by a non-bank third-party ten-
ant, initiated by the tenant due to its financial instability.
Additionally, the change in Same Store depreciation and
amortization expense reflects higher depreciation
expense recorded in the prior year attributable to the
correction of useful lives on the assets in certain portfo-
lios. These decreases were partially offset by higher
depreciation and amortization expense in certain prop-
erties due to additional capital and tenant improvements




and the acceleration of depreciation and amortization of
tenant improvements and intangible assets related to the
early release of space in Bank of America Plaza in St.
Louis, MO, recorded in the first quarter of 2006.

The increase in depreciation and amortization
expense in Corporate is primarily attributable to lease-
hold improvements, office furniture and fixtures due to
the expansion of our Corporate offices as well as a full
year of depreciation expense on equipment associated
with our new information system capitalized during the
year ended December 31, 2005.

Interest Expense on Mortgages and Other Debt

Interest expense on mortgage notes and other debt
increased approximately $21.9 million, or 18.2%, to
$142.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006,
from $120.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2005. This increase was primarily attributable to addi-
tional borrowings and contractual increases in interest
rates, specifically due to the following:

Mortgage Interest. Interest expense on permanent
mortgage financing increased $12.0 million during the
year ended December 31, 2006 versus the year ended
December 31, 2005. Interest expense increased $5.8 mil-
lion due to incurring a full year of interest expense on
mortgages secured by properties acquired in 2005.
Mortgage interest expense increased $4.8 million due to
contractual changes in the interest rate on the Bank of
America 2004 portfolio which occurred in 2005. The
interest rate on this portfolio reverted to a fixed rate of
596% in June 2005 from a previously lower variable
rate. Mortgage interest expense also increased $3.5 mil-
lion due a combination of higher outstanding balance
and higher rate of interest charged on the Dana
Commercial Credit portfolio in 2006 versus 2005. In the
fourth quarter of 2005, this portfolio’s mortgage was refi-
nanced with an interest rate of 5.61% compared to
4.04% previously. Additionally, the amount financed on
this portfolio was increased from $162.0 million to $180.0
million. These increases in interest expense were par-
tially offset by contractual debt amortization of $50.6
million during the year ended December 31, 2006, and
the refinancing of certain mortgages with advances from
our secured credit facility.

Secured Credit Facility. Interest expense on our
secured credit facility increased by $14.0 million. This
increase was primarily due to a higher average balance
outstanding during 2006. The average balance outstand-
ing on the secured credit facility increased from $85.9
million during the year ended December 31, 2005 to
$244.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2006,
The weighted average effective interest rate increased
from 6.89% to 8.02% due to changes in the underlying
index. This facility bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus
1.75% . The increase in average balance outstanding pri-
marily reflects funds drawn to finance acquisitions
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including Regions Bank portfolio in June 2005, National
City portfolio in March 2006, Western Sierra portfolio in
July 2006 and to provide financing for purchases under
formulated price contracts. We also refinanced certain
mortgages with the secured credit facility where we were
able to lower interest rates, increase funds availability or
reduce high debt constant payments. The highest bal-
ance outstanding on this facility was $365.1 million in
November 2006. On December 29, 2006 we reduced the
balance outstanding by $150.3 million with the proceeds
from the sale of State Street Financial Center.

Deferred Financing Costs. During the year ended
December 31, 2006, non-cash interest expense related
to the amortization of deferred financing costs declined
$4.3 million. This primarily relates to $4.7 million of
accelerated amortization recorded in 2005 upon the
refinancing of the Dana Commercial Credit portfolio.

Gain on Disposal of Properties
in Continuing Operations

We sold 15 parcels of land during the year ended
December 31, 2006, and realized a net gain of $2.0 mil-
lion. These parcels were acquired in 2006 and 2005 under
our formulated price contract with Wachovia Bank, N.A.
During the year ended December 31, 2003, we sold five
parcels of land acquired in November 2005 under our
formulated price contract with Wachovia Bank, N.A. for
a net gain of $1.6 million.

Equity in Loss from Unconsolidated Joint Venture

During the year ended December 31, 2006, our allo-
cated share in the loss of our Citizens Bank portfolio
unconsolidated joint venture totaled $1.4 million. This
loss includes our allocated portion of depreciation and
interest expense totaling $4.2 million. The Company
earns a management fee of 0.15% of property value
under management, defined as the original purchase
price. The gross amount of management fees, totaling
$0.2 million are included in interest and other income
from continuing operations.

Minority Interest

Minority interest increased $0.7 million to $2.7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2006, from $2.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005. This amount rep-
resents an allocation of net loss to unitholders in our
Operating Partnership and an allocation of net income
or loss from our 123 South Broad Street and 801 Market
Street properties to third parties that own a minority
interest in those properties. On October 31, 2005, the
Company acquired the remaining 11% limited partner-
ship interest in the entity that owns 123 S. Broad Street
in Philadelphia, PA. Therefore, allocations of minority
interest on 123 S. Broad Street occurred for 10 months
during the year ended December 31, 2005, but did not
occur during the year ended December 31, 2006.




Discontinued Operations

On August 17, 2006, the Company announced a change
in management and a concurrent repositioning of its
basic business strategy. This repositioning encompassed a
broad array of initiatives and established a revised set of
criteria by which the Company would evaluate retention
of assets held for investment. As a result, the Company
undertook a broad review of all of its assets.

In repositioning its real estate portfolio, the Company
announced its intent to sell approximately $1.5 billion to
$2.0 billion of non-core and selected other assets that held
no ongoing business relationship or business development
value for the Company. The focus of the sale of these
assets was to increase property level occupancy, improve
“same store” net operating income, to improve cash flow
performance of at least one of the Company’s debt portfo-
lios and to raise sufficient funds to reduce the Company’s
overall leverage level from 72% of total assets to approxi-
mately 60-65%. To identify an appropriate mix of assets,
the Company singled out those assets which were 1) highly
appreciated, 2) required relatively high levels of capital
and/or tenant improvement investment to reposition and
3) which had high levels of vacancy.

To achieve these results, a thorough review of the real
estate portfolio was begun by the Company’s real estate
operations and brokerage staff. The review was com-
pleted in the fourth quarter of 2006 and resulted in the
identification of 265 properties, with an approximate
net book value of $1.3 billion, considered to be non-core
or holding no potential long-term relationship value.
Properties addressed in this evaluation included both
bulk purchase acquisition portfolios as well as vacant
formulated price contract properties. Additionally,
stand-alone buildings that met the Company’s reposi-
tioning disposal criteria were also identified such as
State Street Financial Center, Bank of Oklahoma
Plaza, Fireman's Fund Insurance Company and
Household Bank. Subsequent to their identification,
this same team determined estimated selling prices for
these properties based upon their knowledge of market
conditions, conversations with external brokers,
reserve limits for properties to be sold at auction and
other factors. Estimated selling prices were established
at levels which would assist the Company in meeting
the goals of its repositioning plan which target the sale
of $1.5 billion of property within 12-18 months, while at
the same time, achieving maximum value from the sale.
Based on this evaluation, these 265 properties were
identified for disposition based on the Company’s repo-
sitioning criteria. Properties were marketed for sale as
soon as they were identified for disposition during our
asset review process.
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Discontinued Operations—
Loss from Discontinued Operations

Loss from discontinued operations increased $50.0
million to a loss of $79.2 million, net of minority interest,
for the year ended December 31, 2006, from a loss of
$29.2 million, net of minority interest, for the year ended
December 31, 2005. Included in loss from discontinued
operations are impairment charges of $57.4 million in
the year ended December 31, 2006, $49.1 million of
which occurred in the fourth quarter of 2006, versus $3.4
million included in 2005. The majority of these impair-
ments were recorded as a result of the Company’s real
estate portfolio review performed in connection with its
repositioning plan.

Discontinued Operations—Yield Maintenance Fees

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2006
and 2005, we sold 14 and 7 properties, respectively,
encumbered by mortgages and incurred related charges
on the early extinguishment of debt of approximately
$46.4 million and $0.6 million, net of minority interest,
respectively. Included in yield maintenance charges for
the year ended December 31, 2006 is approximately
$33.6 million reflecting our portion of yield maintenance
charges on the December 2006 sale of State Street
Financial Center to Fortis Property Group and $11.0
million related to the sale in April 2006 of five properties
to Resnick Development Corp.

Discontinued Operations—Net Gains

During the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
we sold 128 and 130 properties for an aggregate gain
of $237.6 million and $20.2 million, net of minority
interest and income tax expense, respectively.
Included in net gains for the year ended December 31,
2006 is approximately $155.8 million reflecting our
interest in the gain on the December 2006 sale of State
Street to Fortis Property Group and $56.9 million
related to the April 2006 sale of five properties to
Resnick Development Corp.




COMPARISON OF THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 131, 2005 AND 2004

The following comparison of our results of operations
for the year ended December 31, 2005 to the year ended
December 31, 2004, makes reference to the following;: (i)
the effect of the “Same Store,” which represents all
properties owned by us at January 1, 2004 and still
owned by us at December 31, 2005, excluding assets held
for sale at December 31, 2005 and (ii) the effect of
“Acquisitions,” which represents all properties acquired
during the period from January 1, 2004 through
December 31, 2005. Acquisitions include State Street
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Financial Center, Harborside, 101 Independence Center,
the Wachovia Bank, N.A. portfclio acquired in
September 2004, the Bank of America, N.A. portfolio
acquired in October 2004, the National City Bank
Building, Bank of America-West, One Montgomery
Street, 801 Market Street, Bank of Oklahoma Plaza,
Charter One Bank portfolio, Regions Bank portfolio,
Household building, Fireman’s Fund Insurance
Company building, One Citizen Plaza, One Colonial
Plaza and properties acquired under our formulated
price contracts.

Corporate and
Same Store Acquisitions Eliminations Total Portfolio
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
Revenues:
Rental income $136,933  $131,270 $ 83,579 $17906 § (823) § (481) $219689 $148,695
Operating expense reimbursements 62,274 58,974 92,894 22,146 13 (19) 155181 81,101
Interest and other income, net 2,373 828 428 (348) 2,401 2,663 5202 3,143
Total revenues 201,580 191,072 176,901 39,704 1,591 2,163 380,072 232,939
Property operating expenses 84,997 80,696 118,743 30,213 (12,789} (6,348) 190,951 104,561
Net operating income 116,583 110,376 58,158 9,491 14,380 8,511 189,121 128,378
Marketing, general
and administrative — — — — 24,144 23,888 24,144 23,888
Broken deal costs — — — —_ 1,220 227 1,220 227
Amortization of deferred
equily compensation — — — — 10,411 9,078 10411 9,078
Outperformance plan—contingent
restricted share component — — — —_— — (5,238) — (5,238)
Severance and related accelerated
amortization of deferred compensation — — — — 4,503 1,857 4,503 1,857
Earnings before interest,
depreciation and amortization 116,583 110,376 58,158 9,491 (25,898)  (21,301) 148,843 98,566
Depreciation and amortization 68,195 64,106 45,930 9,811 1,314 510 115,439 74,427
Operating income $ 48388 $ 46270 $12228 $ (320) $(27212) $(21,811) 33404 24139
Interest expense (120,514) (72,121)
Gain on sale of land and minority
interest in a property, net 1,596 80
Net loss on investments (530) (409)
Minority interest 1,984 1,835
Loss from continuing operations (84,060) (46,476)
Loss from discontinued operations (29,182) (1,252)
Yicld maintenance fees (567)  (3,060)
Net gains on disposals 20,194 28,543
Income (loss) from
discontinued operations (9,555) 24,231
Net loss $ (93,615) $(22,245)

15




Net Operating Income

Total revenues increased $147.2 million, or 63.2%, to
$380.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005,
from $232.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2004. Property operating expenses increased $86.4 mil-
lion, or 82.6%, to $191.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, from $104.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004. These increases, which are
largely attributable to Acquisitions as well as certain
2005 activity in Same Store portfolios, resulted in an
increase to total net operating income of $60.7 million,
or 47.3%, to $189.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from $128.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004.

Same Store—Net Operating Income

Net operating income on the Same Store increased $6.2
million, or 5.6%, to $116.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, from $110.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004. This increase was primarily
due to the following: :

Dana Commercial Credit. The properties in the Dana
Commercial Credit portfolio are primarily occupied by
Bank of America, N.A. under a single master lease
agreement. This master lease agreement allows Bank of
America, N.A. to return certain space (or retain the
space upon payment of additional rent) in 2004, 2009,
and 2015. The return of the space does not reduce the
amount of Bank of America, N.A.s contractual rent
obligations. In June 2004 and January 2005, Bank of
America, N.A. returned in aggregate approximately
654,000 square feet. Prior to June 2004, Bank of
America, N.A. paid rent on the returned space and
directly collected the rent from its third-party tenants
and directly paid operating expenses. As a result, in June
2004 and January 2005, in addition to the income we
already receive from Bank of America, N.A. for the
properties, we also began directly collecting rental
income and operating expense reimbursements from
subtenants that occupy a portion of the returned space
and from Bank of America, N.A. for certain space that it
decided to retain and directly paying and incurring oper-
ating expenses. These increases to net operating income
on the Dana Commercial Credit portfolio were partially
offset by lost rental income from a scheduled lease ter-
mination by a non-bank tenant, which occurred in June
2005. The net effect of this returned space and the sched-
uled lease termination totaled approximately $0.9 mil-
lion of additional net operating income for the year
ended December 31, 2005 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2004.

The increase in rental income in the Dana Commercial
Credit portfolio was also related to the correction of
straightline rental income. During the fourth guarter of
2005, the Company discovered that rental income was
being straightlined through December 2022, six months
longer than the actual expiration of June 2022. After
evaluating the impact of this adjustment, approximately
$0.9 million of additional rental income was recorded
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during the fourth quarter of 2005 in order to adjust
deferred straightline rent to the proper balance as of
December 31, 2005.

Formulated price contract. Net operating income on
Same Store also increased as a result of new leases
across certain portfolios, particularly properties
acquired under our formulated price contracts with
Wachovia Bank, N.A. and Citibank. Once branches pur-
chased or assumed under our formulated contracts are
leased, the tenant generally directly pays operating
expenses under net lease arrangements.

123 South Broad Street—Unit [I. During the year
ended December 31, 2005, we recorded an early termi-
nation fee of $1.3 millien, which resulted in an increase
to other income. This fee was received in connection
with a bank tenant vacating a portion of the space it
leased in 123 South Broad Street in Philadelphia. As a
result of this early termination, net operating income,
excluding the early termination fee, on our 123 South
Broad Street decreased primarily due to the accelerated
amortization of the accounts related to the lease.

Bank of America, N.A. Portfolio Acquired in June
2003. During the year ended December 31, 2005, we
recorded an early termination fee of $0.5 million, which
resulted in an increase to other income, from a non-bank
third-party tenant. This early termination was initiated
by the tenant due to its financial instability. In connec-
tion with this early termination, we accelerated amorti-
zation of straightline rent and intangibles, which resulted
in an increase to rental income of $1.0 million.

Three Beaver Valley. During the year ended
December 31, 2005, we finished construction of an adja-
cent parking garage and signed a new leasc with the ten-
ant effective January 1, 2005, which contributed $0.4
million to net operating income.

Acquisitions—Net Operating Income

Net operating income on Acquisitions increased $48.7
million to $58.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2005, from $9.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2004. This increase primarily relates to the following:

Timing of Acquisitions. The increase in net operating
income on Acquisitions primarily related to the timing of
acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2005, which
included a full year of results for Acquisitions purchased
in 2004 and a partial year of results for Acquisitions pur-
chased in 2005. The largest effect relates to the
September 2004 and October 2004 purchases of the port-
folios of properties from Wachovia Bank, N.A. and Bank
of America, N.A., respectively. Additionally, the June
2005 purchase of portfolios from Regions Bank and
Charter One Bank further contributed to this increase.

Lease-up. Net operating income on Acquisitions also
increased as a result of lease-up across certain portfolios,
including Harborside in Jersey City, New Jersey and
properties acquired under our formulated price contracts.




Marketing, General and Administrative Expenses

Marketing, general and administrative expenses
increased $0.2 million, or 0.8%, to $24.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2005, from $23.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase was
primarily attributable to increased personnel costs, pro-
fessional fees and office and travel-related expenses.
These increases were partially offset by the increase in
the capitalization of certain leasing-related costs. The
decrease of marketing, general and administrative
expenses as a percentage of total revenues, excluding
total revenues derived from properties included within
discontinued operations, to 6.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2005, from 10.3% for the year ended
December 31, 2004, is largely attributable to the increase
in rental income and operating expense reimbursements
resulting from Acquisitions.

Broken Deal Costs

Broken deal costs increased $1.0 million to $1.2 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2005, from $0.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Our pol-
icy is to capitalize, as deferred costs, external expenses
associated with potential acquisitions. However, when
we make the decision not to pursue transactions that do
not meet our investment criteria, the previously capital-
ized costs are immediately expensed as broken deal costs
in our consolidated statement of operations. The major-
ity of our broken deal costs during both the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004 related to withdrawing
from potential transactions associated with our
European expansion efforts.

Amortization of Deferred Equity Compensation

The amortization of deferred equity compensation
increased $1.3 million to $10.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, from $9.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004. This increase was associated with
the amortization of additional restricted stock granis
issued during the year ended December 31, 2005.

Outperformance Plan—
Contingent restricted share component

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we
reversed the previously recorded expense associated
with the contingent restricted share component of our
Outperformance Plan. This expense was reversed due to
variable plan accounting treatment as a result of the per-
formance in our stock price relative to the measured
index. The Qutperformance Plan was a three-year plan
that expired on January 1, 2006 and was succeeded by
the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan as our long-term
performance plan for senior executives.
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Severance and Related Accelerated
Amortization of Deferred Compensation

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
we incurred severance charges related to the separation of
two senior officers and one senior officer, respectively.
These severance charges included the amortization of
deferred compensation associated with the acceleration of
vesting and additional issuance of restricted stock awards.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense increased
approximately $41.0 million, or 55.1%, to $115.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005, from $74.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase was
primarily due to depreciation and amortization expense
associated with Acquisitions as well as the following:

Same Store. The increase in depreciation and amortiza-
tion expense in Same Store was primarily attributable to
the correction of useful lives on certain portfolios. During
the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company discov-
ered that certain depreciable assets, primarily intangible
assets, were being amortized over the improper useful
lives. After evaluating the impact of these adjustments,
approximately $0.9 million of additional depreciation
and amortization expense was recorded during the year
ended December 31, 2005 in order to adjust accumulated
amortization to the proper balances. Since the change
shortened useful lives, depreciation and amortization is
higher in the year ended December 31, 2005 relative to
the year ended December 31, 2004.

The increase in depreciation and amortization
expense in Same Store was also related to additional
capital and tenant improvements across various portfo-
lios and the accelerated amortization of intangibles and
tenant improvements related to early lease terminations.

Corporate. The increase in depreciation and amortiza-
tion expense in Corporate is primarily attributable to
leasehold improvements, office furniture and fixtures
due to the expansion of our Corporate offices as well as
equipment associated with our new information system
capitalized during the year ended December 31, 2005.

Interest Expense on Mortgages and Other Debt

Interest expense on mortgage notes and other debt
increased approximately $48.4 million, or 67.1%, to
$120.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005,
from $72.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2004, excluding interest costs incurred on properties
included within discontinued operations. This increase
was primarily attributable to additional borrowings and
contractual increases in interest rates, specifically due to
the following:

New Borrowings. During the year ended December 31,
2005, we received proceeds of $159.0 million under new or
assumed mortgages, secured by properties acquired in 2005,
which increased interest expense by $5.4 million. Interest
expense increased $13.6 million due to incurring a full year
of interest expense on mortgages secured by properties
acquired in 2004. In addition, in March 2003, we completed




the $304.0 million long-term financing, secured by the Bank
of America, N.A. portfolio purchased in October 2004.
This financing bore interest at a floating rate equal to
LIBOR plus 0.02% through June 14, 2005, before reverting
to a fixed rate of 5.96% for the remainder of the loan term
and increased interest expense by $13.0 million.

Secured Credit Facility. Interest expense on our
secured credit facility increased by $0.9 million.
Although average advances under our secured credit
facility decreased to $85.9 million during the year ended
December 31, 2005 from $95.3 million during the year
ended December 31, 2004, the weighted average effec-
tive interest rate increased to 6.89% from 5.29%. The
advances outstanding at December 31, 2004 of $270.0
million were drawn in October 2004 to partially fund the
acquisition of the Bank of America, N.A. portfolio.
These funds were repaid in March 2005, when proceeds
of $304.0 million from a long-term loan securecd by the
portfolio were received. After the repayment in March
2005, the secured credit facility remained unused until
funds were drawn to finance a portion of the Regions
Bank portfolio and leased-up properties purchased
under formulated price contracts during the third and
fourth quarters of 2005.

Senior Convertible Notes. During the year ended
December 31, 2005, we incurred a full vear of interest
expense associated with our convertible senior notes
issued in July 2004 and QOctober 2004, which resulted in
an increase to interest expense of $12.4 mitlion.

Deferred Financing Costs. During the year ended
December 31, 2005, we incurred additional non-cash inter-
est expense of $4.7 million related to the accelerated amor-
tization of deferred financing costs due to the refinancing
of the mortgage secured by the Dana Commercial Credit
portfolio. During the year ended December 31, 2005, we
also incurred additional non-cash interest expense associ-
ated with the change in the amortization method of
deferred financing costs from the straightline to effective
interest method. This change in methodology resulted in
an increase in non-cash interest expense of $0.5 million to
adjust accumulated amortization to the proper balance at
December 31, 2005.

Variable to Fixed Changes in Interest Rates. The $63.0
million mortgage secured by Bank of America Plaza
completed in April 2004, converted from a variable rate
of LIBOR plus 1.5% (2.62% in June 2004} to a fixed rate
of 4.55% in July 2004.

Debt Amortization and Extinguishment. These increases
in interest expense are partially offset by contractual debt
amortization of $41.9 million during the year ended
December 31, 2005.

Gain on Sale of Land ‘

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we sold
five parcels of land acquired in November 2005 under
our formulated price contract with Wachovia Bank, N.A.
for a net gain of $1.6 million.
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Net Loss on Investments

Net loss on investments increased $0.1 million to $0.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2005, from $0.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This
increase was primarily due to a loss incurred on the sale of
certain marketable securities. We do not hold a position in
such securities as of December 31, 2005.

Minority Interest

Minority interest increased $0.2 million to $2.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005, from $1.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004. This amount rep-
resents an allocation of net loss to unitholders in our
Operating Partnership and an allocation of net income
or loss from our 123 South Broad Street-Unit 1! and 801
Market Street properties to third parties that own a
minority interest in those properties. We acquired an
89% majority interest in 801 Market Street in April
2005; therefore, no allocations to minority interest were
recorded on this property during the year ended
December 31, 2004.

Discontinued Operations—
Loss from Discontinued Operations

Loss from discontinued operations increased $27.9
million to a loss of $29.2 million, net of minority interest,
for the year ended December 31, 2005, from a loss of
$1.3 million, net of minority interest, for the year ended
December 31, 2004. This increase is due primarily due to
higher interest expense and depreciation and amortization
incurred during 2005.

Overall, interest expense increased $30.7 million to
$53.2 million from $22.5 million from mortgages secured
by properties included within discontinued operations
during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. In September 2004, the interest rate on the
$520.0 million State Street Financial Center mortgage
note payable changed from a variable rate of LIBOR
plus 1.25% to a fixed rate of 5.79%, resulting in addi-
tional interest expense of $10.4 million during the year
ended December 31, 2005 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2004. Additionally, we incurred twelve
months of interest expense on $50.0 million of mezza-
nine debt associated with this property versus four
months in 2004 causing an increase in interest expense of
$2.1 million.

Depreciation expense on discontinued operations
increased $25.9 million from $37.0 million in the year
ended December 31, 2004 to $62.9 million in the year
ended December 31, 2005. This increase primarily reflects
properties within discontinued operations that were
acquired in 20(4 that incurred a full year of depreciation
expense in 2005 versus a partial year in 204,




Discontinued Operations—Yield Maintenance Fees

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we sold
seven properties encumbered by a mortgage and
incurred related charges on the early extinguishment of
debt of approximately $0.6 million, net of minority inter-
est. In comparison, during the year ended December 31,
2004, we sold three properties encumbered by mort-
gages and incurred related charges on the early extin-
guishment of debt of approximately $3.1 million, net of
minority interest.

Discontinued Operations—Net Gains

During the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
we sold 130 and 48 properties for an aggregate gain of
$20.2 million and $11.4 million, net of minority interest
and income taxes, respectively. Additionally, the net gain
recorded during the year ended December 31, 2004,
includes the sale of a 30% interest in State Street
Financial Center for which we recorded gain of $17.1
million, net of minority interest.

We have established investment criteria for properties
included in our real estate portfolio and a policy to dis-
pose of non-core properties that do not meet such criteria.
Pursuant to our poticy, we generally intend to commence
efforts to dispose of non-core properties within 30 days of
acquisition and dispose of them within approximately 12
months of acquisition. If we sell properties at a gain, we
may incur income tax liability.

CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2006

Cash used in operating activities was $26.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to cash
provided by operating activities of $80.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2005, or a decrease of $107.3
million. A substantial portion of this decrease reflects
the execution of the Company’s repositioning plan that
was announced in August 2006. Specific goals of the plan
include the disposal of non-core real estate assets and a
significant reduction in the Company’s debt to total
assets ratio. During the year ended December 31, 2006,
the Company paid $47.2 million of yield maintenance
fees associated with sales of non-core assets or asset
sales executed to reduce the Company’s debt to total
assets ratio. Yield maintenance fees are the amounts
paid to our lenders to compensate them for the early
repayment of a loan. The Company also paid $17.2 mil-
lion of cash severance to former members of its senior
management team and professional and other fees of
$6.4 million as a result of implementing the repositioning
plan. Higher effective interest rates and greater out-
standing debt balances in 2006 added an additional $36.1
million of interest payments compared to the prior year.

Cash provided by investing activities totaled $1,124.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared
to cash used in investing activities of $700.7 million in the
prior year, an increase of $1,824.9 million. This increase
in cash flows from investing activities reflects the
Company’s efforts, outlined in its repositioning plan, to
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refocus on its core business and improve its operating
and financial performance. Sales of non-core real estate
assets are a key component of the Company’s reposition-
ing plan which targets sales of $1.5 billion to $2.0 billion.
As a result, our investment emphasis shifted from the
acquisition of additional real estate towards the sale of
non-core real estate assets. Accordingly, cash paid for
the acquisition of real estate investment decreased from
$807.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2005 to
$216.0 million, including an unconsclidated joint venture
investment, in the year ended December 31, 2006, a
decrease of $591.0 million. Conversely, proceeds from
sales of non-core assets and other dispositions increased
$1,296.0 million. An additional investing activity in the
year ended December 31, 2006 includes the purchase of
$32.7 million of treasury securities that have been
pledged in connection with the defeasance of $31.2 mil-
lion of debt that was previously secured by properties in
our Bank of America portfolio acquired in 2003.

Cash used in financing activities totaled $1,101.8 mil-
lion in the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to
cash provided by financing activities of $619.7 million in
the prior year, a decrease of $1,721.5 million. A substan-
tial portion of the cash proceeds from the sale of non-
core real estate assets were used to repay borrowings in
order to reduce our debt to total assets ratio towards a
target of 60-65%. As a result, cash repayments of mort-
gages, bridge notes and our secured credit facility
increased substantially from $594.1 million in the year
ended December 31, 2005 to $1,207.6 million in the cur-
rent year, an increase of $613.5 million. Proceeds from
borrowings decreased $780.8 million from $1,108.7 mil-
lion in the year ended December 31, 2005 to $327.9 mil-
lion in the current year, reflecting our shift in investment
emphasis towards the sale of non-core assets. Dividends
and distributions increased to $221.1 million in the year
ended December 31, 2006 from $134.4 million in the
year ended December 31, 2005, an increase of $86.7 mil-
lion. This increase is substantially due to an $86.4 million
distribution paid to our 30% minority partner, IPC US
Income REIT, upon the sale of State Street Financial
Center, sold in December 2006. Dividend payments
increased slightly from $131.1 million in 2005 to $132.8
million in the current year primarily as a result of the
issuance of 16.8 million additional shares in May 2005. In
August 2006, concurrent with the announcement of our
repositioning plan, we also announced a reduction in our
dividend from $0.27 per share to $0.19 per share. As a
result, we anticipate that cash dividends paid in 2007 will
be approximately $30.0 million lower than the current
year amount.

CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2005

During the year ended December 31, 2005, net cash
provided by operating activities was approximately $80.6
million. The level of cash flows provided by operating
activities is affected by the receipt of scheduled rent pay-
ments and the timing of the payment of operating and




interest expenses. The increase in deferred revenue is
due to the prepayment of contractual rent payments
received from Bank of America, N.A, for the Dana
Commercial Credit portfolio that apply to future peri-
ods, sublease management and standby subtenant fees
related to our leasehold interest in Harborside and pre-
paid rent related to properties we did not own on
December 31, 2004,

Net cash used in investing activities was approximately
$700.7 million. Investing activities consisted primarily of
payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired, of
approximately $807.0 million and approximately $41.6
million for payments related to capital expenditures and
leasehold termination costs. Payments for capital expen-
ditures and leasehold termination costs include $11.1
million of non-real estate capital expenditures, $6.1 mil-
lion of tenant improvements, $8.6 million of completed
building improvements and equipment projects, $14.8
million of construction in progress and $1.0 million of
termination costs. Payments for completed building
improvements and equipment include approximately
$4.7 million of the pro rata share of these costs that will
be reimbursed with interest by our bank tenants over the
useful life of the assets. These payments were partially
offset by net sales of marketable securities of approxi-
mately $20.7 million and proceeds from sales of real
estate and non-real estate investments and payments
received to assume leasehold interests of approximately
$125.6 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities was approxi-
mately $619.7 million. Financing activities consisted pri-
marily of proceeds from mortgage notes payable,
convertible senior notes and credit facilities of approxi-
mately $1,108.7 million, which were used principally to
finance properties acquired in 2005 and the Bank of
America, N.A. portfolio purchased in 2004. We also
received approximately $244.4 million of proceeds from
our secondary offering in May 2005 and the exercise of
stock options and $0.3 million of contributions from the
minority interest owners of State Street Financial
Center. These proceeds were partially offset by (i) divi-
dends to shareholders and distributions to Operating
Partnership unitholders of approximately $134.4 million,
(ii) repayment of mortgage notes payable and payment
of financing costs of approximately $594.9 million, (iii)
approximately $4.4 million of payments to redeem
Operating Partnership units issued in connection with
the acquisition of State Street Financial Center and (iv)
approximately $16.0 million related to an increase in
restricted cash.

CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2004

During the year ended December 31, 2004, net cash
provided by operating activities was approximately
$139.9 million. The level of cash flows provided by oper-
ating activities was affected by the receipt of scheduled
rent payments and the timing of the payment of operating
and interest expenses. The increase in deferred leasing
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costs was primarily related to the lease inducement fee
paid to a subsidiary of State Street Corporation, the ten-
ant in State Street Financial Center, and a lease exten-
sion fee paid to Bank of America, N.A., a tenant in 101
Independence Center. These increases were partially
offset by the increase in deferred revenue. The increase
in deferred revenue was due to the prepayment of con- '
tractual rent payments received from Bank of America,
N.A. for the Dana Commercial Credit portfolio that
apply to future periods, sublease management and
standby subtenant fees related to our leasehold interest
in Harborside and prepaid rent related to properties we
did not own on December 31, 2003, including State
Street Financial Center and the portfolios we purchased
from Wachovia Bank, N.A. in September 2004 and Bank
of America, N.A. in October 2004.

Net cash used in investing activities was approximately
$1,733.7 million. Investing activities consisted primarily
of payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired, of
approximately $2,006.7 million, principally for the acqui-
sition of State Street Financial Center, 215 Fremont
Street, 101 Independence Center, and the Wachovia
Bank, N.A. and Bank of America, N.A. portfolios, and
approximately $15.8 million for payments related to cap-
ital expenditures and leasehold termination costs. These
payments were partially offset by net sales of marketable
securities of approximately $42.8 million, proceeds from
sales of real estate and non-real estate investments and
payments received to assume leasehold interests of
approximately $187.0 million and net proceeds from the
sale of a 30% interest in State Street Financial Center of
$59.0 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities was approxi-
mately $1,493.2 million. Financing activities consisted
primarily of proceeds from mortgage notes payable, con-
vertible senior notes and credit facilities of approxi-
mately $1,963.5 million, which were used principally to
finance a portion of the purchase price of State Street
Financial Center, 215 Fremont Street, and the Wachovia
Bank, N.A. and Bank of America, N.A. portfolios and
proceeds from the exercise of stock options of approxi-
mately $7.5 million. These proceeds were partially offset
by (i) dividends to shareholders and distributions to
Operating Partnership unitholders of approximately
$116.8 million, (ii} repayment of mortgage notes payable
and payment of financing costs of approximately $300.2
million, (iii) approximately $31.1 million of payments to
redeem Operating Partnership units issued in connec-
tion with the acquisition of State Street Financial Center
and (iv) approximately $31.7 million related to an
increase in restricted cash.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Short-Term Liquidity Requirements

We had an aggregate of $106.0 million of cash and cash
equivalents as of December 31, 2006, of which $37.3 mil-
lion was in lock box accounts to fund monthly contractual
debt service payments and reserve requirements.




As of December 31, 2006, we had $212.6 million of
advances outstanding from our secured credit facility,
$150.3 million of collateralized availability under this
facility, and an additional $37.1 million of uncollateral-
1zed availability under this facility. During December
2006, in connection with the Company’s repositioning
strategy, we repaid $150.3 million of outstanding
advances from this secured credit facility using proceeds
from the sale of our interest in the State Street Financial
Center property during the same period.

In addition to our secured credit facility, we have an
unsecured credit facility with a $60.0 million borrowing
limit, available for general corporate purposes, which
includes a $60.0 million sub-limit for letters of credit. In
June 2006, the unsecured credit facility was amended to
permit cash collateralized letters of credit in excess of
this sub-limit. As of December 31, 2006, we had $68.2
million of letters of credit outstanding, consisting of
$59.0 million of unsecured letters of credit and $9.2 mil-
lion of cash collateralized letters of credit, resulting in
net availability of approximately $1.0 million.

As of January 31, 2007, we had $69.6 million of cash
and cash equivalents. This decrease during the period
from December 31, 2006 to January 31, 2007 primarily
relates to our fourth quarter dividend of $25.3 million
paid in January 2007, the interest payment on our senior
convertible notes of $9.8 million, the prepayment of $14.2
million in mortgage debt, the repayment of the remaining
$16.4 million outstanding on our short-term bridge facil-
ity secured by Bank of Oklahoma Plaza, and acquisitions
under our formulated price contracts of $2.8 million.
These cash payments were partially offset by the receipt
of the annual rent payment of $30.3 million, net of debt
service, related to the Dana Commercial Credit portfolio.

Excluding acquisitions under our formulated price
contracts, as of December 31, 2006, we had no pending
acquisitions under contract. As of December 31, 2006,
we had approximately $9.7 million in pending acquisi-
tions under outstanding notifications and notifications
we anticipate receiving under our formulated price con-
tracts. Pursuant to our formulated price contracts, we
acquire or assume leasehold interests in the surplus bank
branches of financial institutions at a formulated price
established by independent appraisals. We are still in
due diligence periods and have not received appraisals
for all the properties for which we received or anticipate
receiving notice. Therefore, where possible and quantifi-
able, we have estimated the purchase price of the prop-
erties we anticipate acquiring, based on the appraisals
we have received for similar properties. The acquisition
of these properties will be principally funded with avail-
able cash, proceeds generated by property disposition
and our secured line of credit.

As of December 31, 2006, we had 12 formulated price
contracts with banking institutions, including contracts
with two of the four largest depositary institutions in the
United States. Unless terminated, our formulated price
contracts automatically renew on an annual basis. Since
our formulated price agreements require us, with limited
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exceptions, to purchase all bank branches, subject to noti-
fication, that the counterparties determine to be surplus
properties, the total contractual obligation under these
agreements is not quantifiable. If we are unable to accu-
rately forecast the number of properties that we may
become obligated to purchase, or if we are unable to
secure adequate debt or equity financing to fund the pur-
chase price, we may not have sufficient capital to purchase
these properties. 1f we cannot perform our obligations, we
may become subject to liquidated damages or impair our
relationships with these institutions. The institutions with
which we have such agreements may also have the right to
terminate the agreements if we breach our obligations
under them. Any of these damages could significantly
affect our operating results, and if these agreements are
terminated, our ability to acquire additional properties
and successfully execute our business plan may be
impaired. If we are successful in entering into similar
agreements with other financial institutions, we may need
a significant amount of additional capital to fund addi-
tional acquisitions under those agreements. We cannot
assure you that we will be able to raise necessary capital on
acceptable terms, or at all. Our inability to fund required
acquisitions would adversely affect our revenues, impair
our business plan and reduce cash available for distribution
to shareholders.

During December 2006, in connection with the
Company’s repositioning strategy, we sold our 70%
interest in the State Street Financial Center for proceeds
of approximately $204.6 million, net of transaction-
related expenses, debt extinguishment and loan defea-
sance costs. During December 2006 and January 2007,
these proceeds were used to reduce our secured credit
facility by $150.3 million, prepay $14.2 million of mort-
gage debt secured by 23 properties, repay a $3.5 million
mortgage secured by an individual property that matured
in December 2006, and repay the remaining $16.4 million
short-term bridge facility secured by Bank of Oklahoma
Plaza. The remaining proceeds of approximately $20.2
million were allocated to working capital.

During December 2006, we borrowed $40.0 million
from a $50.0 million short-term bridge facility secured by
the State Street Financial Center purchase and sale
agreement. The $40.0 million advance from the facility
was also secured by a recourse guaranty by the Company
in an amount equal to the outstanding loan balance of
the facility. This $40.0 million loan was repaid in full con-
current with the sale of the State Street Financial Center
in December 2006.

On June 30, 2006, the $90.0 million short-term bridge
facility initially received in anticipation of completing a
pooled securitization financing, secured by Bank of
Oklahoma Plaza, One Citizens Plaza and One Colonial
Place, was scheduled to expire. This facility was extended
to October 31, 2006 and the outstanding loan balance was
reduced by $5.3 million in conjunction with this exten-
sion. The facility was subsequently extended to
December 29, 2006 for One Citizens Plaza and One
Colonial Place and to January 31, 2007 for Bank of




Oklahoma Plaza. During December 2006, we repaid
$68.2 million of the outstanding loan balance of this
short-term bridge facility using proceeds from the refi-
nance of One Citizens Plaza and One Colonial Place.
These properties were refinanced on a long-term basis
with individual fixed-rate mortgage loans. The portion of
the short-term bridge facility previously secured by One
Citizens Plaza inctuded $12.0 million of recourse to our
Operating Partnership. This recourse was eliminated at
the time of the refinance in December 2006. As of
December 31, 2006, the short-term bridge facility was
secured by Bank of Oklahoma Plaza with an outstanding
balance of $16.4 million, including $4.1 million of
recourse to our Operating Partnership. In January 2007,
we repaid the remaining outstanding balance of this
short-term bridge facility using proceeds from the sale of
our interest in the State Street Financial Center property.

As of January 31, 2007, we had executed agreements
of sale related to the disposition of non-core properties
with estimated proceeds of approximately $44.6 million,
net of principal payments on related debt. We anticipate
closing a portion of these dispositions in the first quarter
of 2007, with estimated proceeds of $27.8 million, net of
principal payments on related debt. The remaining prop-
erty dispositions are anticipated to be closed in the
remainder of 2007. We cannot assure that we will suc-
cessfully close these dispositions. If such properties are
not sold or not sold in a timely manner, our liquidity
position could be adversely affected.

Our short-term liquidity requirements consist primarily
of funds necessary to pay for operating expenses, contrac-
tually obligated reimbursable and non-reimbursable cap-
ital expenditures, dividend and distribution payments to
our shareholders and unitholders, respectively, debt
service, inclusive of principal repayment and interest
expense related to both secured and unsecured debt and
commitments to complete pending acquisitions.
Although cash flow from real estate operating activity
is a source from which these payments are provided,
with the exception of acquisitions, it alone is not suffi-
cient to meet these obligations. We are obligated under
the terms of our major tenant leases to fund all capital
expenditures at the time of completing certain capital
improvements. These tenants reimburse these costs
over a useful life schedule plus interest. We are cur-
rently negotiating a facility to finance the tenant por-
tion of these costs. In addition to cash flow from real
estate operating activity and cash available from our
credit facilities, we expect to fund short-term liquidity
requirements from any or all of the following sources:

¢ proceeds from the sale of non-core real estate assets;

* proceeds from the sale of interests in existing
real property assets contributed to and maintained
or re-developed through off balance sheet entities to
be formed with unrelated third-party investors;

¢ the placement of mortgage financings on existing
unencumbered assets;

¢ the placement of mortgage financings to refinance
existing encumbered assets; and
¢ the issuance of secured or unsecured debt securities.

However, if these sources of funds become unavail-
able, our access to the capital markets becomes
restricted or we are unable to match the completion of
capital sourcing transactions with capital needs, our abil-
ity to meet our short-term liquidity requirements will be
adversely affected.

Long-Term Liquidity Requirements

Our long-term requirements generally consist of real
property investments, the refinancing of existing long-
term debt obligations, which may come due in the next 12
months, as well as the repayment of balances outstanding
on our credit facilities. These investments and refinanc-
ing requirements may be funded utilizing capital market
transactions, which may include the issuance of preferred
equity, common equity and various forms of secured and
unsecured long-term debt instruments. Such financings
may also be funded through short-term bank loans and
long-term mortgages. In addition, we are actively manag-
ing our debt and capital position. We are currently
reviewing our debt portfolio, in order 1o identify and refi-
nance obligations with high interest rate coupons or high
debt service constants. Through these refinancings, we
anticipate improved cash flow by decreasing interest pay-
ment obligations or eliminating or reducing debt amorti-
zation. We are also looking to extend the term of certain
debt to balance future refinancing requirements,

We expect to continue to acquire additional properties
in the next 12 months. We expect to fund current acqui-
sition commitments and future commitments with any or
all of the sources of capital described above. We intend
to arrange for debt in accordance with our general bor-
rowing policies, which include utilizing our credit facili-
ties prior to securing permanent debt financing and/or
obtaining short-term floating rate bridge financings to
expedite the closing of such acquisitions.

We anticipate that our current cash, cash equivalents,
short-term investments, cash flow from real estate oper-
ating activity and access to the capital markets is suffi-
cient to meet our short-term and long-term capital
requirements. However, if these sources of funds become
unavailable or our access to the capital markets becomes
restricted, our ability to meet current dividend and other
payment requirements will be adversely affected.

Our properties are encumbered by mortgages and other
financing agreements aggregating approximately $2,439.8
million in outstanding principal, excluding unamortized
premiums and discounts, as of December 31, 2006, with an
average remaining term of 9.5 years and a weighted aver-
age interest rate {(excluding unamortized debt premium
and discounts and the effects of hedging activities) of
5.66%. During the year ending December 31, 2007, we
are required to pay $178.6 million in mortgage principal
payments, which includes $16.4 million on our short-term
bridge facility; $80.7 million on our secured credit facility,
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$50.0 million of balloon payments on mortgage loans, and $31.1 million of contractual mortgage principal amortization.
The table below summarizes the properties financed and the principal payments required as of December 31, 2006, in
the following calendar years (dollars in millions):

Balance at  Coupon

Number of Dec. 31, Interest Principal Payments and Debt Security Schedule
Property/Borrowing Properties  2006(1) Rate(1) 2007 )ZME 2009 2010 2017 Theredfier

Convertible Senior Notes — % 4500 438% § — § — $ — $ — § — § 4500
Bank of America, N.A. acquired in June 2003 133 381.7 547% 10.1 1.6 112 11.9 12.6 3253
Bank of America, N.A. acquired in Oct. 2004 202 2789 5.96% 39 4.1 44 4.7 5.0 256.8
Secured credit facility(2) 270 2126 710% 807 1319 - — — —
777 San Marin Drive, Novato, CA 1 187.1 5.55% 29 3.0 32 34 36 1710
Wachovia Bank, N.A. 127 183.5 6.40% 28 30 33 34 171.0 _—
Dana Commercial Credit 13 180.0 5.61% — — — — — 1800
101 Independence Center, Charlotte, NC 1 T3 5.53% 12 i3 1.3 1.4 1.5 71.0
Bank of America Plaza, St. Louis, MO 1 580 4.55% 22 23 535 — — —
Pitncy Bowes-Bank of America 72 54.6 5.33% 29 20 15 1.6 17 49
123 S. Broad Street, Unit 2, Philadelphia, PA 1 50.4 8.43% 504 — — — — —
One Citizens Plaza, Providence RI 1 435 5.70% — — — — — 435
801 Market Street, Philadelphia, PA 1 420 6.17% 0.6 0.7 07 0.7 08 38.5
Three Beaver Valley, Wilmington, DE 1 41.5 5.06% 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.8 0.8 3.8
Pitney Bowes—Wachovia 23 244 5.50% 0.9 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.2 19.2
Sterling Bank 14 199 5.57% — — — — — 19.9
10561 Telegraph Road, Glen Allen, VA 1 180 5.68% — —_ — — — 18.0
6900 Westcliff Drive. Las Vegas, NV 1 16.6 5.41% 0.2 0.2 03 0.3 0.3 153
201 Robert S. Kerr Avenue, Oklahoma City, OK(3) 1 16.4 6.75% 164 — — — — —_
2200 Benson Street, Sioux Falls, SD 1 154 6.55% 0.3 03 04 04 04 13.6
610 Old York Road, Jenkintown, PA 1 14.7 8.29% 02 02 02 14.1 —_ —
177 Meeting Street, Charleston, SC 1 95 7.44% 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 87 —
1965 East Sixth Street, Cleveland, OH 1 63 531% 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 58
4 Pope Avenue, Hilton Head, SC 1 31 5.89% 0.1 0.1 0.1 01 0.2 2.5
200 Reid Street, Palatka, FL 1 31 5.81% 0.1 0.1 0.1 01 0.2 2.5
Debt between $1.0 million and $3.0 million 21 311 5.96% 1.0 1.0 1.1 2.3 1.2 245
Debt less than $1.0 million{4) 32 19.8 6.35% 0.7 1.4 24 1.0 1.2 13.1

923  $2439.8 5.66% $1786  $1642 $85.7 $476 $2105  §1,753.2

(1) Excludes unamortized debt premivm and discounts and hedging activity and the related effects on interest rates.

(2) Borrowings bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.75%.

(3) Borrowings bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.40%.

(4) Includes seven varizble-rate loans totaling $3.9 million, which bear interest at one-month Constant Maturity Treasury plus 2.00%.

Our indebtedness contains various financial and non-financial event of default covenants customarily found in
financing arrangements, including debt service coverage ratio requirements and in the case of our unsecured credit
facility, limitations on our total indebtedness and our total secured indebtedness. As of December 31, 2006, we were
in compliance with all event of default covenants. The Company’s mortgage notes payable typically require that spec-
ified loan-to-value and debt service coverage ratios be maintained with respect to the financed properties before the
Company can exercise certain rights under the loan agreements relating to such properties. If the specified criteria
are not satisfied, in addition to other conditions that the Company may have to observe, the Company’s ability to
release properties from the financing may be restricted and the lender may be able to “trap” portfolio cash flow until
the required ratios are met on an ongoing basis. As of December 31, 2006, the Company was out of debt service cov-
erage compliance under two of its mortgage note financings, although such non-compliance does not, and will not,
constitute an event of default under the applicable loan agreement.

Contractual Obligations
The following table outlines the timing of payment requirements related to our contractual obligations as of
December 31, 2006 (amounts in thousands):

Less Than One to Three Three to More Than
One Year Years Five Years Five Years Total(1)
Mortgage notes payable—fixed-rate $ 81,212 $117,515 $257,577 $1,299,554 $1,755,858
Mortgage notes payable—variable-rate 16,654 508 508 3,631 21,301
Convertible senior notes — — —_ 450,000 450,000
Credit facilities 80,715 131,894 —_ — 212,609
Interest payments 134 368 122 387 219,948 649,428 1,126,131
Operating and capital leases 17,965 35,589 35,025 182,624 271,203
Purchase obligations(2) 8,295 610 624 1,659 11,188
$339.200 $408,503 $ 513,682 $2,586,896 $3,848,290

(1) Excludes unamortized debt premium and discounts.

(2) Includes approximately $11.2 million related to notifications outstanding under our formulated price contracts. However, since our formulated price
agreements require us, with limited exceptions, to purchase all bank branches, subject to notification, that the counterparties determine to be surplus
properties, the total contractual obligation under these agreements is not quantifiable.
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As of December 31, 2006, we had $68.2 million of let-
ters of credit outstanding. We have provided Charles
Schwab & Co., Inc. with an irrevocable, standby letter of
credit for $39.4 million as security for our obligation
under a subtenant agreement and a sublease manage-
ment and standby subtenant agreement at Harborside
Plaza in Jersey City, New Jersey. The amount of the let-
ter of credit will increase concurrently with each rent
credit and sublease management fee paid to us by
Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. up to $51.6 million and then
decrease over the term of our obligations through
October 2017. In connection with various reserve
requirements for our long-term financing of the Bank of
America, N A. portfolio we acquired in October 2004,
we posted a $20.0 million letter of credit as collateral.
This letter of credit may be reduced when certain condi-
tions are met, including various ieasing and maintenance
requirements. The current letter of credit amount out-
standing is $19.5 million. We also provided Bank of
America, N.A. with an irrevocable, standby letter of
credit for $6.0 million, as security for our obligations
under our lease agreements related to the properties we
acquired from Bank of America, N.A. in June 2003 and
October 2004. The remaining letters of credit were pri-
marily issued to secure payments under leasehold inter-
ests and issued to utility companies in lieu of a cash
security deposit to establish service. In addition, the
Company has $0.8 million in surety bonds outstanding as
of December 31, 2006 issued to utility companies in lieu
of a cash security deposit to establish service,

We generally intend to refinance the remaining principal
balance of our mortgage notes payable as they become
due or repay them if the respective property is sold.

Inflation

Some of our leases contain provisions designed to mit-
igate the adverse impact of inflation. These provisions
generally increase rental rates during the terms of the
leases either at fixed rates or indexed escalations (based
on the Consumer Price Index or other measures). We
may be adversely impacted by inflation on the leases that
do not contain indexed escalation provisions. In addition,
may of our net leases require the tenant to pay its alloca-
ble share of the amortized cost of capital expenditures
with interest as well as operating expenses, including
common area maintenance costs, real estate taxes and
insurance. This may reduce our exposure to increases in
costs and operating expenses resulting from inflation.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The market risk associated with financial instruments
and derivative financial instruments is the risk of loss
from adverse changes in market prices or rates. Qur
market risk arises primarily from interest rate risk relating

to variable-rate borrowings. To meet our short- and
long-term liquidity requirements, we borrow funds at a
combination of fixed and variable rates. Borrowings
under our credit facilities bear interest at variable rates.
QOur long-term debt, which consists of secured financ-
ings, typically bears interest at fixed rates. Our interest
rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact
of interest rate changes on earnings and cash ftows and
to lower our overall borrowing costs. To achieve these
objectives, from time to time, we may enter into interest
rate hedge contracts such as swaps, caps, and treasury
lock agreements in order to mitigate our interest rate
risk with respect to various debt instruments, We do not
hold or issue these derivative contracts for trading or
speculative purposes.

As of December 31, 2006, our debt included fixed-rate
debt, including debt secured by assets held for sale, with a
carrying value of approximately $2,203.6 million and a fair
value of approximately $2,146.3 million. Changes in mar-
ket interest rates on our fixed-rate debt impacts the fair
value of the debt, but it has no impact on interest incurred
or cash flow. For instance, if interest rates rise 100 basis
points and our fixed rate debt balance remains constant,
we expect the fair value of our debt to decrease, the same
way the price of a bond declines as interest rates rise. The
sensitivity analysis related to our fixed-rate debt assumes
an immediate 100 basis point move in interest rates from
their December 31, 2006 levels, with all other variables
held constant. A 100 basis point increase in market inter-
est rates would result in a decrease in the fair value of our
fixed-rate debt by approximately $151.3 million. A 100
basis point decrease in market interest rates would result
in an increase in the fair value of our fixed-rate debt by
approximately $168.3 million.

As of December 31, 2006, our debt included variable-
rate mortgage notes payable with a carrying value of
$233.9 million. The sensitivity analysis related to our
variable-rate debt assumes an immediate 100 basis point
move in variable interest rates with all other variables
held constant. A 100 basis point increase or decrease in
variable interest rates on our variable notes payable
would increase or decrease our interest expense by
approximately $1.8 million annually.

These amounts were determined by considering the impact
of hypothetical interest rates changes on our borrowing costs,
and, assumes no other changes in our capital structure.

As the information presented above includes only
those exposures that existed as of December 31, 2006, it
does not consider exposures or positions arising after
that date. The information represented herein has lim-
ited predictive value. As a result, the ultimate realized
gain or loss with respect to interest rate fluctuations will
depend on cumulative exposures, hedging strategies
employed and the magnitude of the fluctuations.




STOCK INFORMATION

Our common shares of beneficial interest trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “AFR.” The
following table sets forth the high and low sales prices for each quarter in the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2006, as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange:

High Low

Fiscal Year 2005:
First Quarter $16.18 $14.45
Second Quarter . 16,00 14.50
Third Quarter 15.74 13.15
Fourth Quarter 14.49 11.55

Fiscal Year 2006:
First Quarter $12.81 $11.52
Second Quarter 12.00 9.52
Third Quarter 12.25 9.59
Fourth Quarter 12.08 10.90

The number of holders of record of our shares was 357 as of February 27, 2007. This number does not include share-
holders whose shares are held of record by a brokerage house or clearing agency, but does include any such brokerage
house or clearing agency as one record holder.

American Financial Realty Trust, NAREIT Index and S&P Index'

Total Shareholder Return
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1 Prior Lo June 25, 2003, the Trust was not publicly traded and there was no public market for its securities. The graph above compares the cumu-
lative total return (which takes into account dividend payments) of the Trust's common shares with that of the NAREIT Index and S&P 500
Index from June 25, 2003 (the date the Trust’s common shares began to trade publicly) through December 31, 2006, The Trust's fiscal year ends
on December 31. The graph assumes that you invested $100 at the close of market on June 25, 2003 in the Trust’s common shares and $100
invested at that same time in each of the indexes. The comparisons in this graph are provided in accordance with Securities and Exchange
Commission disclosure requirements and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of the future performance of our common shares.

Dividend and Distributions Policy

We elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) commencing as of our taxable year ended
December 31, 2002. To qualify as a REIT, we must meet a number of organizational and operational requirements,
including a requirement that we distribute at least 90% of our ordinary taxable income to our shareholders. It is our
intention to comply with these requirements and maintain our REIT status. As a REIT, we generally will not be subject
to corporate federal, state or local income taxes on taxable income we distribute (in accordance with the IRC and appli-
cable regulations) to our shareholders. However, as property dispositions are a part of our on-going business plan, it is
necessary to transfer properties held for sale to our taxable REIT subsidiary, prior to completion of such sales, in order
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to maintain the favorable REIT tax status under the IRC. Gains on sales of these assets may be subject to taxes accord-
ing to the individual property’s resident jurisdiction. When taxes are due on such sales, the tax liability is paid by our
taxable REIT subsidiary. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject to federal, state and local
income taxes at regular corporate rates and may not be able to qualify as a REIT for four subsequent tax years. Even
if we qualify for federal taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to certain state and local taxes on our income and prop-
erty and to federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed taxable income (i.e., taxable income not distributed
in the amounts and in the time frames prescribed by the IRC and applicable regulations thereunder).

It is our intention to pay to our shareholders, within the time periods prescribed by the IRC, all or substantially all
of our annual taxable income, including gains from the sale of real estate and recognized gains on the sale of securities.
We intend to continue our policy of making sufficient cash distributions to shareholders in order for us to maintain our
REIT status under the IRC and to avoid corporate income and excise tax on undistributed income.

Since inception, dividends and Operating Partnership unit distributions have exceeded the minimum amounts
required to satisfy the IRC distribution requirements. As such, any distribution amount in ¢xcess of our taxable income
is designated as a return of capital. The dividend distribution policy is set by our board of trustees annually and reviewed
quarterly. Payments made in excess of our taxable income are at the discretion of the board of trustees. Dividends will
be authorized by our board of trustees and declared by us based upon a number of factors, including:

¢ the rent received from our tenants;

* the ability of our tenants to meet their other obligations under their leases;

» debt service requirements;

¢ capital expenditure requirements for our properties;

* our taxable income;

e the annual distribution requirement under the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code;
¢ our operating expenses; and

s other factors that our board of trustees may deem relevant.

To the extent consistent with maintaining our REIT status, we may retain accumulated earnings of our taxable REIT
subsidiary in such subsidiary. Our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders will depend on our receipt of distributions
from our Operating Partnership and lease payments from our tenants with respect to our properties.

Cash dividends declared during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 were as follows (in thousands, except
per share data):

Per Common Share
and Operating

Total Dollars Declared to
Common Operating Partnership

Partnership Unit Shareholders Unit holders

Fiscal Year 2005
First Quarter $0.27 $30,115 $915
Second Quarter 0.27 34,697 915
Third Quarter 027 34,753 865
Fourth Quarter 0.27 34,752 941

Fiseal Year 2006
First Quarter $0.27 $34,961 $921
Second Quarter 0.27 34,968 908
Third Quarter 0.19 24,771 562
Fourth Quarter 0.19 24, 884 444

To address the difference between cash flows generated from operations and dividend payout, the Company's board
of trustees announced on August 17, 2006, a reduction in our dividend of $0.08 per share, or 30%, from $0.27 per share
10 $0.19 per share. For comparative purposes, total dividends and distributions in 2006 would have totaled $101.2 mil-
lion if the dividend has been decreased commencing in the first quarter of 2006. The dividend reduction is part of our
overall repositioning strategy, which includes the sale of non-core assets and the reduction of leverage. Along with
other initiatives, management and the board of trustees believe that the measures they are currently undertaking (as
previously communicated), will enhance the cash flow coverage of future period payment of dividends.

We cannot assure you that we will continue to have cash available for distributions at historical levels or at all. See the
section entitled “Risk Factors” in Item 1A, Part I of the Company's Form 10-K as filed with the SEC on March 1, 2007.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over finan-
cial reporting, as defined within Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Internal control over financial report-
ing refers to the processes designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and includes policies and procedures that:

» pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company;

« provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial state-
ments in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and

» provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition
of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

A material weakness in internal control over financial reporting is a significant deficiency, or a combination of sig-
nificant deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or
interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected.

Management, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on the criteria contained in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) of the Treadway Commission as of December 31, 2006. Based on that eval-
uation, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2006, the Company did maintain effective internal
control over financial reporting.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report
which is included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Shareholders and Board of Trustees of
American Financial Realty Trust:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, that American Financial Realty Trust maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). American Financial
Realty Trust’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opin-
ion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regard-
ing the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transac-
tions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding preven-
tion or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a mate-
rial effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may
not prevent or detéct misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that American Financial Realty Trust maintained effective internal con-
trol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria estab-
lished in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSQO). Also, in our opinion, American Financial Realty Trust maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of American Financial Realty Trust and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006
and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income
(loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2006, and our report dated
February 28, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements,

KPMe LP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 28, 2007




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Shareholders and Board of Trustees of
American Financial Realty Trust:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of American Financial Realty Trust and sub-
sidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’
equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2006. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evi-
dence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of American Financial Realty Trust and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006,
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2006 the Company adopted
SAB No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year
Financial Statements, and the Company changed its method of quantifying errors and recorded a cumulative effect
adjustment to retained earnings.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of American Financial Realty Trust’s internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 28,
2007, expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal
control over financial reporting.

KPMe LP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 28, 2007
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AMERICAN FINANCIAL REALTY TRUST

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31, 2006 2005
Assets:
Real estate investments, at cost:
Land $ 333,716 $ 475457
Land held for development 14,632 24,563
Buildings and improvements 1,947,977 2,645,618
Equipment and fixtures 283,704 401,661
Leasehold interests 16,039 9,579
Investment in joint venture 21,903 —
Total real estate investments, at cost 2,617,971 3,556,878
Less accumulated depreciation (297,371) (260,852)
Total real estate investments, net 2,320,600 3,296,026
Cash and cash equivalents 106,006 110,245
Restricted cash 76,448 73,535
Marketable investments and accrued interest 3.457 3,353
Pledged treasury securities, net 32,391 —
Tenant and other receivables, net of allowance 62,946 51,435
Prepaid expenses and other assets 32,n 37,789
Assets held for sale 594,781 341,338
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $70,044 and $64,369 314,753 642,467
Deferred costs, net of accumulated amortization of $20,070 and $13,179 62,591 67,388
Total assets $3,606,164 $4,623,576
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity:
Mortgage notes payable $1,557,313 $2,467,596
Credit facilities 212,609 171,265
Convertible notes, net 446,343 446,134
Accounts payable 7,246 4,350
Accrued interest expense 15,601 19,484
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 58,940 55,938
Dividends and distributions payable 25,328 35,693
Below-market lease liabilities, net of accumulated
amortization of $10,874 and $8,912 57,173 67,613
Deferred revenue 179,456 150,771
Liabilities related to assets held for sale 247,798 243,665
Total liabilities 2,807,807 3,662,509
Minority interest 12,393 53,224
Shareholders” equity:
Preferred shares, 100,000,000 shares authorized at $0.001 per share,
no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively — —
Common shares, 500,000,000 shares authorized at $0.001 per share,
130,966,141 and 128,712,181 issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively 131 129
Capital contributed in excess of par 1,389,827 1,371,648
Accumulated deficit (599,596) (457,313)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,398) (6,621)
Total shareholders’ equity 785,964 907,843
Total liabilitics and shareholders’ equity $3,606,164 $4,623,576

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial siatements,
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AMERICAN FINANCIAL REALTY TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Revenues:
Rental income $ 253,485 $219,689 $148,695
Operating expense reimbursements 166,712 155,181 81,101
Interest and other income 6,425 5,202 3,143
Total revenues 426,622 380,072 232,939
Expenses:
Property operating expenses:
Ground rents and leasehold obligations 14,336 13,427 8,726
Real estate taxes 42,868 35,232 21,659
Property and leasehold impairments 5,500 144 446
Other property operating expenses 166,310 142,148 73,730
Total property operating expenses 229,014 190,951 104,561
Marketing, general and administrative 24,934 24,144 23,888
Broken deal costs 176 1,220 227
Repositioning 9,065 — —_
Amortization of deferred equity compensation 8,687 10,411 9,078
Outperformance plan—contingent restricted share component — — (5,238)
Severance and related accelerated
amortization of deferred compensation 21,917 4,503 1,857
Interest expense on mortgages and other debt 142,432 120,514 72,121
Depreciation and amortization 126,307 115,439 74 427
Total expenses 562,532 467,182 280,921

Loss before net gain on sale of land, equity in loss
from joint venture, net loss on investments,

minority interest and discontinued operations (135,910) (87,110) (47,982)
Gain on sale of land 2,043 1,596 80
Equity in loss from joint venture (1,397) — —_
Net loss on investments — (530) (409)

Loss from continuing opérations before minority interest (135,264) (86,044) (48,311)
Minority interest 2,686 1,984 1,835
Loss from continuing operations (132,578) (84,060) (46,476)

Discontinued operations:

Loss from operations before yield maintenance fees,

net of minority interest of $1,850, $3,062 and $114 for the

years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively (79,174) (29,182) (1,252)
Yield maintenance fees, net of minority interest of $15,564,

$16 and $103 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005

and 2004, respectively (46,402) (567) (3,060)
Net gains on disposals, net of minority interest of $74,046,

$562 and $934 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005

and 2004, respectively 237,556 20,194 28,543
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 111,980 (9,555) 24,231
Net loss $ (20,598) $(93,615) $(22,245)
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share:
From continuing operations $(1.04) $(0.71) $(0.45)
From discontinued operations $ 087 $(0.07) $0.23
Total basic and diluted loss per share $(0.17) $(0.78) $(0.22)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN FINANCIAL REALTY TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
{In thousands, except share and per share data)

Accumulated
Retained Other
Capital Earnings Compre-
Shares of Common  Contributed {Accumu- hensive
Beneficial Shares in Excess lated Income
Interest at Par of Par Deficit} (Loss) Total
Balance, December 31, 2003 108,006,217 $108  $1,086270 $ (94557)  $(14220) § 977,601
Net loss — — -— (22,245) — (22,245)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Reclassification adjustment for losses
reclassified into operations — — -— — 2,034 2,034
Unrealized loss on derivatives — — — — (1,436) (1,436)
Unrealized loss on available for sale securities — -— -— — (438) (438)
Minority interest allocation — — — — (228) (228)
Total comprehensive loss — — — — —_ (22,313)
Issuance of common shares, net of expenses 16,854 — 244 — — 244
Exercised options of common shares 748,946 1 7551 — — 7,552
Conversion of Operating Partnership
units into common shares 1,520,688 2 9,178 — — 9,180
Dividends declared at $1.02 per share — — — (112,578) — (112,578)
Issuance of restricted shares 619,230 — — — —_ —
Amortization of deferred equity compensation — _ 10273 — — 10,273
Balance, December 31, 2004 111,001,935 111 1,113,516 (229,380) (14,288) 869,959
Net loss — — — (93,615) — (93,615)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Reclassification adjustment for net losses
reclassified into operations — — — —_ 3,303 3,303
Reatized gain on derivatives — — — — 4,71 4,771
Unrealized loss on available for sale securities — — — — (126) (126)
Minority interest allocation — — — — (281) (281)
Total comprehensive loss — — — — — (85,948)
Issuance of common shares, net of expenses 16,767,385 16 242 825 — —_ 242,841
Exercised options of common shares 186,524 1 1,862 — — 1,863
Conversion of Operating Partnership
units into common shares 185,755 — 6 —_ — 6
Dividends declared at $1.08 per share — — — (134,318) — (134,318)
Issuance of restricted shares 570,582 1 i} —_ —_ —
Amortization of deferred equity compensation — - 13,440 — — 13,440
Balance, December 31, 2005 128,712,181 129 1,371,648 (457,313) (6,621) 907,843
Cumulative effect of adopting SAB No. 108 — — - (2,101) — (2,101)
Net loss —_ — — (20,598) — (20,598)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Reclassification adjustment for net losses
reclassified into operations — — — — 2,331 2,331
Minority interest allocation — — - —_ (108) (108)
Total comprehensive loss _ _ —_ — — (20,476)
Exercised options of common shares 118,515 — 1,185 — — 1,185
Conversion of Operating Partnership
units into common shares 1,142,742 2 3,690 —_ —_— 3692
Dividends declared at $0.92 per share — — - (119,584) — (119,584)
Issuance of restricted shares 992,703 - 2713 — — 273
Amortization of deferred equity compensation — — 13,031 —_ — 13,031
Balance, December 31, 2006 130,966,141 $131 $1,389,827 $(599,596) $ (4,398) § 785,964

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

32




AMERICAN FINANCIAL REALTY TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (20,598) $ (93,615 $ (22245
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
Hused in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 137,420 138,990 93,241
Minority interest 53,946 (4,500) (1,118)
Amortization of leasehold interests and intangible assets 36,351 38,887 18,145
Amortization of above- and below-market leases 1,160 (120) 1,539
Amortization of deferred financing costs 13,708 12,656 5,006
Amortization of deferred comfensation 13,031 13,440 10,273
Amortization of discount on pledged treasury securities (359) — —
Non-cash component of Qutperformance Plan — — {5,238}
Non-cash compensation charge 273 262 244
Impairment charges 65,116 3,581 4,060
Net equity in loss from joint venture 1,397 — —
Net gain on sales of properties and lease terminations (315,077) (23,006) (30,076)
Net loss on sales of investments — 530 409
Increase in restricted cash (3,792) (17,646 %21,246
Leasing costs (18,154) (8,404 17,349
Payments received from tenants for lease terminations 1,947 440 2,061
Decrease (increase) in operaling assets:
Tenant and other receivables, net (23,405) (19,601; £22,055;
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,777 (8 16,466
Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Accounts payable 4,447 (709; 3,138
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (3,034) (10,469 44972
Deferred revenue and tenant security deposits 31,7 50,002 71,325
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (26,689) 80,637 118,620
Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for acquisitions of real estate
investments, net of cash acquired (192,669) (806,951 (2,006,703;
Capital expenditures (50,043) (41,559 (15,786
Proceeds from sales of real estate and non-real estate assets 1,421,613 125,583 245,990
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash 590 1,601 (10,461)
Investment in joint venture (23,300) — —
Sales of investments 1116 21,240 52,880
Purchases of investments (33,082) {659) (10,032)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,124,225 (700,745) (1,744,112)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments of mortgages, bridge notes payable and credit facilities (1,207,580) (594,063) (274,398)
Proceeds from mortgages, bridge notes payable and credit facilities 327,878 1,108,652 1,531,425
Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes, net — — 434,030
Payments for deferred financing costs, net (2,118) (838) (25,758)
Proceeds from common share issuances, net 1,185 244,442 7,552
Redemption of Operating Partnership units — (4,405) (31,112)
Contributions by limited partners - 353 —
Dividends and distributions (221,140) {134,395) (116,799)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1,101,775) 619,746 1,524,940
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents 4,239) (362) (100,552)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 110,245 110,607 211,159
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 106,006 $ 110,245 $ 110,607
Supﬁlemcntal cash flow and non-cash information:

} Cash paid for interest $ 248,170 $ 166,533 $ 76582
Cash paid for income taxes $ 687 $ 24 $ 1,693
Debt assumed in real estate acquisitions $ —_ $ 78,645 $ 48,072
Operating Partnership units issued to acquire real estate $ — $ — $ 35867
Non-cash acquisition costs $ — § 2,367 $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN FINANCIAL REALTY TRUST

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands, except share, per share, buildings and square feet data)

(1) THE COMPANY .

American Financial Realty Trust (the Company) is a
self-administered and self-managed real estate invest-
ment trust (REIT). The Company was formed as a
Maryland REIT on May 23, 2002 to acquire and operate
properties leased primarily to regulated financial institu-
tions. The Company acquires corporate-owned real
estate assets, primarily bank branches and office build-
ings from financial institutions, and owns and manages
such assets principally under long-term, triple net lcases.

The Company’s interest in its properties is held
through its operating partnership, First States Group,
L.P. (the Operating Partnership). The Company is the
sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and
held a 98.2% interest in the Operating Partnership as of
December 31, 2006. There were 2,341,034 Operating
Partnership units outstanding as of December 31, 2006.

On September 10, 2002, AFR commenced operations
upon completing a private placement of common shares
of beneficial interest, and through its Operating
Partnership, acquired substantially all of the assets, liabil-
ities, and operations of American Financial Real Estate
Group (AFREG or the Predecessor) in a business com-
bination accounted for under Staff Accounting Bulletin
Topic 5g with carryover basis for the portion of the net
assets acquired from the majority shareholder/general
partner and his affiliates and fair value for the remaining
portion of the net assets acquired from all other investors
(the Formation Transaction).

The Company operates in one segment, and focuses
on acquiring, operating and leasing properties to regu-
lated financial institutions. Rental income from Bank of
America, N.A., State Street Corporation and Wachovia
Bank, N.A., or their respective affiliates, represented the
following percentages of total rental income for the
respective periods. The State Street Financial Center
occupied by State Street Corporation was sold in
December 2006.

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004

Bank of America, N.A. 29% 2% 37%
State Street Corporation 18% 19% 24%
Wachovia Bank, N.A. 12% 15% 14%

No other tenant represented more than 10% of rental
income for the periods presented.

(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Accounting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements
of the Company are prepared on the accrual basis of
accounting in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

(b} Principles of Consolidation

The Company consolidates its accounts and the
accounts of the majority-owned and controlled
Operating Partnership and reflects the remaining inter-
est in the Operating Partnership as minority interest.
The Operating Partnership holds and consolidates its
majority or controlling interests in the other partner-
ships and reflects the remaining ownership interests
within minority interest. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation (“FIN")
No. 46R (FIN 46R), “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities,” to replace Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46)
which was issued in January 2003. FIN 46R addresses
how a business enterprise should evaluate whether it has
a controlling financial interest in an entity through means
other than voting rights and whether it should consoli-
date the entity. FIN 46R was applicable immediately to
variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003
and as of the first interim period ending after March 15,
2004 to those created before February 1, 2003 and not
already consolidated under FIN 46 in previously issued
financial statements. The Company has adopted FIN 46R
and analyzed the applicability of this interpretation to its
structures. The Company acquired an interest in one vari-
able interest entity during the year ended December 31,
2005 and includes the accounts of this entity in the con-
solidated financial statements as the Company is the pri-
mary beneficiary of this entity.

We account for the investment in a joint venture using
the equity method of accounting. The Company has
evaluated its investment in the joint venture and has
concluded that it is not a variable interest entity as
defined by FIN 46R. The Company does not control the
joint venture, since all major decisions of the partner-
ship, such as the sale, refinancing, expansion or rehabili-
tation of any property, require the approval of all
partners and voting rights and the sharing of profits and
losses are in proportion to the ownership percentages of
each partner. This investment was recorded initially at
the Company’s cost and subsequently adjusted for the
Company’s share of net equity in income (loss) and will
be adjusted for cash contributions and distributions.

(c) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contin-
gent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and




expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates. Management makes
significant estimates regarding revenue recognition,
investments in real estate, purchase price allocations and
derivative financial instruments and hedging activities.

(d) Reclassifications
Certain amounts have been reclassified in the prior
periods to conform to the current period presentation.

(e) Real Estate Investments

The Company records acquired real estate at cost.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful life of 40 years for buildings,
five to ten years for building equipment and fixtures, and
the lesser of the useful life or the remaining lease term
for tenant improvements and leasehold interests.
Maintenance and repairs expenditures are charged to
expense as incurred.

In leasing office space, the Company may provide
funding to the lessee through a tenant allowance. In
accounting for tenant allowances, the Company deter-
mines whether the allowance represents funding for the
construction of leasehold improvements and evaluates
the ownership, for accounting purposes, of such
improvements. If the Company is considered the owner
of the leasehold improvements for accounting purposes,
the Company capitalizes the amount of the tenant
allowance and depreciates it over the shorter of the use-
ful life of the leasehold improvements or the lease term.
If the tenant allowance represents a payment for a pur-
pose other than funding leasehold improvements, or in
the event the Company is not considered the owner of
the improvements for accounting purposes, the
allowance is considered to be a lease incentive and is rec-
ognized over the lease term as a reduction of rental rev-
enue. Factors considered during this evaluation usually
include (i) who holds legal title to the improvements, (ii)
evidentiary requirements concerning the spending of the
tenant allowance and (iii) other controlling rights pro-
vided by the lease agreement {e.g. unilateral control of
the tenant space during the build-out process).
Determination of the accounting for a tenant allowance
is made on a case-by-case basis, considering the facts and
circumstances of the individual tenant lease.

() Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company follows Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 144, *Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,”
which establishes a single accounting model for the
impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. SFAS No. 144
requires that the operations related to properties that
have been sold or properties that are intended to be sold
be presented as discontinued operations in the statement
of operations for all periods presented, and properties
intended to be sold to be designated as “held for sale” on
the balance sheet.
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The Company reviews the recoverability of the prop-
erty’s carrying value, when circumstances indicate a pos-
sible impairment of the value of a property. The review of
recoverability is based on an estimate of the future undis-
counted cash flows, excluding interest charges, expected
to result from the property’s use and eventual disposition.
These estimates consider factors such as expected future
operating income, market and other applicable trends
and residual value, as well as the effects of leasing
demand, competition and other factors. Because a signif-
icant number of properties are vacant when acquired, the
Company has excluded properties within the initial two-
year period of ownership from this review. This provides
a reasonable period of time to allow for marketing, leas-
ing and build-out of these properties. If impairment exists
due to the inability to recover the carrying value of a
property, an impairment loss is recorded to the extent
that the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of
the property for properties to be held and used and fair
value less estimated cost to dispose for assets held for
sale. These assessments have a direct impact on net
income because recording an impairment loss results in
an immediate negative adjustment to net income.

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments
with a maturity of three months or less when purchased
to be cash equivalents.

(h) Restricted Cash

Restricted cash includes amounts escrowed pursuant
to mortgage agreements for insurance, taxes, repairs and
maintenance, tenant improvements, interest, and debt
service and amounts held as collateral under security
and pledge agreements relating to leasehold interests.

(i) Marketable Investments and Accrued Interest

Marketable investments consist of shares in an institu-
tional mutual fund that invests in short-term money mar-
ket instruments. The Company has classified these
investments as available-for-sale and recorded them at
fair value. These short-term investments had a cost basis
of $3,005 and $3,125 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, $3,001
and $3,121 of these investments were pledged as collat-
eral for obligations related to leasehold interest liabili-
ties, respectively. Additionally, the Company has
accrued interest income on these investments of $452
and $228 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company
liguidated a prior investment in another institutional
mutual fund that invested primarily in mortgage-
backed securities, realizing a loss of $530. At December
31, 2004, $404 of this loss was unrealized, excluded
from earnings and reported as a component of other
comprehensive income (loss).




The following table provides information regarding
the sale of marketable investments:

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Gross proceeds from sales $451 $21,240 $52,880
Gross reatized gains — — 4
Gross realized losses — 530 413

(i) Pledged Treasury Securities

The Company maintains a portfolio of treasury securi-
ties that are pledged to provide principal and interest
payments for mortgage debt previously collateralized by
properties in its real estate portfolio. These securities are
carried at amortized cost because the Company has both
positive intent and the ability to hold the securities to
maturity. These securities have a fair value of $32,811 and
have maturities that extend through November 2013.

(k) Tenant and Other Receivables

Tenant and other receivables are primarily derived
from the rental income that each tenant pays in accor-
dance with the terms of its lease, which is recorded on a
straightline basis over the initial term of the lease. Since
many leases provide for rental increases at specified
intervals, straightline basis accounting requires the
Company to record a receivable, and include in rev-
enues, unbilled rent receivables that will only be
received if the tenant makes all rent payments required
through the expiration of the initial term of the lease.
Tenant and other receivables also include receivables
related to tenant reimbursements for common area
maintenance expenses and certain other recoverable
expenses that are recognized as revenue in the period in
which the related expenses are incurred.

Tenant and other receivables are recorded net of the
allowances for doubtful accounts. The Company contin-
ually reviews receivables related to rent, tenant reim-
bursements and unbilled rent receivables and determines
collectability by taking into consideration the tenant’s
payment history, the financial condition of the tenant,
business conditions in the industry in which the tenant
operates and economic conditions in the area in which
the property is located. In the event that the collectabil-
ity of a receivable is in doubt, the Company increases the
allowance for uncollectible accounts or records a direct
write-off of the receivable in the consolidated statements
of operations.

During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company dis-
covered that rental income related to one master lease
agreement was being straightlined for a period six
months longer than the actual expiration. Had the
Company recorded straightline rental income over the
proper period, net loss would have been decreased by
$467 for the year ended December 31, 2004. The adjust-
ments represent 2.1% of net loss and $0.00 of net loss per
share for the year ended December 31, 2004. The
Company has evaluated, on both the qualitative and
quantitative basis, the impact of this adjustment and con-
cluded that it is not significant to the financial statements
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for the interim periods during and for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004. During the year ended
December 31, 2005, the Company recorded $922 of addi-
tional rental income to adjust deferred straightline rent
to the proper balance.

(I} Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

The Company makes payments for certain expenses
such as insurance and property taxes in advance of the
period in which it receives the benefit. These payments
are classified as prepaid expenses and amortized over
the respective period of benefit relating to the contrac-
tual arrangement. The Company also escrows deposits
related to pending acquisitions and financing arrange-
ments, as required by a seller or lender, respectively.
Prepaid acquisition costs represent a portion of the total
purchase price of a property and are reclassified into real
estate investments and related intangible assets, as
appropriate, at the time the acquisition is completed. If
such costs are related to an acquisition that will not be
consummated and the deposit is not recoverable, the
respective amounts are recorded as broken deal costs in
the accompanying consolidated statements of opera-
tions. Costs prepaid in connection with securing financ-
ing for a property are reclassified into deferred costs at
the time the transaction is completed.

(m) Intangible Assets

Pursuant to SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,”
the Company follows the purchase method of accounting
for all business combinations. To ensure that intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a purchase
method business combination should be recognized and
reported apart from goodwill, the Company ensures that
the applicable criteria specified in SFAS No. 141 are met.

The Company allocates the purchase price of acquired
properties to tangible and identifiable intangible assets
acquired based on their respective fair values. Tangible
assets include land, buildings on an as-if vacant basis,
equipment and tenant improvements. The Company uti-
lizes various estimates, processes and information to
determine the as-if vacant property value. Estimates of
value are made using customary methods, including data
from appraisals, comparable sales, discounted cash flow
analysis and other methods. Identifiable intangible
assets include amounts allocated to acquired leases for
above- and below-market lease rates, the value of in-place
leases, and the value of customer relationships.

Above-market and below-market in-place lease values
for properties acquired are recorded based on the pres-
ent value (using an interest rate which reflects the risks
associated with the leases acquired) of the difference
between the contractual amount to be paid pursuant to
each in-place lease and management’s estimate of the
fair market lease rate for each such in-place lease, meas-
ured over a period equal to the remaining non-cance-
lable term of the lease. The capitalized above-market
lease values are amortized as a reduction of rental
income over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the




respective leases. The capitalized below-market lease
values are amortized as an increase to rental income
over the initial term and any fixed-rate renewal periods
in the respective leases.

The aggregate value of intangible assets related to in-
place leases is primarily the difference between the
property valued with existing in-place leases adjusted to
market rental rates and the property valued as-if vacant.
Factors considered by management in its analysis of the
in-place lease intangibles include an estimate of carrying
costs during the expected lease-up period for each prop-
erty taking into account current market conditions and
costs to execute similar leases. In estimating carrying
costs, management includes real estate taxes, insurance
and other operating expenses and estimates of lost
rentals at market rates during the expected lease-up
period, which primarily ranges from six to 18 months.
Management also estimates costs to execute similar
leases including leasing commissions, legal and other
related expenses.

The aggregate value of intangibles related to customer
relationships is measured based on management’s evalu-
ation of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease
and the Company’s overall relationship with the tenant.
Characteristics considered by management in determin-
ing these values include the nature and extent of the
Company’s existing business relationships with the ten-
ant, growth prospects for developing new business with
the tenant, the tenant’s credit quality and expectations of
lease renewals, among other factors.

The value of in-place leases is amortized to expense
over the initial term of the respective leases, which range
primarily from two to 20 years. The value of customer
relationship intangibles is amortized to expense over the
initial term and any renewal periods in the respective
leases, but in no event does the amortization period for
intangible assets exceed the remaining depreciable life of
the building. If a tenant terminates its lease, the unamor-
tized portion of the in-place lease value and customer
relationship intangibles is charged to expense.

In making estimates of fair values for purposes of allo-
cating purchase price, management utilizes a number of

sources, including independent appraisals that may be
obtained in connection with the acquisition or financing
of the respective property and other market data.
Management also considers information obtained about
each property as a result of its pre-acquisition due dili-
gence, as well as subsequent marketing and leasing activ-
ities, in estimating the fair value of the tangible and
intangible assets acquired and intangible liabilities
assumed. The allocations presented in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets are substantially complete;
however, there are certain items that we will finalize
once we receive additional information. Accordingly,
these allocations are subject to revision when final infor-
mation is available, although we do not expect future
revisions to have a significant impact on our financial
position or results of operations.

Intangible assets and acquired lease obligations consist
of the following:

December 31, 2066 2005
Intangible assets:
In-place leases, net of accumulated
amortization of $51,260 and $38,037 $221,452 $315,685
Customer relationships, net of accumulated
amortization of $17,565 and $20,647 154,375 342,656
Above-market leases, net of accumulated
amortization of $13,198 and $8,868 14,826 19,355

Goodwill 700 700
Amounts related to assets held for sale,
net of accumulated amortization
of $11,979 and $3,183

Total intangible assets

(76,600) (35,929)
$314,753  $642.467

Intangible liabilities:
Below-market leases, net of accumulated
amortization of $13,475 and $8,969
Amounts related to liabilities held for
sale, net of accumulated amortization
of $2,601 and $57

Total intangible liabilities

$ 63586 § 67,790

643  (177)
$ 57,173 § 67,613

The following table provides the weighted average
amortization period as of December 31, 2006 for intan-
gible assets and liabilities and the projected amortization
expense for the next five years:

Weighted
Average
Amortization
Period 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
In-place leases 143 $23,628 $23,032 $22,259 $20,638  $18432
Customer relationships 34.0 5,725 5,681 5,638 5,604 5,335
Total to be included in depreciation
and amortization expense $29,353 $28,713 $27.897 $26,242  $23,967
Above-market lease assets 71 $(4,113)  $(3,586) $(2,741) $(2,126) % (784)
Below-market lease liabilities 28.0 3,206 2,398 2,751 2,421 2,128
Total to be included in (deducted from)
rental revenue $ (907) $ (688) $ 10 $ 295 %134
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During the year ended December 31, 2005, the
Company discovered that certain depreciable assets, pri-
marily intangible assets, were being amortized over the
improper useful lives within two real estate porifolios.
Had the Company recorded amortization expense utiliz-
ing the proper useful lives, net loss would have been
increased by $385 for the years ended December 31, 2004,
The adjustments represent 1.7% of net loss and $0.00 of
net loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2004,
The Company has evaluated, on both the qualitative and
quantitative basis, the impact of this adjustment and con-
cluded that it is not significant to the financial statements
for the interim periods during and for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. During the year
ended December 31, 2005, the Company recorded $865 of
additional amortization expense to adjust accumulated
amortization to the proper balances.

(n) Deferred Costs

The Company has deferred certain expenditures related
to the leasing and financing of certain properties. Direct
costs of leasing, including internally capitalized payroll
costs associated with leasing activities, are deferred and
amortized over the terms of the underlying leases. Direct
costs of financings are deferred and amortized over the
terms of the underlying financing agreements.

Prior to 2005, the Company amortized deferred
financing costs to interest expense on a straightline basis.
During the year ended December 31, 2005, the
Company changed its amortization methodology to an
effective interest rate basis. Had the Company recorded
amortization expense on an effective interest rate basis
in prior years, net loss would have been increased by
$467 for the year ended December 31, 2004. The adjust-
ment represents 2.1% of net loss and $0.00 net loss per
share for the year ended December 31, 2004. The
Company has evaluated, on both the qualitative and
quantitative basis, the impact of this adjustment and
concluded that it is not significant to the financial state-
ments for the interim periods during and for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. During the year
ended December 31, 2005, the Company recorded $508
of additional interest expense to adjust net deferred
costs to the proper balances.

(o) Leasehold Interests

Leasehold interest assets and liabilities are recorded
based on the difference between the fair value of manage-
ment’s estimate of the net present value of cash flows
expected to be paid and eamned from the subleases over
the non-cancelable lease terms and any payments received
in consideration for assuming the leaschold interests.
Factors used in determining the net present value of cash
flows inchide contractual rental amounts, costs of tenant
improvements, costs of capital expenditures and contrac-
tual amounts due under the corresponding operating lease
assumed. Amounts allocated to leasehold interests, based
on their respective fair values, are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the remaining lease term.
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(p) Transfer of Financial Assets and
Extinguishment of Liabilities

The Company follows Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No, 140, “Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishment of Liabilities,” which establishes an
accounting model for the derecognition of transferred
assets and liabilities. The Company applies the provisions
of SFAS No. 140 when the Company enters into a defea-
sance transaction in which the Company will unencumber
a property from a mortgage note prior to the property’s dis-
posal. To effect this transaction, the Company will purchase
and substitute a secured interest in treasury securities for
the property that originally served as collateral under a
mortgage note agreement. For transactions that meet the
criteria of SFAS No. 140, the Company will derecognize the
transferred assets and liability (“legal defeasance™). For
defeasance transactions that do not meet the criteria of
SFAS No. 140, the Company will continue to report the
securities and liability on its consolidated balance sheet
“in-substance defeasance”).

{q) Accounting for Derivative Financial
Investments and Hedging Activities

The Company uses derivatives to hedge, fix and cap
interest rate risk and accounts for its derivative and
hedging activities using SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as
amended, which requires all derivative instruments to be
carried at fair value on the balance sheet.

Derivative instruments designated in a hedge relation-
ship to mitigate exposure to changes in the fair value of
an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a
particular risk, are considered fair value hedges.
Derivative instruments designated in a hedge relation-
ship to mitigate exposure to vanability in expected
future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transac-
tions, are considered cash flow hedges. The Company
only engages in cash flow hedges.

Under cash flow hedges, derivative gains and losses not
considered highly effective in hedging the change in
expected cash flows of the hedged item are recognized
immediately in the consolidated statements of opera-
tions. For hedge transactions that do not qualify for the
short-cut method, at the hedge’s inception and on a regu-
lar basis thereafter, a formal assessment is performed to
determine whether changes in the fair values or cash
flows of the derivative instruments have been highly
effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged
items and whether they are expected to be highly effec-
tive in the future. The Company formally documents all
relationships between hedging instruments and hedged
items, as well as its risk-management objective and strat-
egy for undertaking each hedge transaction. Cash flow
hedges that are considered highly effective are accounted
for by recording the fair value of the derivative instru-
ment on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability,
with a corresponding amount recorded in other compre-
hensive income within shareholders’ equity. Amounts are
reclassified from other comprehensive income to the




statements of operations in the period or periods the
hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.

(r} Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is recorded in accor-
dance with the provisions of SFAS No. 130, “Reporting
Comprehensive Income.” SFAS No. 130 ecstablishes
standards for reporting comprehensive income and its
components in financial statements. Comprehensive
income (loss) is comprised of net income, changes in
unrealized gains or losses on derivative financial instru-
ments and unrealized gains or losses on available-for-
sale securities. The Company enters into derivative
agreements to hedge the variability of cash flows related
to forecasted interest payments associated with obtain-
ing certain financings in order to fix interest rates and
maintain expected returns. The Company incurs a loss
on derivative agreements, if interest rates decline, or a
gain if interest rates rise, during the period between the
derivative inception date and derivative settlement date.
Unrealized gains and losses on derivatives are amortized
into interest expense in the consolidated statements of
operations over the life of the underlying debt.

(s) Revenue Recognition

Rental income from leases is recognized on a straight-
line basis regardless of when payments are due. Certain
lease agreements also contain provisions that require
tenants to reimburse the Company for real estate taxes,
common area maintenance costs and the amortized cost
of capital expenditures with interest. Such amounts are
included in both revenues and operating expenses when
the Company is the primary obligor for these expenses
and assumes the risks and rewards of a principal under
these arrangements. Under leases where the tenant pays
these expenses directly, such amounts are not included in
revenues or expenses.

Deferred revenue represents rental revenue and man-
agement fees received prior to the date ecarned.
Deferred revenue also includes rental payments
received in excess of rental revenues recognized as a
result of straightline basis accounting.

{(t) Sales of Real Estate Properties

The Company recognizes sales of real estate proper-
ties only upon closing, in accordance with SFAS No. 66,
“Accounting for Sales of Real Estate” (SFAS No. 66).
Payments received from purchasers prior to closing are
recorded as deposits. Profit on real estate sold is recog-
nized using the full accrual method upon closing when
the collectibility of the sales price is reasonably assured
and the Company is not obligated to perform significant
activities after the sale. Profit may be deferred in whole
or part until the sale meets the requirements of profit
recognition on sales of real estate under SFAS No. 66.

{u) Rent Expense
Rent expense is recognized on a straightline basis
regardless of when payments are due. Accrued
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expenses and other liabilities in the accompanying con-
solidated balance sheets include an accrual for rental
expense recognized in excess of amounts currently due.
For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
rent expense related to leasehold interests, which is
included in property operating expenses and corporate
office space, which is included in marketing, general
and administrative expense was $16,201, $14,947 and
$9,338, respectively.

(v) Income Taxes

The Company has elected to qualify as a REIT under
Sections 856-860 of the Internal Revenue Code and
intends to remain so qualified. Earnings and profits,
which determine the taxability of distributions to share-
holders, will differ from net income reported for financial
reporting purposes due to differences in cost basis, differ-
ences in the estimated useful lives used to compute depre-
ciation, and differences between the allocation of the
Company’s net income and loss for financial reporting
purposes and for tax reporting purposes.

The Company has a wholly-owned taxable REIT sub-
sidiary as defined under the Internal Revenue Code.
The asset and liability approach is used by the taxable
REIT subsidiary to recognize deferred tax assets and lia-
bilities for the expected future tax consequences of tem-
porary differences between the carrying amounts and the
tax basis of assets and liabilities. Valuation allowances are
established to reduce net deferred tax assets to the
amount for which recovery is more likely than not.
During the year ended December 31, 2006, no tax bene-
fit or provision was recorded. During the year ended
December 31, 2005, the Company recorded a current
and deferred income tax benefit of $505 and $622,
respectively. No such benefit or provision was recorded
during the year ended December 31, 2004,

As of December 31, 2006, the Company fully reserved
the deferred tax asset of $622 and $77 of the receivable
recorded as of December 31, 2005 as it is no longer
more likely than not that these future benefits will be
realized. The remaining $428 current tax receivable
recorded as of December 31, 2005 was realized during
2006. As of December 31, 2006, the Company has a cur-
rent tax receivable of $1,724 recorded on the consoli-
dated balance sheet related to the refund of taxes paid
in the current and prior years.

As of December 31, 2005, the taxable REIT subsidiary
recorded a deferred tax asset of $622 related to expenses,
which are deductible tax purposes in future pertods. No
valuation was recorded at that time as the Company
believed it was more likely than not that the future bene-
fit associated with this deferred tax asset would be real-
ized as of December 31, 2005. The Company also
recorded a current tax receivable of $505 related to a
refund of taxes paid in prior years.

The tax basis of real estate assets, including assets held
for sale, exceeded the net book basis of real estate assets,
including assets held for sale, by approximately $26,357
at December 31, 2006. The net book basis of real estate




assets, including assets held for sale, exceeded tax basis
of real estate assets, including assets held for sale, by
approximately $37,702 at December 31, 2005.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, 100% of the
Company’s dividends were characterized as capital
gains, For the year ended December 31, 2005, 92% of
the Company’s dividends were characterized as a return
of capital. For the year ended December 31, 2004, 33%
of the Company’s dividends were characterized as ordi-
nary income and 67% were characterized as a return of
capital for federal income tax purposes.

(w) Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS
No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payments” (SFAS
No. 123R). Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the
Company accounted for stock-based compensation using
the intrinsic value method of Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” As a result, the Company did not recognize
compensation expense in the statement of operations for
options granted for the periods prior to the adoption of
SFAS 123R. As required by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS No. 123), the
Company provided certain pro forma disclosures for stock-
based compensation as if the fair-value-based approach of
SFAS No. 123 had been applied. The Company elected to
use the modified prospective transition method as permit-
ted by SFAS No. 123R and therefore has not restated the
financial results for prior periods. Under this transition
method, the Company will apply the provisions of SFAS
No. 123R to new options granted or cancelled after
December 31, 2005. Additionally, the Company will rec-
ognize compensation cost for the portion of options for
which the requisite service has not been rendered
(unvested) that are outstanding as of December 31, 2005,
on a straightline basis over the remaining service period
adjusted for estimated forfeitures. The compensation
cost the Company records for these options will be based
on their grant-date fair value as calculated for the pro
forma disclosures required by SFAS No. 123.

Amortization of deferred equity compensation, which
represents stock-based employee compensation costs,
was $8,687 for the year ended December 31, 2006, includ-
ing $8,635 and $52 associated with restricted stock grants
and option grants, respectively. In addition, accelerated
amortization of deferred equity compensation related to
severance costs of $4,344 was expensed in the year ended
December 31, 2006. Amortization of deferred equity
compensation was $13,440 and $10,373 for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The following table illustrates the effect on net loss
and basic and diluted loss per share if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS
No. 123 to all share-based employee compensation and
recognized compensation costs in its financial statements
during the years ended December 31, 2005 and
December 31, 2004:

Year Ended December 31, 2005 2004
$(93,615) $(22,245)

Net loss
Add: Total share-based employee

compensation expense included in net loss 13,440 5,035
Deduct: Total share-based employee

compensation expense determined

under fair value based methods

for all awards (14,966)  (6,987)
Pro forma net loss $(95,141) $(24,197)
Basic and diluted loss per share—as reported $(0.78)  $(0.22)
Basic and diluted loss per share—pro forma 5(0.79)  $(0.22)

(x) Conditional Asset Retirement Qbligations

In March 2005, the FASB issued FIN No. 47, “Accounting
for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations,” (FIN 47).
FIN 47 clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement
obligation as used in SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations,” refers to a legal obligation to
perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing
and (or) method of settlement are conditional on a future
event that may or may not be within the control of the
entity. The obligation to perform the asset retirement
activity is unconditional even though uncertainty exists
about the timing and (or) method of settlement. Thus, the
timing and (or) method of settlement may be conditional
on a future event. Accordingly, an entity is required to
recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset
retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability can
be reasonably estimated. The fair value of a liability for
the conditional asset retirement obligation is recognized
when incurred—generally upon acquisition, construction,
or development and (or) through the normal operation of
the asset.

Pursuant to FIN 47, the Company assessed the cost
associated with its legal obligation to remediate asbestos
in its properties and recognized the effect of applying
FIN 47 as a change in accounting principle by recording
the following in connection with the remediation of
asbestos: i) a liability for the existing asset retirement
obligation of $2,565, adjusted for accretion; ii) an asset
retirement cost capitalized as an increase to building of
$2,210; and iii) accumulated depreciation on the capital-
ized cost of $109. The associated accretion expense
related to the asset retirement obligation of $355 and the
associated depreciation expense related to the adjustment
to building of $109 was recorded in the consolidation
statement of operations. The accretion and depreciation
expense was measured for the time period from the date
the liability would have been recognized had the provi-
sions of FIN 47 been in effect when the liability was
incurred through December 31, 2005,




The following table reconciles the beginning and
ending carrying amounts of the Company’s asset
retirement obligations:

2006
Asset retirement obligations, beginning of year $2,565
Property acquisitions 635
Property dispositions (213}
Accretion expense 216
Asset retirement obligations, end of year $3,203

(y) Hurricane Damage

The Company follows FIN No. 30, “Accounting for
Involuntary Conversions of Nonmonetary Assets to
Monetary Assets, an interpretation of APB Opinion No.
29” (FIN 30), which clarifies the accounting for involuntary
conversions of nonmonetary assets (such as property or
equipment) to monetary assets (such as insurance pro-
ceeds). FIN 30 states that involuntary conversions of non-
monetary assets to monetary assets are monetary
transactions for which gain or loss shall be recognized even
though the Company reinvests or is obligated to reinvest
the monetary assets in replacement nonmonetary assets.

When one of the Company’s fully-insured properties
located in Chalmette, Louisiana suffered substantial
damage from Hurricane Katrina, an involuntary conver-
sion of this nonmonetary asset (property) to a monetary
asset (insurance proceeds) occurred. Based on estimates
of the damage, the Company recorded a property write-
down of $949 during the year ended December 31, 2005.
Since the property was fully-insured, the Company
recorded the recovery to be received from insurance
proceeds of $949 to fully offset the property write-down.
In 2006, the Company received insurance proceeds of
$2,877 related to this claim. The amount in excess of our
property basis and business interruption claims totaled
$1,639 and was recorded as a gain in the consolidated
statement of operations during the year ended
December 31, 2006.

Other properties in the Company’s portfolio sus-
tained damage from hurricanes in 2005. However, the
damage was below the insurance deductibles assigned
to each respective property. The aggregate damage sus-
tained on these properties of $1,687 during the year
ended December 31, 2005 is included in discontinued
operations on the consolidated statements of operations.

No properties suffered substantial damage from
hurricanes in the year ended December 31, 2006.

(z) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157,
“Fair Value Measurements,” which defines fair value,
provides a framework for measuring fair value, and
expands the disclosures required for fair value measure-
ments. SFAS No. 157 applies to other accounting pro-
nouncements that require fair value measurements; it
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does not require any new fair value measurements. SFAS
No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007 and is required to be adopted by the
Company beginning in the 67 first quarter of fiscal 2008.
Although the Company will continue to evaluate the
application of SFAS No. 157, management does not cur-
rently believe adoption will have a material impact on the
Company’s results of operations or financial position.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48, “Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-an Interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109.” FIN 48 clarifies the account-
ing for uncertainty in income taxes by creating a frame-
work for how companies should recognize, measure,
present, and disclose in their financial statements
uncertain tax positions that they have taken or expect
to take in a tax return. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2006 and is
required to be adopted by the Company beginning in
the first quarter of fiscal 2007. Although the Company
will continue to evaluate the application of FIN 48,
management does not currently believe adoption will
have a material impact on the Company’s results of
operations or financial position.

In September 2006, the SEC issued SAB No. 108,
“Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements
when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year
Financial Statements.” SAB No. 108 provides guidance
on how prior year misstatements should be considered
when quantifying misstatements in current year financial
statements for purposes of determining whether the cur-
rent year's financial statements are materially misstated.
SAB No. 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after
November 15, 2006.

We adopted SAB No. 108 during the quarter ended
December 31, 2006. Prior to adopting SAB No. 108, our
approach to quantifying misstatements only considered
the amount of errors originating in the current year con-
solidated statement of operations. Thus the effects of
correcting the portion of the consolidated balance sheet
misstatement that originated in prior years were not con-
sidered. Upon adopting SAB No. 108, we changed our
approach to quantifying the effects of misstatements to
include an analysis of the impact on the current vear
consolidated statement of operations for the cumulative
balance of any known errors, regardless of when they
originated. When we applied this approach to quantify-
ing the effects of misstatements to our 2006 consolidated
financial statements, we identified two errors that were
not material to our consolidated statements of opera-
tions in any prior quarter or annual period; however, the
cumulative error would have been material to correct in
the current period. Since the errors were not material to
any prior consolidated statement of operations, we were
not required to restate prior year financial statements.
The first error related to the accrual of a property oper-
ating expense which the Company had not previously




accrued for. The second error related to overstated
deferred costs resulting from separately accounting for
the gross cash inflows and outflows which originated
from a lease modification in which the Company should
have capitalized the net cash outflow. The consolidated
financial statements were corrected with an adjustment
of $2,101 to the beginning balance of retained earnings
at January 1, 2006.

(3) ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
the Company acquired 156 and 286 properties and lease-
hold interests, respectively. In addition, the Company
purchased 11 and 33 parcels of land designated as land
held for development during the years ended December 31,
2006 and 20035, respectively. The following table pres-
ents the allocation of the net assets acquired and liabil-
ities assumed during the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005:

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005
Real estate investments, at cost:
Land $ 27,099  $110,175
Land held for development 4,451 27,504
Buildings 130,299 531,512
Equipment and fixtures 21,34 87,372
Initial tenant improvements 3,715 46,799
Leasehold interests, net (578) (3.492)
186,330 799,870
Intangibles and other assets:
In-place leases 8,561 93,940
Customer relationships - 36,400
Above-market lease assets 518 3,043
Below-market lease liabilities (796) (15,310)
Other assets 75 1,850
8,358 119,923
Total assets 194,688 919,793
Mortgage notes assumed,
at fair value — (78,645)
Other liabilities assumed (1,899) (492)
Mincrity interest — (2,367)
Cash paid $192,789  $838,289

The following table presents information regarding property and leasehold interests acquired during the years

ended December 31, 2006 and 2005:

Number of Purchase
Property/Seller Date Buildings (1) Price (2)
Washington Mutual Bank Feb. 2006 1 $ 1,738
National City March 2006 16 35241
Hinsdale March 2006 1 5,383
Dripping Springs—Franklin Bank April 2006 1 3,039
Meadowmont—Wachovia Securities June 2006 2 3,443
Western Sierra June 2006 8 14,136
Regions repurchase July 2006 3 1,900
Amsouth Bank Formulated Price Contracts August 2006 7 3,512
First Charter Bank August 2006 1 635
Sterling Bank Dec. 2006 16 28,806
Bank of America Formulated Price Contracts Various 20 5,136
Wachovia Bank Formulated Price Contracts Various 80 91,719(3)
Total 2006 156 $ 194,688
Koll Development Company, LLC Jan. 2005 3 89,224
National City Bank Building Jan. 2005 1 9,506
Bank of America—West Mar. 2005 1 24,033
One Montgomery Street April 2005 1 37,346
801 Market Street April 2005 1 68,078
Bank of Oklahoma May 2005 1 20,328
First Charter Bank May 2005 1 558
Regions Bank June 2005 111 111,645
Charter One Bank Various 35 40,714
Household July 2005 1 24,660
Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company Aug. 2005 1 283,653
One Citizens Plaza Qct. 2005 1 60,082
One Colonial Plaza Nov. 2005 1 25,267
Bank of America Formulated Price Contracts Various 26 16,047
Wachovia Bank Formulated Price Contracts Various 101 108,172(3)
Land Various — 480
Total 2005 286 $ 919,793

(1) Includes the assumption of leasehold interests and parking facilities.
(2) Includes all acquisition costs and the value of acquired intangible assets and assumed liabilities. Excludes non-real estate assets acquired.

(3) Includes amount paid for land parcels.
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The following table presents information regarding
other property dispositions including land parcels and
leasehold interests, completed during the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004;

Number of Sale
Buildings and Proceeds,
Land Parcels(1} Net  Gain(2)
Total 2006 154 $1,421,501  $239,599

Total 2005 143 124,643 21,790
Total 2004 57 185,898 11,488

(1) Includes the sale of 15 parcels of land and 11 leasehold interest
terminations during the year ended December 31, 2006, the sale of
five parcels of land and eight leasehold interest terminations dur-
ing the year ended December 31, 2005, and the sale of two parcels
of land and seven leasehold terminations during the year ended
December 31, 2004,

(2) Net of minority ownership interest.

(4) INDEBTEDNESS

The Company had several types of financings in place
as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, which include mort-
gage notes payable, a secured credit facility, convertible
senior notes, and an unsecured credit facility. The
weighted average effective interest rate on these bor-
rowings was 6.2%, 5.8% and 5.0% for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The fair
value of these borrowings, calculated by comparing the
outstanding debt to debt with similar terms at current
interest rates, was $2,380,245 and $3,289,984 as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, compared to
recorded balances of $2,437,533 and $3,318,684.

The Company’s secured and unsecured financing
agreements contain various financial and non-financial
covenants that are customarily found in these types of
agreements. As of December 31, 2006, no event of
default conditions existed under any of the Company’s
secured or unsecured financings.

(a) Mortgage Notes Payable

The Company’s mortgage notes payable typically
require that specified loan-to-value and debt service cov-
erage ratios be maintained with respect to the financed
properties before the Company can exercise certain
rights under the loan agreements relating to such proper-
ties. If the specified criteria are not satisfied, in addition
to other conditions that the Company may have to
observe, the Company’s ability to release properties from
the financing may be restricted and the lender may be
able to “trap” portfolio cash flow until the required ratios
are met on an ongoing basis. As of December 31, 2006,
the Company was out of debt service coverage compli-
ance under two of its mortgage note financings; although
such non-compliance does not, and will not, constitute an
event of default under the applicable loan agreement.

The Company’s secured credit facility permits the
lender to requirc partial repayment of a property
advance if such advance remains outstanding for more
than 12 months, and full repayment if such advance
remains outstanding for more than 18 months. In addi-
tion, the facility agreement permits the lender to require
mandatory repayments to the extent necessary to reduce
outstanding facility advances to current market levels
following adverse changes in commercial loan under-
writing conditions. No such payments were required
during this period.

The Company’s unsecured credit facility contains cus-
tomary financial covenants, including a minimum debt
service coverage ratio for the Company of 1.2 to 1.0. This
facility also includes maximum levels of i) indebtedness
as a percentage of the Company’s total assets of 70%, i)
secured recourse debt as a percentage of the Company’s
total assets of 5%, iii) investment in any non-wholly
owned entity as a percentage of the Company’s total
assets of 20% and iv) investment in any mortgages, notes,
accounts receivable, or notes receivable as a percentage
of the Company’s total assets of 15%.

The following is a summary of mortgage notes payable as of December 31, 2006 and 2005:

Encumbered
Properties Balance Interest Rates Maturity Dates
Fixed-rate mortgages 644 $1,755,858 4.5% to 8.8% Oct. 2007 to Dec. 2023
Variable-rate mortgages 9 21,301 6.8% to 7.4% Jan. 2007 to Nov. 2023
Total mortgage notes payable 653 1,777,159
Unameortized debt premiums and discounts 1,422
Mortgage notes payable related
to assets held for sale 4 (221,268)
Balance, December 31, 2006 $1,557,313
Fixed-rate mortgages 699 $2,553,118 4.1% to 8.8% May 2006 to June 2024
Variable-rate mortgages 11 145,087 5.7% t06.3% June 2006 to Nov. 2023
Total mortgage notes payable 710 2,698,205
Unamortized debt premiums and discounts 3,080
Mortgage notes payable related
to assets held for sale 5 (233,689)
Balance, December 31, 2005 $2,467,596
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Certain of our mortgage notes payable related to
assets held for sale contain provisions that require us to
compensate the lender for the early repayment of the
loan. These charges will be separately classified in the
statement of operation as yield maintenance fees within
discontinued operations.

In June, July, September and December 2006, we com-
pleted four separate in-substance defeasance transac-
tions on a total of $31,344 of debt secured by several
properties that were part of our Bank of America port-
folio acquired in 2003. We defeased these properties in
order to unencumber them prior to their disposal. In
connection with these defeasances, we purchased
Treasury securities sufficient to satisfy the scheduled
interest and principal payments contractually due under
the respective loan agreements. The cash flow from
these securities has interest and maturities that coincide
with the scheduled debt service payments of the mort-
gage notes and ultimate payment of principal. The
Treasury securities were then substituted for the proper-
ties that originally served as collateral for the loan.
These securities were placed into a collateral account for
the sole purpose of funding the principal and interest
payments when due. The indebtedness remains on our
consolidated balance sheet as it was not an extinguish-
ment of the debt and the securities are recorded as
Pledged treasury securities, net of unamortized discount.

In April and December 2006, we completed two legal
defeasance transactions related to the sale of our 123 8.
Broad St. Unit I Condominium and the State Street
Financial Center, respectively. We defeased these prop-
erties in order to unencumber them from their debt of
$34,971 and $489,961, respectively, prior to their dis-
posal. As a result of these transactions, the Company
was legally released from its obligations under the notes.
Accordingly, the Company accounted for these transac-
tions as a sale of real estate assets and extinguishment of
the related debt in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing
of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities.”

Principal payments due on the mortgage notes payable
as of December 31, 2006 are as follows:

2007 $ 97,866
2008 32,354
2009 85,669
2010 47,570
2011 210,515
2012 and thereafter 1,303,185
Total $1,777,159

(b) Secured Credit Facility

The Company entered into a $300,000 secured credit
facility in July 2003. During the year ended December 31,
2004, the Company negotiated a temporary increase in
the maximum amount available under this facility from
$300,000 to $400,000, which expired in March 31, 2005,
to accommodate the acquisition of the Bank of America,

N.A. portfolio purchased in October 2004. In September
2005, the Company executed a renewal of this credit
facility, expanding the maximum available under the
facility to $400,000, extending the term to October 2008
and paid a related financing fee of $3,740.

Advances under this facility must be repaid within 18
months of the date of the borrowing. Advances are made
in the aggregate principal amount of up to 80% of the
lesser of either (i) the maximum amount of subsequent
debt financing that can be secured by the properties that
the Company acquires with borrowings under this facility
or (ii) the acquisition cost of such properties. This facility
bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus either (i) with
respect to conduit properties, 1.75%, or (ii) with respect
to credit tenant lease properties, an amount, ranging from
1.25% to 2.50%, based on the credit rating of the
tenant(s) in the property being financed by the proceeds
of the specific advance. From February 1, 2005 to March
3, 2005, the interest rate on this facility was temporarily
reduced to LIBOR in anticipation of the repayment of the
then outstanding advances with the proceeds of a long-
term financing secured by properties in the portfolio pur-
chased from Bank of America, N.A. in October 2004.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had
$212,609 of advances outstanding under this facility,
secured by 270 properties, with an interest rate of
LIBOR plus 1.75% (7.10% at December 31, 2006). As
of December 31, 2005, the Company had $171,265 of
advances outstanding under this facility, secured by
184 properties, with an interest rate of LIBOR plus
1.75% (6.11% at December 31, 2005).

{c) Convertible Senior Notes

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the
Company completed, through a private offering, the
issuance of $450,000 of convertible senior notes and
received proceeds of $434,030, net of discount and
financing costs. The convertible senior notes are senior
unsecured obligations, mature on July 9, 2024 and bear
interest at a rate of 4.375%.

The Company cannot redeem the convertible notes
before July 20, 2009. All or a portion of the notes can be
redeemed by the Company at any time after July 20, 2009
at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the
notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest through the date
of redemption. The note holders may require the
Company to repurchase all or a portion of their respec-
tive notes on July 15, 2009, 2014 and 2019 for a repur-
chase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the
notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, payable in cash.
The note holders are entitled to convert the notes into
common shares prior to their maturity date if, among
other circumstances, the closing sale price of the
Company’s common shares for at least 20 trading days in
a period of 30 consecutive trading days (ending on the
last day of the fiscal quarter preceding the quarter in
which the conversion occurs) is more than 120% of the
applicable conversion price on the 30th trading day. As of
the initial closing of the offering of the notes on July 9,




2004, the initial conversion price per share was $17.84,
which is subject to adjustment upon certain events,
including, but not limited to, the issuance to all holders
of common shares of (i) additional common shares as a
dividend, (ii) certain rights, warrants or options enti-
tling them to subscribe for, or purchase common shares,
or (iii) cash dividends or cash distributions exceeding
$0.25 per quarter. As a result of the Company declaring
dividends exceeding $0.25, the conversion price per
share was adjusted immediately after each record date.
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the conversion
price per share was $17.65 and $17.74, respectively. On
December 16, 2006, the Company declared a dividend
of $0.19, which did not trigger an adjustment to the
conversion price per share.

In October 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force of
the FASB ratified Issue No. 04-8, “Accounting Issues
Related to Certain Features of Contingently Convertible
Debt and the Effects on Diluted Earnings per Share”
(EITF Issue No. 04-8). EITF Issue No. 04-8 requires the
inclusion of convertible shares for contingently convert-
ible debt in the calculation of diluted earnings per share
using the if-converted method, regardless of whether the
contingency has been met. In response to EITF Issue
No. 04-8, the Company entered into a Second
Supplemental Indenture to the Indenture for the con-
vertible senior notes pursuant to which it irrevocably
elected to satisfy the conversion obligation with respect
to the principal amount of any notes surrendered for
conversion with cash. As a result of this election, EITF
Issue No. 04-8 requires the Company to include in its cal-
culation of fully diluted earnings per share only those
common shares issuable in satisfaction of the aggregate
conversion obligation in excess of the aggregate princi-
pal amount of notes outstanding. The inclusion of any
such shares would cause a reduction in the Company’s
fully diluted earnings per share for any periods in which
such shares are included. Volatility in the Company’s
share price could cause such common shares to be
included in the Company’s fully diluted earnings per
share calculation in one quarter and not in a subsequent
quarter, thereby increasing the volatility of the
Company’s fully diluted earnings per share. As a result
of applying EITF Issue No. 04-8, no shares have been
included in the calculation of earnings per share.

(d) Unsecured Credir Facility

The Company maintains a $60,000 unsecured credit
facility for general corporate purposes, established in
September 2004. This facility bears interest at different
rates depending upon the Company’s designation at the
time of borrowing of the advance as a Eurodollar Rate
Loan or a Base Rate Loan. If the Company designates
the advance as a Eurodollar Rate Loan then the advance
bears interest at LIBOR plus 2.0%. If the Company des-
ignates the advance as a Base Rate Loan then the
advance bears interest at the greater of (i) the Prime
Rate plus 1.0%, or (ii)} the Federal Funds Rate plus
1.5%. In May 2006, the Company executed an extension
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of this facility for a period of one year, beginning on
September 30, 2006. The terms of this renewal will
reduce the current spread on Eurodollar Rate Loans
from LIBOR plus 2.0% to LIBOR plus 1.7% and
increase the letter of credit fee amount from 0.8% to
1.7%. These changes became effective at the start of the
one-year renewal period on September 30, 2006.

The unsecured credit facility maintains a $60,000 sub-
limit for letters of credit. In June 2006, the facility was
amended to permit cash collateralized letters of credit in
excess of this sub-limit. As a result, at December 31, 2006,
the Company had $68,205 of letters of credit outstanding
consisting of $59,049 of unsecured letters of credit and
$9,156 of cash collateralized letters of credit. There were
no advances under this facility as of December 31, 2006.
At December 31, 2005, the Company had $56,353 of
unsecured letters of credit outstanding and no advances
under this facility. These letters of credit are primarily
used to secure payments under leasehold interests and
are issued to utility companies in lieu of a cash security
deposits to establish service.

(5) DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND
OTHER FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

The Company enters into derivative agreements to
hedge the variability of cash flows related to forecasted
interest payments associated with obtaining certain
financings in order to fix interest rates and maintain
expected returns. The Company incurs a loss on deriva-
tive agreements, if interest rates decline, or a gain if inter-
est rates rise, during the period between the derivative
inception date and derivative settlement date. These gains
and losses have been recorded in other comprehensive
income, as these derivatives were highly effective.

In March 2004, the Company entered into an agree-
ment designed to straightline the variability of cash pay-
ments relating to the rents received under certain leases
in the Pitney Bowes-Wachovia portfolio. This agreement
ends in August 2010, coterminous with the end of the
leases. The monies received and paid related to this
agreement are recorded in deferred revenue on the con-
solidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2006 and
2005, the Company had a liability of $3,760 and $3,569,
respectively, related to this agreement.

In July 2004, the Company entered into a forward treas-
ury lock agreement with an aggregate notional amount of
$131,000. These derivatives were designated as a hedge of
the variability of cash flows related to forecasted interest
payments associated with the financing of a $133,900
mortgage note payable secured by 215 Fremont Street. In
July 2004, the Company incurred a loss of approximately
$1,436 when the treasury lock agreement was terminated
in connection with the closing of the related mortgage note
payable. This loss was recorded in other accumulated com-
prehensive income and was reclassified to earnings ratably
over the term of the related debt. On April 11, 2006, the
Company extinguished this debt in connection with the
sale of the building and reclassified the then remaining
balance of into interest expense.




In December 2004, the Company sold a 30% minority
interest in State Street Financial Center. In connection
with the sale, the Company agreed to cap the minority
interest purchaser’s maximum interest rate at 4,28% as it
relates to the portion of the $50,000 of mezzanine debt
assumed by the minority interest purchaser for a five-
year period. Therefore, all interest expense over 4.28%
became the Company’s responsibility. The Company
determined the initial fair value of this interest rate cap
liability to be $1,150 and recorded it as a reduction of the
gain recognized as a result of the minority interest dispo-
sition. In June 2005, the Company purchased an interest
rate cap for $1,060 to effectively hedge the risk associ-
ated with the cap the Company had provided to the
minority interest purchaser. In advance of the sale of
State Street Financial Center, the Company extin-
guished the mezzanine debt in December 2006 and
wrote-off its remaining liability of $1,076 associated with
the interest rate cap liability which was recorded within
discontinued operations. The Company also closed out
its purchased interest rate cap position and received pro-
ceeds of $1,076, the market value of the cap on that date.

In June 2005, the Company entered into a forward-
starting interest rate swap with an agpregate notional
amount of $175,000. This derivative was designated as a
hedge of the variability of cash flows relating to fore-
casted interest payments associated with the $190,000 of
financing for the acquisition of an office complex leased
by Fireman'’s Fund Insurance Company, which was com-
pleted in August 2005. The Company terminated the
swap upon the completion of the acquisition and related
financing and received $4,771 from the counterparty
from the net cash settlement of the derivative position in
August 2005, due to the increase in market rates since
the derivative inception date in June 2005. This amount
was recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) and is being reclassified as a reduction to
interest expense over the term of the mortgage payable.

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, the Company reclassified approximately $2,331,
$2,773 and $1,625 of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) to interest expense, respectively. These
amounts are included in the consolidated statements of
shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss) as
a component of the reclassification adjustment for losses
reclassified into operations. Over the next 12 months, the
Company expects to reclassify $839 to interest expense as
the underlying hedged items affect earnings, such as
when the forecasted interest payments occur.

(6) SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

On May 9, 2005, the Company closed an underwritten
public offering of 16,750,000 common shares of beneficial
interest and granted the underwriters in the offering the
right to purchase up to 2,512,500 additional common
shares to cover any over-allotments. The aggregate net
proceeds from this offering (after underwriting discounts
and commissions and other offering costs) were approxi-
mately $242,841. The Company used the aggregate net

proceeds to acquire additional properties, as described in
the prospectus relating to the offering and other properties
identified after the offering,

(7 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

401(k) Plan

The Company has established and maintained a retire-
ment savings plan under section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code (IRC). The 401(k) plan allows eligible
employees, as defined within the plan, to defer a portion
of their compensation, within prescribed limits, on a pre-
tax basis through contributions to the 401(k) plan. The
Company matches each eligible employees’ annual con-
tributions, within prescribed limits, in an amount equal
to 100% of the first 3% of employees’ salary reduction
contributions plus 50% of the next 2% of employees’
salary reduction contributions. Matching contributions
of the Company vest immediately. The expense associ-
ated with the Company’s matching contribution was
$420, $300 and $191 for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is included within
general and administrative expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

The Company has established a non-qualified
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) in
which the Company’s former President, Chief Executive
Officer and Vice Chairman of the board of trustees is a
participant. The benefit payable under the SERP is
based on a specified percentage of each participant’s
average annual compensation, as defined within the
plan, while employed with the Company. Participants
may begin to receive SERP payments once they have
attained the later of age 60 or retirement. Benefits paid
under the SERP are for life with 10 years of guaranteed
payments and terminate upon the participant’s death.
The Company estimated the expected aggregate payout
under the SERP based on life expectancy, calculated the
present value of the expected aggregate payout using a
discount rate of 6.5% and estimated the amount neces-
sary to fund the SERP over the initial five years, after
which it was assumed that interest income would accu-
mulate to fund the remaining payout. The expense asso-
ciated with the SERP obligation over each of the first
five years was determined using an effective interest rate
method. The SERP expense was $165, $292 and $307 for
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, and is included within general and admin-
istrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.

On August 16, 2006, the Company entered into a
Separation Agreement with Mr, Schorsch, the SERP’s
sole participant. Under the terms of the separation, the
Company fully and completely satisfied its obligation
under the SERP by agreeing to pay the participant an
aggregate amount of $1,485 on the six-month anniver-
sary of the separation. This expense is included within




repositioning costs for the year ended December 31,
2006. The Company paid this obligation to the former
executive in February 2007.

(8) 2002 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

The Company established the 2002 Equity Incentive
Plan (Incentive Plan) that authorized the issuance of up
to 3,125,000 options to purchase common shares and
1,500,000 restricted shares. The Incentive Plan was

amended in 2003 to allow for the issuance of an aggre-
gate of 11,375,000 common shares and common share
equivalents. The terms and conditions of the option
awards are determined by the board of trustees. Options
are granted at the fair market value of the shares on the
date of grant. The options vest and are exercisable over
periods determined by the Company, but in no event
later than 10 years from the grant date.

The following table summarizes option activity for the

Company for the period from January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2006:

Weighted
Number of Average Aggregate
Shares Issuable Exercise Exercise Grant Price Range
Upon Exercise Price Price From To
Balance, January 1, 2004 2,992,063 $10.29 $30,795 $10.00 $14.98
Options exercised (23,437) 10.00 (234) 10.00 10.00
Options cancelled (748,946) 10.08 (7,552) 10.00 11.65
Balance, December 31, 2004 2,219,680 10.37 23,009 10.00 14.98
Options exercised (186,524) 10.00 (1,865) 10.00 10.00
Balance, December 31, 2005 2,033,156 10.40 21,144 10.00 14.98
Options exercised (118,515) 10.00 (1,185) 10.00 10.00
Options cancelled (37,423) 14.04 (525) 10.00 14.98
Balance, December 31, 2006 1,877,218 $10.35 $19,434 $10.00 $14.98
The following table summarizes stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2006:
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Number of Average
Number of Shares  Contractual Exercise Options Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
$10.00 to $11.65 1,693,406 5.7 years $10.07 1,693,406 $10.07
$12.10 to0 $14.98 183,812 6.4 years $12.98 180,124 $12.73

The weighted average fair value of each option
granted ranges from $0.19 to $0.33 and was estimated on
the grant date using the Black-Scholes options pricing
model using the following assumptions:

Expected life (in years) 5

Risk-free interest rate 325% t04.21%
Volatility 10.00%
Dividend yield 7.50%

These assumptions, determined upon issuance of such
stock options, were utilized in the calculation of the com-
pensation expense. This expense is the result of vesting of
previously granted stock option awards. No stock options
were granted during the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004.
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The intrinsic value of both options outstanding and
options exercisable at December 31, 2006 was $2,338 and
$2,338, respectively. Intrinsic value represents the differ-
ence between the Company’s closing stock price on the
last trading day of the period, which was $11.44 as of
December 29, 2006, and the exercise price multiplied by
the number of options outstanding. The total intrinsic
value of options exercised was $237 and $1,007 for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. As of December 30, 2006, the Company
had approximately $4 of unrecognized compensation
costs related to options outstanding. The Company
expects to recognize these costs over a weighted average
period of 6 months.




The following table summarizes restricted stock grant
activity for the nine months ended December 31, 2006:

Weighted

Number of Average

Restricted Stock Grant Date

Grants Outstanding Fair Value

Balance, December 31, 2005 1,009,205 $15.16
Granted 1,065,430 11.57
Vested (908,036) 14.46
Forfeited (159,117) 14.06
Balance, December 31, 2006 1,007,482 $12.17

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, compensation expense related to restricted stock
grants was $8,687, $10,411 and $9,078, respectively. In
addition, pursuant to the severance agreements of cer-
tain senior officers the Company incurred charges of
$4,344, $3,029 and $1,195 during the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, related
to the accelerated vesting of restricted stock grants and
the issuance of other equity instruments. The following
table summarizes restricted share grant activity for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Share

Price

at
Shares Grant  Vesting
Date of Grant Granted Date Period(1)
January 1, 2004 149,000  $16.95 3 years
January 2, 2004 442,730 16.95 4 years
March 31, 2004 27,500 16.95 3 years
June 6, 2004 12,229 14.31 4 years
January 4, 2005 520,516 15.80 4 years
April 15, 2005 16,700 15.22 4 years
April 27, 2005 16,000 15.30 4 years
May 24, 2005 19,481 15.50 3 years
June 15, 2005 11,249 15.88 3 years
Qctober 17, 2005 6,000 13.59 3 years
January 1, 2006 539,326 11.97 4 years
March 31, 2006 6,000 11.65 3 years
June 1, 2006 20,104 9.95 3 years
August 16, 2006 500,000 11.21 3 years

2,286,835

(1) Restricted stock vests 33% on the one-year anniversary of the date
of grant and then quarterly thereafter until fully vested for
restricted share grants that have a three-year vesting period.
Restricted stock vests 25% on the one-year anniversary of the date
of grant and then quarterly thereafter until fully vested for
restricted share grants that have a four-year vesting period.

In May 2003, the Company’s board of trustees
approved the 2003 Qutperformance Plan (OPP). The
OPP is performance-based, utilizing total return to share-
holders as the measurement criteria. Rewards under the
OPP consist of annual cash awards and a three-year
restricted share award. Award amounts determined under
the OPP represent a percentage of the value created for
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shareholders in excess of established performance
thresholds. The OPP is a three-year plan with an effective
date of January 1, 2003. The aggregate amount of the
award was determined at the end of the three-year term
on January 1, 2006 to be $2,014 for the cash component
and $0 for the contingent restricted stock component.
The Company measured and recorded compensation
expense over the service period in accordance with the
provisions of APB No. 25 and FIN 28 based upon an
interim estimate of the reward. No expense related to the
OPP was recorded during year ended December 31,
2005. Under variable plan accounting treatment, during
the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company
reversed the expense related to the contingent restricted
share component of the OPP of $5238, which was
recorded in the year ended December 31, 2003.

The Company adopted the 2006 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (LTIP) effective January 1, 2006, which succeeds the
2003 Outperformance Plan. The LTIP is a long-term, per-
formance-based plan, using the growth in funds from
operations (FFQ), as defined by the National Association
of Real Estate Investment Trusts, after adding back
impairments recognized on properties. Under the LTIF,
an aggregate of 4,800,000 common shares may be issued
to senior executives under our 2002 Equity Incentive
Plan. As of December 31, 2006, 1,440,000 target units
were allocated to LTIP participants.

Upon the achievement of certain FFO thresholds, as
defined under the LTIP, and upon the occurrence of cer-
tain other events as more fully set forth in the LTIP, tar-
get units are earned and converted into restricted shares,
subject to certain vesting criteria. Vested restricted
shares are not transferred to the participant until the end
of the LTIP, or December 31, 2012. The Company makes
certain estimates as it relates to the probability of reach-
ing the required FFO thresholds and records an accrual
based on this assessment. As of December 31 2006, no
accrual was recorded.

In July 2006, the Company entered into an agreement
with a third-party advisor to assist the Company with
bank use real estate acquisition sourcing activities. In
connection with entering into this agreement, the
Company issued the advisor an unvested warrant to pur-
chase 100,000 common shares of beneficial interest.
While the agreement is still in effect, on each of first, sec-
ond, third and fourth anniversary of this sourcing agree-
ment, the Company will grant the advisor additional
unvested warrants to purchase 100,000 common shares
of beneficial interest. The purchase price of each war-
rant is equal to the closing common share price of the
Company on the date of the respective grant. The advi-
sor will earn, or vest in, each warrant if they successfully
source acquisition transactions, as defined within the
agreement, equal to $100,000. The right to vest in each
warrant is cumulative; however, no warrant will be
issued in advance of an anniversary date. The advisor
must source and the Company must close transactions
equal to $500,000 to vest all of the warrants. The
Company will recognize the cost of the issued warrants,




based on the fair value of the warrants on the date the performance condition is met, during the period in which the
performance condition is met and capitalize this cost as a component of the acquired real estate.

(9) NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE
The following is a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic and diluted net income (loss) per
share computations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Basic and Diluted

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Loss from continuing operations ' $ (132,578) $(84,060) $(46,476)
Less: Dividends on unvested restricted share awards 1,034 1,396 1,799
Loss from continuing operations $ (133,612) $(85,456) $(48,275)
Income from discontinued operations $ 111,980 $ (9,555) $ 24231
Weighted average common shares and

common share equivalents outstanding 128,644,625 121,171,897 108,117,197
Loss per share from continuing operations $(1.04) $(0.71) $(0.45)
Income per share from discontinued operations $ 0.87 $(0.07) $023

Diluted income (loss) per share assumes the conversion of all common share equivalents into an equivalent num-
ber of common shares, if the effect is not dilutive. The following share options and unvested restricted shares, both
computed under the treasury stock method, and the weighted average Operating Partnership units were excluded
from the diluted loss per share computations as their effect would have been antidilutive for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Share options 191,267 574,296 711,557
Unvested restricted shares(1) 228,480 500,859 741,932
Operating Partnership units 3,160,026 3,408,526 5,234,776
Total shares excluded from diluted loss per share 3,579,713 4,483,681 6,688,265

(1) Includes shares that are contingently issuable under the OPP during the year ended December 31, 2005.

(10) ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
. The following table reflects components of accumulated other comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004:

Unrealized Gains Interest Rate  Accumulated

(Losses) on Hedges on Other

Available for Mortgage Comprehensive

Sale Securities Notes Payable Loss
Balance, December 31, 2003 $(344) $(13,876) $(14,220)
Change during year (438) (1,436) (1,874)
Reclassification adjustments into statements of operations 409 1,625 2,034
Minority interest (18) (210) (228)
Balance, December 31, 2004 $(391) $(13,897) $(14,288)
Change during year (126) 4,771 4,645
Reclassification adjustments into statements of operations 530 2,773 3,303
Minority interest (13) (268) (281)
Balance, December 31, 2005 $ — $ (6,621) $ (6,621)
Reclassification adjustments into statements of operations — 2,331 2,33
Minority interest — (108) (108)
Balance, December 31, 2006 $ — $ (4,398) $ (4,398)
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(11) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS
HELD FOR SALE

The Company follows SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”
(SFAS No. 144), and separately classifies properties held
for sale in the consolidated balance sheets and consoli-
dated statements of operations. In the normal course of
business, changes in the market may compel the
Company to decide to classify a property as held for sale
or reclassify a property that is designated as held for sale
back to held for investment. In these situations, in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 144, the property is transferred to
held for sale or back to held for investment at the lesser
of fair value or depreciated cost. Properties classified as
held for sale as of December 31, 2006 are classified as
such in the consolidated statement of operations for all
periods presented for purposes of comparability.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company
sold 128 properties in separate transactions for net sales
proceeds of $1,413,247. The sales transactions resulted in a
net gain of approximately $237,556, after minority interest
of $74,046 for the year ended December 31, 2006, which
was reported in discontinued operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the
Company sold 82 properties, in separate transactions,
and 48 properties in bulk transactions, for net sales pro-
ceeds of $120,778. The sales transactions resulted in a
net gain of approximately $20,194, after minority inter-
est of $562 for the year ended December 31, 2003, which
was reported in discontinued operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the
Company sold 48 properties and a 30% interest in one

property, in separate transactions for net sales proceeds
of $244 096. The sales transactions resulted in a net gain
of approximately $28,543, after minority interest of $934.
An income tax provision was not required for the year
ended December 31, 2004 because the gains realized were
offset by other net losses of the taxable REIT subsidiary,
which was reported in discontinued operations.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144,
the Company had classified 237 and 52 properties as
held for sale as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respec-
tively. The following table summarizes information for
these properties:

December 31, 2006 2005
Assets held for sale:
Real estate investments, at cost:
Land $ 84226 § 45,694
Buildings 388,228 234,195
Equipment and fixtures 68,760 37,693
Total real estate investments, at cost 541,214 317,582
Less accumulated depreciation (41,181) {22,004)
500,033 295,578
Intangible assets, net 76,600 35,929
Other assets, net 18,148 9,831
Total assets held for sale 594,781 341,338
Liabilities related to assets held for sale;
Mortgage notes payable 221,268 233,689
Accrued expenses 14,519 6,320
Below-market lease liabilities, net 6,413 177
Deferred revenue 5,191 3,459
Tenant security deposits 407 20
Total liabilities related to assets held for sale 247,798 243,665
Net assets held for sale $346983 §$ 97,673

The following operating results of the properties held for sale as of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and the prop-
erties sold during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are included in discontinued operations for all

periods presented:

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Operating results:
Revenues $162,350 $182.408 $115,528
QOperating expenses 83,915 95,152 53,929
Impairment loss 57,438 3,441 3,615
Interest expense 53,769 53,258 22,396
Depreciation 48,252 62,801 36,954
Loss from operations before minority interest (81,024) (32,244) (1,366)
Minority interest 1,850 3,062 114
Loss from operations, net (79,174) (29,182) (1,252)
Yield maintenance fees (61,966) {583) (3,163)
Minority interest 15,564 16 103
Yield maintenance fees, net (46,402) {567) (3,060)
Gain on disposals 311,602 20,756 29477
Minority interest (74,046) (562) (934)
Gain on disposals, net 237,556 20,194 28,543
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $111,980 $ (9,555) $ 24231

Discontinued operations have not been segregated in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
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(12) LEASING AGREEMENTS

The Company’s properties are leased and subleased to
tenants under operating leases with expiration dates
extending to the year 2031. These leases generally con-
tain rent increases and renewal options. Future mini-
mum rental payments under noncancelable leases,
excluding reimbursements for operating expenses, as of
December 31, 2006 are as follows:

As of December 31, 2006, the Company leased bank
branches and office buildings from third parties with
expiration dates extending to the year 2085 and has var-
ious ground leases with expiration dates extending
through 2087. These lease obligations generally contain
rent increases and renewal options.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable
operating leases as of December 31, 2006 are as follows:

2007 $ 323,002 2007 $ 17,839
2008 317,018 2008 17,764
2009 307,725 2009 17,790
2010 291,962 2010 17,555
2011 268,238 2011 17.470
2012 and thereafter 1,842,319 2012 and thereafter 182,624
Total $3,350,264 Total $271,042
(13) REPOSITIONING

On August 17, 2006, the Company announced the appointment of a new President and Chief Executive Officer as well
as strategic and organizational initiatives designed to reposition the Company, reduce costs and improve performance.
As aresult of this initiative the Company incurred severance and stock compensation costs, leasehold termination costs

and professional and fees as follows:

As of December 31,
Charges During The Accrued 2006

Year Ended Amortization Repositioning as  Total Costs & Total Expected
December 31, Cash and Other of December 31, Adjustments Costs &
2006 Payments Adjustments 2006 to Date Adjustments
Cash severance $17,573 $(17,205) 5 - $ 368 $17,573 $17,573
Stock compensation 4,344 —_ (4,344) —_ 4,344 4344
Lease termination costs 2,675 (499) (56) 2,120 2,675 2,675
Professional and other fees 6,390 (5,928) (75) 387 6,390 6,390
$30,982 $(23,632) $(4,475) $2,875 $30,982 $30,982

(14) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

On October 31, 2005, the Company acquired the
remaining 11% limited partnership minority interest in
the entity that owns 123 South Broad Street property in
Philadelphia, PA. The purchase price of the remaining
11% limited partnership minority interest of $3,034 was
paid through the issuance of units in the Company’s
Operating Partnership. The parties to the contribution
agreement included our founder and a trust controlled by
his spouse. They owned 5.01% and 0.81% of the limited
partnership interest, respectively, and received 135,962
and 21,982 limited partnership units in the Operating
Partnership, respectively, for their interests.

Until August 2006, the Company leased space in two
office buildings from real estate partnerships controlled
by the Company’s founder and his spouse. Total rent pay-
ments under these office leases were approximately $117,
$165 and $156 for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively, and are included within mar-
keting, general and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. On
August 17, 2006 in connection with the separation of our
founder, the Company terminated its leasehold obliga-
tions in both buildings for an aggregate amount of $407.

These termination fees are included within repositioning
costs for the year ended December 31, 2006.

A former officer of the Company owns a one-third
interest in a leasing company that provided leasing
services. Leasing commissions charged to expense
related to these services were approximately $248, §241
and $261 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively.

In January 2007, the Company entered into a lease
agreement with a public company which employs a
member of our board of trustees as one of its executive
officers. Annual rent due under this lease is approxi-
mately $1,300 on an annualized basis over the five-year
term. The Company believes it has negotiated the terms
of this lease at arms-length.

(15) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

On June 25, 2004, the Company entered into an agree-
ment to sublease from Charles Schwab and Co., Inc.
(Schwab) approximately 288,000 square feet of vacant
space in Harborside, a Class A office building in Jersey
City, New Jersey, and to assume certain management
functions over an additional approximately 306,000
square feet of space in the same building that is also
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leased 10 Schwab but has been subleased by Schwab to
third-party tenants. In the event that any of the existing
subtenants default on their leases (and the space there-
after becomes available), or any existing subtenants fail
to renew their leases upon expiration, the Company has
agreed to sublease this additional space from Schwab. All
of the Company’s subleases with Schwab will terminate in
September 2017, the same date that Schwab’s leases with
the ultimate owner terminate. In exchange for the agree-
ments described above, Schwab paid the Company a sub-
lease management and standby subtenant fee of
approximately $11,541. Additionally, Schwab will pro-
vide a rent credit against the Company’ initial sublease
obligations, payable through December 31, 2007, totaling
approximately $40,028, including $27,820 of payments
made through December 31, 2006. The sublease manage-
ment fee and rent credit will be ratably recognized as
income and a reduction to rent expense, respectively,
over the terms of the agreements. As security for the
Company’s obligation under the sublease management,
subtenant and standby subtenant agreements, the
Company must provide Schwab with an irrevocable,
standby letter of credit, which will increase concurrently
with each rent credit and sublecase management fee pay-
ment made by Schwab up to $51,569 and then will
decrease over the term of the Company’s obligation
through September 2017. As of December 31, 2006, the
standby letter of credit had a face amount of $39,361.

As of December 31,2006, we had approximately $11,188
in pending acquisitions under outstanding notifications
under formulated price contracts. Since formulated price
agreements require the Company, with limited exceptions,
to purchase all bank branches, subject to notification, that
the counterparties determine to be surplus properties, the
total contractual obligation under these agreements is not
quantifiable. The Company is required to purchase prop-
erties at a formulated price typically based on the fair mar-
ket value of the property as determined through an
independent appraisal process, which values the property
based on its highest and best use and its alternative use,
and then applies a negotiated discount. Under these agree-
ments, the Company is also required to assume the rights
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and obligations of the financial institution under leases
pursuant to which the financial institution leases surplus
bank branches. The Company assumes the obligations to
pay rent under these leases. In exchange, the Company
receives an amount typically equal to 25% to 35% of the
future rental payments due under the leasehold interest
acquired. Current agreements are renewable on an annual
basis, and may be terminated upon 90 days prior written
notice. The purchase of these properties or assumption of
the leasehold interests is done on an “as-is” basis, however,
the Company is not required to acquire properties with
certain environmental or structural problems or with
defects in title that render the property either unmar-
ketable or uninsurable at regular rates or that materially
reduce the value of the property or materially impair or
restrict its contemplated use. If the Company subsequently
discovers issues or problems related to the physical condi-
tion of a property, zoning, compliance with ordinances and
regulations, or other significant problems, the Company
typically has no recourse against the seller and the value of
the property may be less than the amount paid for such
property. Should the Company default on its purchase
obligation, the Company would forfeit its initial deposit
and any supplemental deposits made with the financial
institution. In addition, with respect to the assumption of
leasehold interests, the Company would be liable for any
rental payments due under the leasehold interests. At
December 31, 2006 and 2005, total deposits of $299 and
$384, respectively, were held with financial institutions and
included in prepaid expenses and other assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. These deposits
will be returned to the Company at the expiration date of
the respective agreements.

The Company may be subject to claims or litigation in
the ordinary course of business. When identified, these
matters are usually referred to the Company’s legal
counsel or insurance carriers. In the opinion of manage-
ment, at December 31, 2005, there are no outstanding
claims against the Company that would have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or
results of operations.

(16) SUMMARY QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED)
The following is a summary of interim financial information as previously reported (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31, 2006 1st Quarter  2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
Total revenues $139,611 $141,679 $123,496 $108,939
Net income (loss) (23,408) 13,457 (56,183) 45,536
Income (loss) allocated to common shares (23,408) 13,457 (56,183) 45,536
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share $(0.19) $0.10 $(0.449) $0.35
Year Ended December 31, 2005 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
Total revenues $124,764 $133,224 $146,572 $141,364
Net loss (22,142) (25,151) (25,359) (20,964)
Loss allocated to common shares (22,142) (25,151) (25,359) (20,964)
Basic and diluted loss per share $(0.20) $(0.21) $(0.20) $(0.17)




AMERICAN FINANCIAL
REALTY TRUST

610 Old York Road
Jenkintown, PA 19046

May 7, 2007

To our Shareholders:

On behaif of our board of trustees, I cordially invite you to attend our 2007 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders. This meeting will be held at 101 Park Avenue, New York, New York, at the offices of Morgan
Lewis & Bockius LLP on Wednesday, June 6, 2007 at 10:00 a.m., local time. During the meeting, we will
discuss each item of business described in the accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement,
update you on important developments in our business and respond to any questions that you may have about
us.

Information about the matters to be acted upon at the meeting is contained in the accompanying Notice
of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement. Also enclosed with this Proxy Statement are your proxy card
instructions fot voting and the 2006 Annual Report to shareholders.

I would like to take this opportunity to remind you that your vote is very important. Please take a
moment now to cast your vote in accordance with the instructions set forth on the enclosed proxy card. In
addition, if you would like to attend the meeting in person, please see the admission instructions set forth in
the Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders accompanying this letter and on the enclosed proxy card.

If you are not able to attend the meeting in person, you can also choose to listen o the meeting by
webcast, which is explained on the opposite side of this letter.

I look forward to seeing you at the meeting.

Best regards,

Nentd 10 SAs

Harold W. Pote
President and Chief Executive Officer



WEBCAST DIRECTIONS

You are cordially invited to listen to the American Financial Realty Trust 2007 Annual Meeling of
Sharcholders webcast live via the Internet on Wednesday, June 6, 2007, beginning at 10:00 a.m., local time.
Using the webcast will enable you to hear the speakers on a Synchromzed basis. The webcast will not enable
you to ask questions or to vote your shares.

The webcast may be accessed on our website at http://www.afrt.com. The event may be accessed by
clicking on “Investors™ at the top of the page, and following the Annual Meeting webcast link. Minimum
requirements to listen to this broadcast online are: Windows Media® Player software, downloadable at
http:/rwww.microsoft. com/windows/windowsmedia/download/default.asp, and at least a 28K connection to the
Internet,

To listen to the live webcast, please go to the website at least 30 minutes early to download and instal!
any necessary software. If you plan to listen online, we suggest that you test your computer’s access to
Windows Media® Player by visiting the above URL one week prior to the meeting date.

If you are unable to listen online during the meeting, the event will be archived on the Company’s
website at the same address through July 6, 2007,




AMERICAN FINANCIAL
REALTY TRUST

- 610 Old York Road
Jenkintown, PA 19046

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
To be held June 6, 2007

NOTICE 1S HEREBY GIVEN that the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the “Meeting™) of
American Financial Realty Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Company”), will be held at 101
Park Avenue, New York, New York, at the offices of Morgan Lewis & Bockius LLP on Wednesday, June 6,
2007 at 10:00 a.m., local time, for the following purposes:

1. To elect eight trustees to hold office until the annual meeting of shareholders to be held in 2008; and

2. To transact such other business as may properly come before the Meeting.

The Board has fixed the close of business on April 5, 2007, as the record date for the Meeting. Only
shareholders of record as of that date are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Meeting and any
adjournment or postponement thereof.

An admission ticket, which is required for entry into the Meeting, is attached to the enclosed proxy card.
If you plan to attend the Meeting, please vote your proxy but keep the admission ticket and bring it to the
Meeting. If your shares are held in the name of a bank broker or other holder of record, you will need proof
of ownership to attend the Meeting. A recent bank or brokerage account statement are examples of proof of
ownership.

If you plan to attend the Meeting, registering in advance will expedite your entry into the Meeting. If you
hold your Company shares directly in your name, you may pre-register by following the instructions for pre-
registration on the enclosed proxy card. If you hold your Company shares through a broker or other nomince,
you may send a request for pre-registration to: American Financial Realty Trust Annual Meeting Pre-
Registration, American Financial Realty Trust, 610 Old York Road, Jenkintown, Pennsylvania 19046. Your
request should include the following information:

» your name and complete mailing address;

+ if you have appointed a proxy to attend the Meeting on your behalf, the name of that proxy; and

*+ a copy of a brokerage statement reflecting your share ownership as of the record date.

Attendees should allow enough time for security clearance at the lobby level of 101 Park Avenue. After
security clearance attendees will be directed by security to the appropriate floor for the meeting where the

attendee must show photo identification and either an admission ticket or proof of ownership as of the
meeting record date. For more details or instructions about the Meeting, please contact investor relations at

215-887-2280, or ir@afrt.com.




PLEASE NOTE THAT, EVEN IF YOU REGISTER IN ADVANCE, VALID PICTURE IDENTIFICATION
AND EITHER AN ADMISSION TICKET OR A COPY OF YOUR BROKERAGE STATEMENT WILL
STILL BE REQUIRED FOR ADMISSION TO THE MEETING. ADDITIONALLY, ANY PROXY YOU
APPOINT MUST ALSO PRESENT LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF THEIR APPOINTMENT IN
ORDER TO GAIN ADMISSION TO THE MEETING.

In some instances, we may allow members of shareholders” immediate families to attend the Meeting.
However, space at the Meeting is limited, so we reserve the right to restrict the number of attendees in our

discretion.

The accompanying form of proxy is solicited by the Board. Reference is made to the attached Proxy
Statement for further information with respect to the business to be transacted at the Meeting.

By Order of the Board,

Ll

. Sonya A. Huffman
Secretary

Jenkintown, Pennsylvania
May 7, 2007
Please Complete and Return Your Signed Proxy Card

Please complete and promptly return the enclosed proxy card in the envelope provided. Doing so will not
prevent you from voting in person at the Meeting, if you choose to do so. It will, however, help to assure that
a quorum is present for the Meecting.




AMERICAN FINANCIAL REALTY TRUST
610 Old York Road
Jenkintown, PA 19046

PROXY STATEMENT

This Proxy Statement is being furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the board of
trustees of American Financial Realty Trust (the “Board”), a Maryland real estate investment trust (the -
“Company”), for use at the Company’s 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the “Meeting”), to be held at
101 Park Avenue, New York, New York, at the offices of Morgan Lewis & Bockius LLP on Wednesday,

June 6, 2007 at 10:00 a.m., local time, and any adjournment or postponement thereof, for the purposes set
forth in the foregoing notice and more fully discussed herein. This Proxy Statement, the foregoing notice and
the enclosed proxy card are first being mailed to shareholders of the Company on or about May 7, 2007. Only
shareholders of record at the close of business on April 5, 2007 (the “Record Date™) shall be entitled to riotj(:e
of, and to vote at, the Meeting. '

General Information

The questions and answers set forth below provide general information regarding this Proxy Statement
and the Meeting.

When are our Annual Report and this Proxy Statement first being sent to shareholders?

Our 2006 Annual Report and this Proxy Statement are being sent to shareholders beginning on or about
May 7, 2007.

What will shareholders be voting on?

I. To elect eight trustees to hold office until the annual meeting of sharcholders to be held in 2008; and

2. To transact such other business as may properly come before the Meeting.

Who is entitled to vote at the Meeting and how many votes do they have?

Common shareholders of record at the close of business on the Record Date may vote at the Meeting.
Each share has one vote. There were 129,076,553 common shares outstanding on the Record Date.

How do I vote?

You must be present, or represented by proxy, at the Meeting in order to vote your shares. Since many of
our shareholders are unable to attend the Meeting in person, we send proxy cards to all of our shareholders to
enable them to vote.

What is a proxy?

A proxy is a person you appoint to vote on your behalf. If you complete and return the enclosed proxy
card, your shares will be voted by the proxies identified on the proxy card.

By completing and returning this proxy card, who am 1 designating as my proxy?

You will be designating Harold W. Pote, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and Edward J. Matey
Jr., our Executive Vice President and General Counsel, as your proxies. They may act on your behalf together
or individually and will have the authority to appoint a substitute to act as proxy.




How will my proxy vote my shares?

Your proxy will vote according to the instructions on your proxy card. If you complete and return your
proxy card, but do not indicate your vote on business matters, your proxy will vote “FOR” each of the
nominees-under Proposal 1. We do not intend to bring any other matter for a vote at the Meeting, and we do
not know of anyone else who intends to do so. However, your proxies are authorized to vote on your behalf, in
their discretion, on any other business that properly comes before the Meeting,

How do I vote using my proxy card?

Simply mark, sign and date the enclosed proxy card and return it in the postage-paid envelope provided.

How do I revoke my proxy?
You may revoke your proxy at any time before your shares are voted at the Meeting by:

+ notifying the Company’s Secretary, Sonya A. Huffman, in writing at 610 Old York Road, Jenkintown,
PA 19046, that you are revoking your proxy;

« executing a later dated proxy card; or

+ attending and voting by ballot at the Meeting.

Who will count the votes?

An inspector of election designated by the Board will count the votes.

What constitutes a quorum?

As of the Record Date, the Company had 129,076,553 common shares outstanding. A majority of the
outstanding shares entitled to be cast at the Meeting, present or represented by proxy, constitutes a quorum. If
you sign and return your proxy card, your shares will be counted in determining the presence of a quorum,
even if you withhold your vote. If a quorum is not present at the Meeting, the shareholders present in person
or by proxy may adjourn the Meeting to a date not more than 120 days afier the Record Date, until a quorum
is present.

Can Limited Partners in our operating partnership (“OP”) vote their OP Units?

No. Only common shareholders of record at the close of business on the Record Date may vote at the
Meeting. Holders of OP units are not shareholders of the Company, and therefore may not vote their units.
The OP unitholders do, however, have conversion rights, which enable them to convert their units into
common shares on a one-for-one basis, However, an OP unitholder would have to have converted his/her OP
units into common shares prior to the Record Date in order to vote at the Meeting. As of the Record Date,
there were 2,022,873 OP units outstanding.

How will my vote be counted?
With respect to Proposal 1, the election of trustees, votes may be cast in favor of or withheld from one or
all nominees. Votes that are withheld will not be included in the vote. Where brokers are prohibited from

exercising discretionary authority in voting for beneficial owners who have not provided voting instructions
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(commonly referred to as “broker non-votes™), these shares will not be included in the votes cast, but will be
counted in determining if there is a quorum at the Meeting,

What percentage of our common shares de the trustees and executive officers own?

Qur Trustees and executive officers owned approximately 4.1% of our beneficially owned common
shares, including OP units, as of the Record Date. (Sce the discussion under the heading “Share Ownership of
our Trustees, Executive Officers and 5% Beneficial Owners” for more details.)

What vote is required for the proposal?

With respect to Proposal 1, trustees are elected by a plurality of the votes, which means that the eight
nominees with the most votes are elected.

What vote is required on other matters?

A majority of the votes cast at a meeting of shareholders is required to approve any other matter unless a
greater vote is required by law or by our Declaration of Trust. An abstention on such matters will have the
same effect as a vote against.

Who is soliciting my proxy, how is it being solicited and who pays the cost?

The Board is soliciting your proxy. The solicitation process is being conducted primarily by mail.
However, proxies may aiso be solicited in person, by telephone or facsimile. We pay the cost of soliciting
proxies and also reimburse stockbrokers and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for their reasonable
out-of-pocket expenses for forwarding proxy and solicitation material to the owners of common shares.

When are shareholder proposals and trustee nominations for our 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders
due?

In accordance with our bylaws, notice relating to nominations for trustees or proposed business to be
considered at the 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders must be given no earlier than January 8, 2008, and no
"later than February 7, 2008. These requirements do not affect the deadline for submitting shareholder proposal
for inclusion in the Proxy Statement (discussed in the question and answer below), nor do they apply to
questions a shareholder may wish to ask at the meeting. To nominate a trustee, the notice must contain the
following information about the nominee: name, age, business and residence address, principal occupation or
employment, and number of common shares beneficially owned. It must also contain all the information that
would be required under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission in a proxy statement soliciting
proxies for the election of such nominee as a trustee and a signed consent of the nominee to serve as a trustee
if elected.

When are sharehelder proposals intended to be included in the Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders due?

Shareholders who wish to include proposals in the Proxy Statement must submit such proposals in
accordance with regulations adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Shareholder proposals for
the 2008 Annual Meeting must be submitted in writing by January 8, 2008, to Sonya A. Huffman, Senior Vice,
President—Operations and Secretary, at 610 Old York Road, Jenkintown, PA 19046.
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However, if the date of the 2008 Annual Meeting changes by more than 30 days from the date of the
2007 Annual Meeting, the deadline for shareholder proposals to be included in the Proxy Statement is a
reasonabie time before the Company begins to print and mail its proxy materials. You should submit any
proposal by a method that permits you to prove the date of delivery to us.

How can shareholders and other interested parties communicate with the board of trustees, the
chairman or the independent trustees as a group?

Sharehelders and other interested parties may communicate wnth the full board, the chairman or the
independent trustees as a group by writing to such trustees care of the Secretary, American Financial Realty
Trust, 610 Old York Road, Jenkintown, PA 19046. The Secretary will forward any such correspondence to the -
entire board of trustees, the chairman or the independent trustees as a group, as the case may be, as requested
in such correspondence and will not provide the correspondence to patties to whom the correspondence is not
addressed to. ‘




PROPOSAL 1—ELECTION OF TRUSTEES

The Company’s Declaration of Trust provides that the current term of each trustee in office as of the _
Meeting will end, and all Trustees will be elected for one-year terms at each annual meeting of shareholders.
The Board consists of such number of Trustees as is from time to time by resolution adopted by the Board as
provided in the Company’s bylaws. The Board currently is authorized to have up to ten members.

The Board recommends to the shareholders the election of the following designated nominees for election
at the Meeting, to serve as trustees until the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held in 2008 and the election
and qualification of the Trustee’s respective successor or until the Trustee’s earlier death, removal or
resignation:

Richard J. Berry Richard A. Kraemer
John R. Biggar Alan E. Master
Raymond Garea Harold W. Pote
John P. Hollihan 111 Lewis S. Ranieri

Ali nominees are presently trustees who have consented to being named, and have agreed to serve if
elected. If this should not be the case, however, the proxies may be voted for a substitute nominee to be
designated by the Board, or, as an alternative, the Board may reduce the number of trustees to be elected at
the Meeting or leave the position(s) vacant.

Biographical information concerning each nominee for election as trustee is set forth in the section of the
Proxy Statement entitled “Our Board and Executive Officers.” '

The Board unanimously recommends a vote FOR each of the nominees named in Proposal 1.




OUR BOARD AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Trustees and Executive Officers

Our board of trustees currently consists of ten members. The trustees serve terms of one year. We have
provided below information regarding our executive officers and current trustees.

Name Age Position

Harold W.Pote .. ... .............,. 60 President, Chief Executive Officer and Trustee

Glenn Blumenthal . ................ 49 Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer
and Trustee

David I Nettina. . ... .............. 54 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Chief Real Estate Officer

Edward J. Matey Jr. ............... 53 Executive Vice President and General Counsel

Lewis S. Ranieri .................. 60 Chairman of the Board of Trustees

Richard J. Berry .................. 62  Trustee

John R. Biggar ................... 62  Trustee

Raymond Garea. ... ............... 57 Trustee

Michael J. Hagan. . .. .............. 44 Trustee

John P Hollihan IIL . . . . ............ 57 Trustee

Richard A. Kraemer. . .............. 62  Trustee

AlanE Master ................... 67 Trustee

Harold W. Pote has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer since August 2006 and as a
member or our board of trustees since March 2006. From September 2004 to April 2006, Mr. Pote served as
Vice Chairman of Retail Financial Services for JPMorgan Chase & Co. where he primarily focused on bank
acquisitions. Prior to assuming this position, Mr. Pote was Executive Vice President and head of Chase
Regional Banking from July 2000 to September 2004. Prior to joining JPMorgan Chase & Co., Mr. Pote was a
founding partner of The Beacon Group, a private investment partnership that was acquired in July 2000 by
Chase Manhatian Corporation (now JPMorgan Chase & Co.). Prior 1o founding The Beacon Group, Mr. Pote
was Chief Executive Officer of First Fidelity Bancorporation. Mr. Pote serves on the boards of the Museum of
Arts & Design, Drexel University, the Drexel University College of Medicine and the Spina Bifida
Foundation, of which he is president.

Glenn Blumenthal has served as our Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer since April 1,
2005 and as a member of our board of trustees since our formation as a real estate investment trust (“REIT")
on May 23, 2002. Formerly, Mr. Blumenthal served as our Senior Vice President—Asset Management and
Chief Operating Officer since September 2002, the date on which the REIT commenced operations. From
April 1999 to September 2002, Mr. Blumenthal was a Senior Vice President of American Financial Resources
Group, Inc., which was founded in 1995 for the purpose of acquiring operating companies and other assets in
a variety of industries including financial services and real estate and is a predecessor to the REIT.

Mr. Blumenthal has over 20 years experience in the acquisition and disposition of large real estate portfolios.
His background also includes property management, leasing, site selection and land development. From 1992
to April 1999, Mr. Blumenthal was a Vice President at First Union National Bank (now known as Wachovia

Bank) responsible for acquisition and asset management of major offices, capital and expense budgeting and
reporting. In this position, he was an integral part of our predecessor’s 1998 acquisition from First Union of

105 bank branches that First Union sold after its merger with CoreStates Bank. From 1988 to 1992,
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Mr. Blumenthal was with the Resolution Trust Corporation, where he managed a $120 million real estate
portfolio.

David J. Nettina has served as our Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Real
Estate Officer since April 1, 2005, having joined the Company on March 15, 2005 as Senior Vice President
and Chief Real Estate Officer. In July 2001 Mr. Nettina founded Briarwood Capital Group, LLC to manage
his family investment activities, and continues to serve as its principal. From September 2002 to January 2003,
Mr. Nettina served as an adjunct professor of finance at Siena College. From 1997 to 2001, Mr. Nettina was
an executive officer of SL Green Realty Corp., a publicly traded REIT which owns and operates a portfolio of
office properties in New York City, where he served as President from 1998 to 2001, as Chief Operating
Officer from 1997 to 2001 and as Chief Financial Officer from 1997 to 1998. Prior to SL Green, Mr. Nettina
held various executive management positions for more than 10 years with The Pyramid Companies, including
positions as the chief financial officer and as a development partner.

Edward J. Matey Jr. has served as our Executive Vice President and General Counsel since April 1,
2005, and as our Senior Vice President and General Counsel from October 2002 to March 2005. From
October 1991 to September 2002, Mr. Matey was a partner in the law firm of Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP,
where his practice focused on real estate law, including proﬁ»erty acquisition and disposition, commercial
leasing, construction contracting and complex financings. From 1986 to September 1991, Mr. Matey was an
associate at Morgan Lewis and from 1982 to 1986, Mr. Matey was an associate at Clark, Ladner,

Fortenbaugh & Young. While at Morgan Lewis, Mr. Matey led the team of attorneys that represented the
Company’s predecessor entities in the acquisition, disposition, leasing and financing of real estate properties.
Mr. Matey is licensed to practice law in Pennsylvania and New Jersey.

Lewis S. Ranieri has served as a member of our board of trustees since our formation as a REIT.
Mr. Ranieri is the prime originator and founder of the Hyperion private equity funds (Hyperion) and chairman
and/or director of various other non-operating entities owned directly and indirectly by Hyperion. Mr. Ranien
also serves as Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of Ranieri & Co., Inc., a private investment
advisor and management corporation. He is also Chairman of Capital Lease Funding, Inc., CA, Inc., Franklin
Bank Corp. and ROOT Markets, Inc., an internet-based marketing company. In addition, Mr. Ranieri serves on
the Board of Directors of Reckson Associates Realty Corp.

Prior to forming Hyperion, Mr. Ranieri had been Vice Chairman of Salomon Brothers, Inc. (Salomon).
He is generally considered to be the “father” of the securitized mortgage market. Mr. Ranieri helped develop
the capital markets as a source of funds for housing and commercial real estate, established Salomon’s
leadership position in the mortgage-backed securities area, and also led the effort to obtain federal legislation
to support and build the market. At Salomon, Mr. Ranieri had responsibility for the firm’s activities in the
mortgage, real estate and government-guaranteed areas.

Regarded as an expert and innovator in both the mortgage and capital markets, Mr. Ranieri has served on
the National Association of Home Builders Mortgage Roundtable continuously since 1989. In recognition of
his dedication and lifelong achievements in the housing industry, Mr. Ranieri was inducted into the National
Housing Hall of Fame. He is also a recipient of the lifetime achievement award given by the Fixed Income
Analysts Society, Inc. and was subsequently inducted into the FIASI Hall of Fame for outstanding practitioners
in the advancement of the analysis of fixed-income securities and portfolios. In November 2004,
BusinessWeek magazine named him one of “the greatest innovators of the past 75 years,” and in 2005, he
received the Distinguished Industry Service Award by the American Securitization Forum.

Mr. Ranieri acts as a trustee or director of Environmental Defense and The Metropolitan Opera
Association and is Chairman of the Board of the American Ballet Theatre.

John R. Biggar has served as a member of our board of trustees since April 2007. From January 2001 to
March 2007, Mr. Biggar served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer PPL Corporation, a
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NYSE listed company in the utility and energy industry, and also as one its directors from October 2001 to
March 2007. Mr. Biggar joined PPL as an attorney in 1969 and prior to being named to his most recent
position, he served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer as welt as Vice Prcsuient—Fmance
Mr. Biggar serves as a member of the Board of Trustees of Lycoming College.

Richard J. Berry has served as a member of our board of trustees since Aprit 2007, Since October 2004,
Mr. Berry has served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Independence Capital Partners, a provider of
back office services to various private equity funds. Prior to assuming this position, Mr. Berry spent 30 years
at PricewaterhouseCoopers and one of its two predecessors, Price Waterhouse. In 1974, Mr. Berry started as
an associate in Price Waterhouse’s tax department and was promoted through the organization up to the
position of U.S. Tax Chief Executive Officer in 2000 of the combined PricewaterhouseCoopers entity, a
position that he held until his retirement in June 2004. From 1972 to 1974, he was owner and operator of
Whitby’s & Georgetown beef company and from 197{) to 1972, he served as Assistant Professor of Accounting
at Federal City College. Mr. Berry began his career in accounting in 1968 at Ernst & Young.

Raymond Garea has served as a member of our board of trustees since our formation as a REIT.
Mr. Garea serves as Chief Executive Officer of Axia Capital Management, LLC, which he founded in October
2001. From 1991 until October 2001, Mr. Garea was a senior member of the Portfolio Management team at
Franklin Mutual Advisors (and its predecessor firm, Heine Securities), the investment advisor for the Mutual
Series Fund Group. He was the Portfolio Manager for Mutual Financial Services since its inception in August
1997 until September 30, 2001 and for Mutual Qualified from October 1998 until August 2001. From 1987 to
1991, Mr. Garea was Vice President and Senior Analyst in the High Yield Research Group at Donaldson,
Lufkin & Jenrette. Mr. Garea started his career as a financial analyst at Cates Consulting in 1981. At the time
of his departure in 1987, he was president of Cates Consulting. From 1973 to 1981, Mr. Garea was Director of
Education and Research at the Conference of State Bank Supervisors, a national association for state bank
regulators.

Michael J. Hagan has served as a member of our board of trustees since April 2003. Mr. Hagan has
been the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of NutriSystem, Inc., a weight management
company, since December 2002 and its President since July 2006. Mr. Hagan was the co-founder of
Verticalnet, Inc., a business-to-business Internet and software company, and currently serves on its Board of
Directors. He has held a number of executive positions at Verticalnet since its founding in 1995, including
Chairman of the Board from February 2002 to 2005, President and Chief Executive Officer from January 2001
to February 2002, Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer from fanuary 2000 to January 2001
and Senior Vice President prior to that time. Prior to founding Verticalnet, Mr. Hagan was a vice president and
senior manager at Merrill Lynch Asset Management from 1990 to 1995, and worked for Bristol Myers Squibb
from 1988 to 1990, and was formerly a Certified Public Accountant.

John P. Hellihan III has served as a member of our board of trustees since April 2003. Since September
2006, Mr. Hollihan has served as Chairman of Litchfield Capital Holdings, LLC, a privately held investment
manager. Mr. Hollihan was a Managing Director and Head of European Industry Investment Banking with
Banc of America Securities LLC (London) from 2000 to 2002, where he was also a member of the Board of
Directors and Operating and Capital Commitment Committees. From 1992 to 2000, Mr. Hollihan served as
Managing Director and Head of Global Project Finance and European Utilities and Energy Investment
Banking for Morgan Stanley International (London). From 1986 to 1992, he was a Managing Director and
Head of the Asset-Based Lease Finance Group and Global Project Finance Group with Morgan Stanley & Co.
Prior to that time, he was a Senior Vice President, Institutional Leasing with Lazard Fréres and an attorney
with Donovan Leisure Newton & Irvine.

Richard A. Kraemer has served as a member of our beard of trustees since our formation as a REIT.
Mr. Kraemer has served as a director of FBR Capital Markets Corp. since January 2007 and as a director of
Urban Financial since 2001, From 2001 to December 2006, Mr, Kraemer was Chairman of the board of
directors of Saxon Capital, Inc., a mortgage REIT. From 1996 to 1999, he was Vice Chairman of Republic
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New York Corporation, a publicly traded bank holding company. From 1993 to 1996, he was Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of Brooklyn Bancorp, the publicly traded holding company for Crossland Federal
Savings Bank.

Alan E. Master has served as a member of our board of trustees since October 2005. Mr. Master is
currently Principal of The Master Group, a consulting firm focused on the financial services industry. _
Mr. Master also serves as a member of the board of directors of Franklin Bank Corp. and from 1995 to 2001
he served as a member of the board of directors of Bank United Corp. Prior to starting The Master Group in
1991, Mr. Master served from 1983 to 1990 as President and Chief Executive Officer of Ensign Bank FSB, as
Executive Vice President and Director of The Merchants Bank of New York from 1979 to 1983, as President,
Chief Executive Officer, Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer of United Americas Bank of New York
from 1977 to 1979 and as President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the major commercial banking
subsidiary of Barnett Banks of Florida, Inc. from 1973 to 1977. Mr. Master is a former member of the
advisory board of the Johnson Graduate School of Management, Cornell University.

Corporate Governance—Board of Trustees and Committees

Our business is managed through the oversight and direction of our board of trustees. Our board of
trustees consists of ten members, eight of whom our board has determined are “independent,” with
independence being defined in the manner established by our board of trustees and consistent with listing
standards established by the New York Stock Exchange. Our board has adopted categorical standards, which
are contained in our corporate governance guidelines, to assist it in making determinations of independence.
Under our corporate governance guidelines the following commercial and charitable relationships are not
considered to be material relationships that would impair a trustee’s independence (trustees who are members
of the audit committee have additional restrictions under the guidelines): ‘

« the trustee or any of his or her immediate family members accept payment directly or indirectly from
us or any of our affiliates, the chairman of our board of trustees or any of our executive officers, other
than for service as a member of our board or a committee of our board, of less than $100,000 during
the current year; and

« the trustee is a partner, executive officer or a shareholder owning less than 10% of any for-profit or
not-for-profit organization to which we made or from which we received payments (other than those
solely arising from investments in our securities) in an annual aggregate amount that is less than the
greater of 5% of our or the organization’s consolidated gross revenues or $200,000, in the current year
or in any of the past three years.

We have applied the independence standards established by the New York Stock Exchange and our
categorical standards and have determined that Richard J. Berry, John R. Biggar, Raymond Garea, Michael J.
Hagan, John P. Hollihan III, Richard A. Kraemer, Alan E. Master and Lewis S. Ranieri are independent
trustees.

Our bylaws require that at all times two-thirds of the members of our board will be independent. All
nominees for election as trustee will be selected by our corporate governance committee. Harold W. Pote will
have the right, so long as he is our Chief Executive Officer, to nominate our then current or former executive
officers to fill the temaining one-third of the pasitions on our board. These nominations must be submitted to
and approved by our corporate governance committee, and satisfy the standards established by that committee
for membership on our board. '

The board met 27 times in 2006. Each of the then current trustees attended at least 75% of the beard

meetings and the meetings of the committees on which he served. The trustees are regularly kept informed
about our business at meetings of the board and its committees and through supplemental reports and
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communications. Our independent trustees meet reguiarly in executive sessions without the presence of any
corporate officers. Our Chairman of the board presides over executive sessions of the independent trustees.
Trustees are encouraged, but not required, to attend our annual meetings of shareholders. Eight of our ten
trustees attended the 2006 annual meeting,

Our board seeks to maintain high corporate governance standards. Our corporate governance structure
was initially established in September 2002 in connection with our formation as a REIT. We have enhanced
our corporate governance structure in several respects in light of recent regulatory developments intended to
improve corporate governance practices. We maintain a corporate governance page on our website which
includes key information about our corporate governance initiatives. Our code of business conduct and ethics,
declaration of trust, bylaws, board of trustee guidelines on corporate governance and the corporate governance,
audit, and compensation and human resources committee charters can be found in the “Investors” section of
our website at www.afrf.com.

The board has established the audit, compensation and human resource and corporate governance
committees whose principal functions are briefly described below.
Audit Committee

Our board of trustees has established an audit committee, which is composed of three independent
trustees: Messrs. Hagan (Chairman), Kraemer and Master. It assists the board in overseeing (i) our accounting
and financial reporting processes; (ii) the integrity and audits of our financial statements; (iii} our compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) the qualifications and independence of our independent auditors;
and (v) the performance of our internal and independent auditors. The audit committee also:

» has sole authority to appoint or replace our independent auditors;

+ has sole authority to approve in advance all audit and non-audit engagement fees, scope and terms
with our independent auditors;

* monitors compliance of our employees with our standards of business conduct and confiict of interest
policies; and

* meets at least quarterly with our senior executive officers, internal auditors and our independent
auditors in separate executive sessions.

The specific functions and responsibilities of the audit committee are set forth in the audit committee charter.
QOur board of trustees has determined that Michael J. Hagan qualifies as an audit committee financial expert as
defined under current SEC regulations and that all the members of our audit committee satisfy the
independence and financial literacy requirements for audit committee members under current New York Stock
Exchange and SEC regulations. The audit committee met 12 times in 2006.

Compensation and Human Resources Committee

Our board of trustees has established a compensation and human resources committee, which is
composed of four independent trustees: Messrs. Hollihan (Chairman), Hagan, Master and Ranieri. The
principal functions of the compensation and human resources committee are to;

+ evaluate the performance of our senior executives;
* review and approve senior executive compensation plans, policies and programs;

+ consider the design and competitiveness of our compensation plans;
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« administer and review changes to our incentive, share option and restricted share and long-term
incentive plans under the terms of the plans; and

« produce an annual report on executive compensation for inclusion in our Proxy Statement.

The compensation and human resources committee also reviews and approves corporate goals and
objectives relevant to Chief Executive Officer compensation, evaluates the Chief Executive Officer’s
performance in light of those goals and objectives, and based on its evaluation and with input from all
independent trustees determines the Chief Executive Officer’s compensation levels. The compensation and
human resources committee has the authority to retain and terminate any compensation consultant to be used
to assist in the evaluation of Chief Executive Officer or senior executive compensation. The compensation and
human resources committee met six times in 2006.

The compensation and human resources committee administers our 2002 Equity Incentive Plan and Long-
Term Incentive Plan, \

While it is not the policy of the compensation and human resources committee or our board of trustees to
seek approval by shareholders of all equity compensation plans that we may adopt, our board will seek the
approval of shareholders prior to the adoption of any equity compensation plan whenever required by:

applicable law;
« the regulations of any governmental entity or agency;

+ the terms of the plan being adopted, or

+ the rules or regulations of any exchange or quotation system on which our common shares are then 5
listed or quoted, as the case may be. ‘

Corporate Governance Committee ' ' ‘

Our board of trustees has established a corporate governance committee, which is composed of three
independent trustees: Messrs. Garea (Chairman), Hollihan and Ranieri. The corporate governance committee is |
responsible for seeking, considering and recommending to the board qualified candidates for election as
trustees and recommending a slate of nominees for election as trustees at the annual meeting. It also |
periodically prepares and submits to the board for adoption the corporate govemnarnce committee’s selection
criteria for trustee nominees. In assessing a potential trustee candidate, our corporate governance committee
takes into account that the board of trustees as a whole should collectively possess a broad range of skills,
expertise, industry and other knowledge and experience useful to the effective oversight of our business. This
assessment includes considerations of industry knowledge, accounting and finance experience, business
judgment, management, leadership, public company experience, business strategy, understanding of real estate
transactions, corporate governance and risk management. The committee also considers diversity of

" backgrounds so that the board of trustees consists of members with a broad spectrum of experience and
expertise and with a reputation for integrity. This assessment process would be the same for nominees
submitted by our shareholders. It reviews and makes recommendations on matters involving general operation
of the board and our corporate governance, and it annually recommends to the board nominees for each
committee of the board. In addition, the corporate governance committee annually facilitates the assessment of
the performance of the board of trustees as a whole and of the individual trustees and reports thereon to the
board. The corporate governance committee has the sole authority to retain and terminate any search firm to
be used to identify trustee candidates. Shareholders wishing to recommend trustee candidates for consideration
by the corporate governance committee can do so by writing to the Secretary of the Company at our corporate
headquarters in Jenkintown, Pennsylvania, giving the candidate’s name, biographical data and qualifications.
The Secretary will, in turn, deliver any shareholder recommendations for trustee candidates prepared in
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accordance with our bylaws to the corporate governance committee. Any such recommendation must be
accompanied by a written statement from the individual of his or her consent 1o be named as a candidate and,
if nominated and elected, to serve as a trustee. The corporate governance committee mel five times in 2006,

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics that contains a policy that prohibits conflicts of
interest between our officers, employees and trustees on the one hand, and our company on the other hand,
except where a majotity of our disinterested trustees waives the conflict, Waivers of our conflicts of interest
policy will be disclosed to our shareholders in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission ‘
requirements. We cannot assure you that our conflicts of interest policy will eliminate all conflicts of interest.

Our conflicts of interest policy states that a conflict of interest exists when a person’s private interest is
not aligned or appears to be not aligned, or interferes or appears to interfere, in any way with our Company’s
interest. The policy prohibits us, absent the approval of a majority of our disinterested trustees, from entering
into agreements, transactions or business relationships, or otherwise taking actions, that involve conflicts of *
interest. For example, under our conflicts of interest policy we are prohibited (absent the approval of a
majority of our disinterested trustees) from: '

= acquiring any assets or other property from, or selling any assets or other property to, any of our
trustees, officers or employees, any of their immediate family members or any entity in which any of
our trustees, officers or employees or any of their immediate family members has an interest of more
than 5%;

» making any loan to, or borrowing from, any of our trustees, officers or employees, any of their
immediate family members or any entity in which any of our trustees, officers or employees or any of
their immediate family members has an interest of more than 5%;

+ engaging in any other transaction with any of our trustees, officers or employees, any of their,
immediate family members or any entity in which any of our trustees, officers or employees or their
immediate family members has an interest of more than 5%, or

+ permitting any of our trustees or officers to make recommendations regarding or to approve
compensation decisions that will personally benefit such trustees or officers or their immediate family
members whom we employ, other than customary compensation for service on our board and its
committees.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Oversight of Executive Compensation Program

The Compensation and Human Resources Committee of our board of trustees (the “Compensation
Committee”) oversees our employee compensation programs that apply to (1) our most senior executive
officers (“Senior Executives”), including the Principal Exccutive Officer and the other executives named in the
Summary Compensation Table and (2) other senior members of our management team. Additionally, the
Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving all individual compensation decisions
relating to our Senior Executives.. -

Consistent with the requirements of the New York Stock Exchange, the Compensation Committee is
composed entirely of independent, non-employee members of the board of trustees. No Compensation
Committee member participates in any of the Company’s employee compensation programs. Each year the
Corporate Governance Committee of our board of trustees reviews any and all relationships our trustees have
with the Company and reports the findings to the board of trustees. The board of trustees has determined that
none of the Compensation Committee members have any material relationship with the Company or any of
our Senior Executives.

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

The Compensation Committee believes that the most effective executive compensation program is one
that aligns executives” interests with those of the shareholders by rewarding the achievement of established
individual and corporate performance goals, with the ultimate objective of improving shareholder value. The
Company’s compensation philosophy is designed to motivate executives to focus on operating results and
create long-term shareholder value by: '

+ rewarding executives who take actions that are best for the long-term performance of the Company
while delivering positive annual operating results;

- linking a portion of the executives’ compensation with the achievement of the Company’s business
plan by using the Company’s operating results as a measurement; and

» establishing a program that attracts, retains and motivates exccutives through compensation that is
competitive with a peer group of other REITs.

The Compensation Committee believes that each of the above factors is important when determining
compensation levels. The Compensation Committee does not apply any specific weighting or formula
regarding such factors, and instead it exercises its discretion when considering the appropriate weighting to
apply to these factors in determining compensation.

“

Setting Executive Compensation

Based on its compensation philosophy and objectives, the Compensation Committee has structured the
Company’s annual and long-term incentive-based cash and non-cash executive compensation to motivate
executives to achieve the individual and corporate performance goals sct by the Company and reward the
executives for achieving such goals.
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In making compensation decisions, the Compensation Committee uses market data on compensation by
companies that we consider to be in our peer group to ensure that our total Senior Executive compensation
program is competitive. The Company competes with many REITs and other companies for top executive-
level talent. As such, the Compensation Committee sets compensation for Senior Executives to be competitive
with the compensation paid to similarly situated executives of the companies comprising the peer group.
Although market data provides the Compensation Committee context and a frame of reference, this is not the
sole source of information on which compensation is determined. The Compensation Committee will consider
other relevant factors in determining compensation and will vary compensation based on the experience level
of the individual and markei factors.

In October 2006, the Compensation Committee retained FPL Associates (“FPL’) as its independent
compensation consultant to advise the Compensation Commitiee on all matters related to the Senior
Executives’ compensation and general compensation program. As a result of this engagement, FPL attended
two of the Compensation Committee meetings in 2006 and participated in numerous telephone discussions
with the members of the Compensation Committee. FPL provided the Compensation Committee with guidance
on industry best practices, comparative market data on compensation practices and programs based an analysis
of peer competitors and a review of base salaries and cash and stock bonuses to our Senior Executives for
service in 2006. Additionally, FPL reviewed our 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan and advised on its dissolution
that we effected in April 2007. o

A significant percentage of total compensation paid to our Senior Executives is allocated to incentives as
a result of the philosophy mentioned above. There is no pre-established policy or target for the allocation
between either cash and non-cash or short-term and long-term incentive compensation. Rather, the
Compensation Committee reviews information provided by its compensation consultant to determine the
appropriate level and mix of incentive compensation. Historically, and in fiscal 2006, the Compensation
Committee granted a majority of total compensation to Senior Executives in the form of non-cash incentive
compensation, which vests over a three or four year period. The Compensation Commiittee believes that the
percentage of total compensation paid in the form of equity should increase as executives have increasing
responsibility for corporate performance, which thereby more completely aligns their interests directly with
those of our shareholders. '

Compensation in 2006, a Year of Change

In August 2006, after undertaking a comprehensive strategic review of its business, the Company
announced the implementation of a five point repositioning plan that centers on the disposition of nen-core
and other non-strategic assets and the refocusing of the Company on its core business model. The strategic
review and the elements of our repositioning plan are described in our 2006 annual report to shareholders. As
part of the implementation of this repositioning plan, the Company on August 16, 2006 appointed Harold W,
Pote as President and Chief Executive Officer. In addition to the change in our Chief Executive Officer, three
other senior executives departed from the Company in 2006. '

When determining the incentive bonuses for our Senior Executives for 2006, the Compensation
Committee heavily weighed the individual coniributions of each of the Senior Executives towards the
achievement of our repositioning plan goals. In particular, with respect to Messrs. Biumenthal, Nettina and
Matey, the Compensation Committee determined that these efforts, although not foreseen when the individual
and corporate performance goals where first established for 2006, should be weighed positively in the
evaluation of these executives’ achievement of their performance goals. The Compensation Committee also
took into account the need to provide these executives with appropriate equity based compensation to
incentivize these executives to continue their efforts in implementing and completing the repositioning plan.
Mr. Pote declined to accept a bonus for 2006. :

14




The repositioning plan did not impact the base salaries of the Senior Executives.

Due to their departure from the Company, Messrs. Schorsch, Delany and Patterson received certain
payments in lieu of performance-based incentive awards for 2006 as described below under “Employment
Agreements.”

Elements of Executive Compensation

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, the principal components of compensation for Senior
Executive were:

« base salary;

+ performance-based incentive compensation;
» long-term equity incentive compensation;

* retirement plans;b and

« perquisites and other personal benefits.

Base Salary

The Company provides Senior Executives and other employees with base salary to compensate them for
services rendered during the fiscal year. Base salary ranges for Senior Executives are determined based on the
executives’ position and responsibility. During its review of base salaries for Senior Executives, the
Compensation Committee primarily considers:

« individual performance of the Senior Executive and the coniributions of the Senior Executive to the
Company’s achievement of its corporate objectives;

+ internal review of the Senior Executive’s compensation, both individually and relative to other
executive officers; and

+ market data provided by our outside consultants.

Salary levels are generally determined at the time that the executive enters into an employment agreement
with the Company. Except with respect to the employment agreement with Harold W. Pote, which does not
guarantee any annual increases in his base salary, the employment agreements with Messrs. Blumenthal,
Nettina and Matey provide that their base salaries will increase on each January at a minimum equal to the
increase in the Consumer Price Index (CPI). Any increases above the increase in the CPI, or any increase at
all in the case of Mr. Pote, are determined by the Compensation Committee based on its assessment of the
executive’s performance.

Annual Incentive Compensation

Historically the Company has paid annual cash and equity incentive bonuses to our Senior Executives for
their achievement of individual and corporate performance goals that are pre-determined by the Compensation
Committee. Individual performance goals are tailored to each executive and the corporate goal is based on the
Company’s reported adjusted funds from operations, or AFFO, a non-GAAP financial measure adopted by the
REIT industry.
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The cash portion of the bonus award to each of Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and Matey is based on a
percentage of their respective base salaries, which percentage is adjusted based on the achievement of these
performance goals. This percentage is adjusted to 50% for achieving the threshold level, 100% for achieving
the target level and 135% (150% in the case of Mr. Blumenthal) for achieving the maximum level, Mr. Pote’s
employment agreement establishes that his initial target bonus is $500,000 per full fiscal year and his initial
maximum bonus is $1,000,000 per fiscal year, but it does not require any minimum cash bonus.

With respect to the stock portion of the performance-based incentive bonus, one-half of the target grants
to each of Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and Matey are guaranteed and the other half is contingent on the
achievement of the same performance thresholds that apply to cash bonuses, The performance-based incentive
bonus to Mr. Pote is not based on the achievement of certain pre-determined performance thresholds, but
rather the Compensation Committee will consider the achievement of the corporate goals of the Company and
the individual performance of Mr. Pote in determining the appropriate level of incentive compensation.

Mr. Pote is eligible for future grants of restricted common shares as incentive compensation at the discretion
of the Compensation Committee.

. In determining the Senior Executive’s annual incentive compensation, the Compensation Committee may
also consider additional factors, as it did when it considered the Company’s repositioning plan when
determining 2006 performance-based incentive compensation, and adjust the incentive compensation
accordingly. In general, the Compensation Commities seeks to provide key executives with a total
compensation package that is competitive with comparable equity REITs,

Long-Term Incentive Compensation

In 2005, the Compensation Committee established the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”), a
long-term, performance-based plan in which executive officers and certain other key employees are entitled to
participate. Each of the participants under the LTIP was allocated pre-determined Target Units, and shares of
restricted common shares relating to such units were to be awarded based on the achievement of established
threshold levels in the Company’s funds from operations, a non-GAAP financial measure adopted by the REIT
industry.

In April 2007, the Compensation Committee determined that the LTIP should be dissolved and that each
participant who accepts such dissolution should be offered a one-time grant of restricted common shares. Each
of Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and Matey agreed to the dissolution of the LTIP and in exchange for the
cancellation of their LTIP Target Units these executives received the following grants of restricted commeon
shares:

Sentor Executive LTIP Target Units (Cancelled) Dissolution Grant
Glenn Blumenthal . .. ............. ... ........ 480,000 240,000
David Nettina .. ... 360,000 180,000
Edward J. Matey Jr. ............... [ 216,000 108,000

. Each of the one-time grants of restricted common shares represents 50% of the LTIP Target Units that
were cancelled. These grants will vest according to the following schedule: 12.5% on each of December 31,
2007 and December 31, 2008, 16.7% on each of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2010 and 20.8% on
each of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012. Dividends on unvested shares will accrue from the grant
date and be paid to each of these executives on the date the shares become vested. In the event of a change in
control of the Company, all unvested shares will become fully vested and all accrued dividends on such shares
will be paid to these executives. If the employment of any of these executives is terminated, whether by the
Company with or without cause or voluntarily by the executive, all unvested shares will be forfeited including
any dividends accrued by such forfeited shares. However, if within six months of the executive’s termination
by the Company for any reason other than for cause there is change in control event, then 100% of the

16




executive’s grant of restricted shares that are not already vested will become vested. If the change in control
event occurs within 12 months but after six months of the executive’s termination by the Company for any
reason other than for cause, then 50% of that executive’s grant of restricted shares that are not already vested
will become vested. Our Chief Executive Officer, Harold W. Pote, is not a participant in the LTIP and
therefore he was not offered any restricted commen shares in connection with the dissolution of the LTIP.

Retirement Plans

Under the First States Group, L.P. 401(k) Plan (the “401(k} Plan”}, a tax qualified retirement savings
plan, employees, including our Senior Executives, may contribute a portion of their salary up to the limit
prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service to the 401(k) Plan on a before-tax basis. The Company will match
100% of the first 3% of pay that is contributed to the Savings Plan and 50% of the next 2% of pay
contributed. All contributions to the 401(k) Plan as well as any employer matching contributions are fully-
vested upon contribution.

Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits

The Company provides Senior Executives with perquisites and other personal benefits that the Company
and the Compensation Committee believe are reasonable and consistent with its overall compensation program
to better enable the Company to attract and retain superior employees for key positions. The Compensation
Committee periodically reviews the levels of perquisites and other personal benefits provided to Senior
Executives. Aside from the matching of contributions to our 401(k) Plan described above, the perquisites and
other personal benefits that we provide to our current Senior Executives include health benefits and
automobile allowances.

Attributed costs of the personal benefits described above for the named executive officers for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2006, are included in the “Summary Compensation Table” on page 21.

Employment Agreements

Our operating partnership has entered into employment agreements with each of our current Senior
Executives. These employment agreements provide for annual base salaries, which are as follows for 2006:
Harold W. Pote, $500,000; Glenn Blumenthal, $285,500; David J. Nettina, $261,250; and Edward J. Matey Jr,,
$272,750. The employment agreements also provide that these executive officers are eligible to participate in
the Company’s 2002 Equity Incentive Plan and to receive annual bonuses under our approved bonus plans.

The employment agreements require that our Senior Executives devote substantially ali of their business
time to the Company’s operations. Except with respect to the employment agreement with Mr. Pote, which
does not have fixed term, the employment agreements of our Senior Executives have three year terms that
automnatically extend for additional one-year periods unless either party terminates the agreement not later than
60 days prior to expiration thereof. The employment agreements permit us to terminate the executives’
employment with appropriate notice for or without “cause.” “Cause” is generally defined to mean:

+ conviction of, or the entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, a felony {excluding any felony
relating to the negligent operation of a motor vehicle or a conviction, plea of guilty or nolo contendere
arising under a statutory provision imposing per se criminal liability due to the position held by the
executive with us, provided the act or omission of the executive or officer with respect to such matter
was not taken or omitted to be taken in contravention of any applicable policy or directive of the
board of trustees);

« a willful breach of the executive’s duty of loyalty which is materially detrimental to us;
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» a willful failure to perform or adhere to explicitly stated duties that are consistent with the executive’s
employment agreement, or the reasonable and customary guidelines of employment or reasonable and
customary corporate governance guidelines or policies, including without limitation the business code
of ethics adopted by the board of trustees, or the failure to follow the lawful directives of the board of
trustees provided such directives are consistent with the terms of the executive’s employment

' agreement, which continues for a period of 30 days after written notice to the executive; and

» gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of the executive’s duties.

The employment agreements with our Senior Executives provide that the executive officers will be
eligible to receive the same benefits, including medical insurance coverage and retirement plan benefits in a
401(k) plan to the same extent as other similarly situated employees, and such other benefits as are
commensurate with their position. Participation in employce benefit plans will be subject to the terms of said
benefit plans as in effect from time to time.

For a 12 month period after termination of an executive's employment for any reasen other than
termination by us, the executives under these employment agreements have agreed not to compete with us by
working with or investing in (subject to certain limited exceptions) any enterprise engaged in a business
substantially similar to our business during the period of the executive’s employment with us.

On August 16, 2006, our operating partnership entered into a Separation Agreement with Nicholas S,
Schorsch, our former President, Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chairman of the Board of Trustees, which
agreement was guaranteed by the Company. Under the Separation Agreement, Mr. Schorsch’s employment
with the Company ceased effective August 16, 2006. The Separation Agreement provided for the resolution of
all matiers with respect to Mr. Schorsch’s employmen, including all obligations 1o Mr. Schorsch under his
Employment Agreement with the Company, dated August 30, 2005 (the “Employment Agreement”), the LTIP,
his outstanding options and restricted stock, and the Company’s Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the
“SERP™). The Separation Agreement also provided for the termination and buy-out of related party leases with
the Company. Under the Separation Agreement, no further payments or benefits would be payable to
Mr. Schorsch in the event of a change of control of the Company. Under the terms of the Separation
Agreement, Mr. Schorsch was paid (i) $5,444,773, less taxes, in a single lump sum cash payment, in
satisfaction of all obligations under the Employment Agreement, and in recognition that a material portion is
in consideration of Mr. Schorsch’s confidentiality, non-competition and non-solicitation obligations;

(ii) $6,237,000, less taxes, in cash in satisfaction of his forfeiture of all rights under the LTIP; (iii) $1,484,974,
less taxes, in satisfaction of any obligations under the SERP; and (iv) approximately $3,728,000 (inclusive of a
tax gross-up), to fully fund insurance policies with Mr. Schorsch as owner that were previously purchased by
the Company as required by the terms of the Employment Agreement. Furihermore, upon his termination of
employment, Mr. Schorsch vested in 94,726 options, exercisable at $10.00 per share, that were otherwise
scheduled to vest on September 30, 2006, and will vest in 266,997 previously unvested restricted common
shares, At the time of separation, Mr, Schorsch had an aggregate of 852,539 unexercised options, exercisable
at $10.00 per share, which will remain exercisable for two years. The Separation Agreement provides for
mutual release and mutual non-disparagement by Mr. Schorsch and the Company. Mr. Schorsch is also subject
to confidentiality provisions and an 18 month non-competition and non-solicitation period. In addition, for six
years following his separation, Mr. Schorsch will continue to be covered by directors and officers insurance
with respect to his acts or omissions as an ofticer and trustee of the Company. Under the Separation
Apgreement, the Company has also terminated two leases for properties owned by Mr. Schorsch’s family and
trusts by buying out the remaining lease payments for aggregate amounts of $194,045 and $212,563,
respectively.

On September 30, 2006, our operating partnership entered into a Separation Agreement with Robert M.
Patterson, our former Senior Vice President—Acquisitions. The Separation Agreement provided for the
resolution of all matters with respect to Mr. Patterson’s employment, including all obligations to Mr. Patterson
under his Employment Agreement with the Company, dated March 28, 2005. Under the Separation
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Agreement, Mr. Patterson’s employment ceased effective September 30, 2006. Mr. Patterson was paid
$474,658 in a single lump sum payment, in satisfaction of all obligations under the Employment Agreement,
and he also vested in 30,587 previously unvested restricted common shares. In addition, the Company agreed
to provide health coverage to Mr. Patterson and his family and directors and officers liability insurance
coverage through October 31, 2007. The Separation Agreement provides for mutual release and mutual non-
disparagement by M. Patterson and the Company. Mr. Patterson is also subject to confidentiality provisions
and a non-competition and non-solicitation period that expires on October 31, 2007.

On October 3, 2006, our operating partnership entered into a Separation Agreement with Robert J.
Delany, our former Executive Vice President—European Operations. The Separation Agreement provided for
the resolution of all matters with respect to Mr. Delany’s employment, including all obligations to Mr. Delany
under his Employment Agreement with the Company, dated January 1, 2004. Under the terms of the
Separation Agreement, Mr. Delany was paid $800,000, in a single lump sum payment, in satisfaction of all
obligations under the Employment Agreement. The Separation Agreement provides for mutual release and
mutual non-disparagement by Mr. Delany and the Company. Mr. Delany is also subject to confidentiality
provisions and a 12 month non-competition and non-solicitation period.

The employment agreements with our Senior Executives provide certain benefits upon termination and
change in control. Please see “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control” on page 25 for a
description of these benefits.

Tax and Accounting Implications
Deductibility of Executive Compensation

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, limits the deductibility on the
Company’s income tax return to compensation of $1 million for certain executive officers unless, in general,
the compensation is paid pursuant to a plan that is performance-based, nondiscretionary and has been approved
by the Company’s sharehelders. This regulation did not apply to the Company prior to the time it became a
public company in June 2003. The compensation and human resources committee’s policy with respect to
Section 162(m) since the initial public offering is to make reasonable efforts to ensure that compensation is
deductible to the extent permitted, while simultaneously providing the Company’s executives with appropriate
rewards for their performance. '

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Beginning on January 1, 2006, the Company began accounting for stock-based payments in accordance
with the requirements of FASB Statement 123(R).
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Compensation Committee of the Company has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K with management and, based on such review and
discussion, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis be included in this Proxy Statement.

THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

John P Hollihan {11, Chairman
Michael J. Hagan

Alan E. Master

Lewis S, Ranieri

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

We have no compensation committee interlocks, none of our employees participate in the Compensation
Committee and the Compensation Committee consists of four independent trustees.
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Stock Option All Other
Name Year Salary  Bonus  Awards®  AwardsV Compensation™  Total

Harold W. Pote. .. ..........0vovenn 2006 $186,198 3 — 8§ 791653 5 — § — § 977,851
President and Chief Executive .
Officer (Principal Exccutive
Officer)

David J. Nettina . . . .. ... ...coveeu.n 2006 261,250 300,000 198,810 — 68,187 828,247
Executive Vice President—Chief
Financial Officer and Chief
Real Estate Officer (Principal
Financia! Officer)

Glenn Blumenthal. . .. ............... 2006 285,500 300,000 755,436 16,481 33,239 1,390,656

Executive Vice President—Chief
Operating Officer

FEdward J. Matey Jr. ................. 2006 272,750 190,000 498,185 1,318 33,239 1995492
Executive Vice President and
General Counsel

Nicholas S. Schorsch(3) .............. 2006 565,625 — 2,995,840 53,288 21,577,358 25,192,111
Former President and Chief )
Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Robert L. Delany(4). ... .............. 2006 172,438 — 74,661 1,672 852,380 1,101,151
Former Executive Vice
President—European
Operations
Robert M. Patterson{5) ............... 2006 181,875 — 92,882 - 859,553 1,134,310

Former Senior Vice
President—Acquisitions

(1) The amount reflected is the cost recognized by the Company in 2006 under SFAS No. 123R for all
restricted stock and option grants to the executive in 2006 and prior years. In regards to restricted stock
grants, the Company assumed that these grants would not be forfeited by these named officers. With
respect to stock option grants, the Company estimated the fair value of each option on the dated of grant
using the Black-Scholes options pricing model. The Company assumed the options had an expected life of
5 years, used a risk-free interest rate of 3.25% to 4.21%, a volatility of 10% and a dividend yield of 7.5%.

(2) See All Other Compensation and Perquisites and Other B.eneﬁts tables below.

(3) Separated from the Company on August 16, 2006. See “Employment Agreements” on page 17 for a
description of the terms of separation.

(4) Separated from the Company on October 3, 2006. See “Employment Agreements” on page 17 for a
description of the terms of separation.

(5) Separated from the Company on September 30, 2006. See “Employment Agreements” on page 17 for a
description of the terms of separation.
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All Other Compensation Table

Severance
Perquisites and Insurance 401(k) Plan Payments/
Name Other Benefits™"’ Premiums Contributions Accruals Total

Harold W. Pote ....... $ — $ - 5 — $ — § —
David J. Nettina. . ... .. 59,587 —_ 8,600 — 68,187
Glenn Blumenthal . . . . . 24,639 — 8,600 —_ 33,239
Edward J. Matey Jr. ... 24,639 — 8,600 — 33,239
Nicholas S. Schorsch . . . 416,865 404,841 8,600 20,747,052 21,577,358
Robert J. Delany . .. ... 52,380 - — 800,000 852,380
Robert M. Patterson. . . . 18,479 — 8,600 832,474 859,553

(1) See the Perquisites and Other Benefits table.

(2) The Company paid the premiums for Mr. Schorsch’s whole life insurance policies, aggregating $239,260.
The amount included in the above table represents Mr. Schorsch’s taxable compensation relating to such
premiums and applicable tax gross-up paid on his behalf during 2006.

(3) Mr. Schorsch entered into a Separation Agreement with the Company on August 16, 2006, which
agreement provided for the following severance payments: (i) $4,525,000, base salary severance (five
times current base salary of $905,000), (ii) $75,417, base salary during the 30 day notice period,

(i1i) $735,653, pro-rated cash incentive bonus based on achievement of target performance goals,

(iv} $108,703, healthcare insurance coverage for family for five years, (v) $6,237,000, less taxes, in cash
in satisfaction of his forfeiture of all rights under the LTIP; (vi) $1,484,974, less taxes, in satisfaction of
any obligations under the SERP; (vii) $3,728,419 (inclusive of a tax gross-up), to fully fund insurance .

policies with Mr. Schorsch as owner that were previously purchased by the Company as required by the

terms of the Employment Agreement; and (viii) $3,851,886, value of unvested restricted common shares
that accelerated in vesting in connection with the separation. '

{4) Mr. Delany entered into a Separation Agreement with the Company on Qctober 3, 2006, which agreement
provided for a severance payment of $800,000.

(5) Mr. Patterson entered into a Separation Agreement with the Company on September 30, 2006, which
agreement provided for the following severance payments: (i) $474,658, base salary severance, (ii) $20,136,
healthcare insurance coverage for family through October 31, 2007, and (iii) $337,680, value of unvested
restricted common shares that accelerated in vesting in connection with the separation.

Perquisites and Other Benefits Table

Health Auto Vacation
Name Benefits Allowance Payout Perquisites Total
Harold W. Pote. ................... $Ii — & — & — 3 — 3 —
David J. Netting . . ........oooovo... 11,187 8,400 — 40,0001 59,587
Glenn Blumenthal .. ............... 15,639 9,000 — — 24639
Edward §. Matey Jr. ................ 15,639 9,000 — — 24,639
Nicholas 8. Schorsch . .............. 10,426 16,000 23,315  367,124® 416,865
Robert J. Delany. .. .............. .. 7819 3,900 — 40,661 52,380
Robert M. Patterson . ... ............ 11,729 6,750 —_— — 18,479

(1) Consists of relocation expense reimbursement.
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(2) Amount represents $30,000 reimbursed to Mr. Schorsch for financial planning and legal services, $81,284
paid for personal bookkeeping services and $13,993 attributable to the use of Company vehicles. In
addition, the Company employed an assistant for Mr. Schorsch used exclusively to handle his personal
affairs as well as drivers and security personnel for Mr. Schorsch’s and his family’s exclusive use. The
aggregate cost of these employees during 2006 are as follows:

Number of
Months Aggregate
Employee Employed Cost
ASSISEANL . . e et et e e et e 8.5 $ 57914
Security/DIiver . ... ... e 4.0 53,322
Security/DIiver .. ..ot 8.5 107,105
| 1=, SR 8.5 23,506

(3) Consists of $31,162 in relocation expense reimbursement and $9,499 in payment for tax preparation and
financial planning services.

GRANTS OF PLAN BASED AWARDS

Stock Awards: Option Awards:

Number of Number of Exercise or

Shares of Shares of Base Price of  Closing Price

Grant Stock or Stock or Option on Grant Date
Name Date Units (#) Units (#) Awards (§/Sh) ($/5h)
Harold W Pote. . ..o 3/31/2006 6,0001 — $— $11.65
6/1/2006 2,5139 — — 9.95
8/16/2006 500,000 — — 11.21
David J Netina . ... .vovnveernenn.. 3/1/2006 45,985 — — 11.97
Glenn Blumenthal . . .. ... ............. 3/1/2006 77,011 — — 11.97
Edward ] Matey J&. ... ............... 3/1/2006 30,9491 — — 11.97
Nicholas S. Schorsch. . ... ............. 3/1/2006 116,703 — — 11.97
RobertJ Delany ... .................. — — — - —
Robert M. Patterson ... ............... 3/1/2006 20,150¢ — — 11.97

(1) This award was granted to Mr. Pote when he joined the Company’s board of trustees on March 31, 2006 as
an independent trustee. This award vested 33.33% in March 2007 and the same percentage will vest on
each of March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2009.

(2) This award was granted to Mr. Pote on June 1, 2006 as part of our annual stock compensation to our
independent trustees. This award will vest at a rate of 33.33% on each anniversary of the date of the grant.

(3) This award was granted to Mr. Pote when he became the Company’s President and Chief Executive
Officer on August 16, 2006 and it represents an incentive grant for assuming this position. This award will
vest at a rate of 33.33% on each anniversary of the date of the grant.

(4) These awards represented incentive bonus grants for fiscal year 2005. Except with respect to the awards to
Messrs. Schorsch and Patterson, which awards fully accelerated in vesting in connection with their
separation from the Company in 2006, these awards vested 25% on January 2, 2007 and the remaining
shares have vested or will continue to vest at a rate of 6.25% at the end of each quarter thereafter.

23




OUTSTANDING EQUITY AT FISCAL YEAR-END

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity Equeity Equity
Incentive Incentive Plan  Incentive Plan
Plan Awards: Awards:

Awards: Number of Market or
Number of  Number of  Number of Unearned Payout Value
Securities  Securities  Securities Namber of  Market Value  Shares, Units  of Uncarned
Uederlving  Underlving  Underlying Shares or Units  of Shares or or Other  Shares, Units or
- Uneervised Unexercised Unexertised Option Optton of Stock That  Ynits of Stock  Rights That  Otker Rights
Options (#) Options (#)  Unearned  Exercise Expiration Have Not That Have Have Not  That Have Not
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Options (#) _Price Date Vested ()" Not Yested  Vested ()™ Vested
Harold W.Pote. .. ........ — — — 5§ — — 508,513  $5.817,389 — 8 —
David I. Nettina . .. ....... - — —_ —_ —_ 54,985 629,028 360,000 4,118,400
Glenn Blumenthal . . . ... ... 188,335 — — 10.00 9/10/2012 124,194 1.420,779 480,000 5,491,200
Edward J. Matey Jr. ... .. .. 37.500 — — HLOO 9/10/2012 54,541 623,949 216,000 2,471,040

Nicholas 8. Schorsch. . ... .. 852,539 — — 10.00  8/16/08 —
Robert J. Delany . ... ... ... — — — — — _

Robert M. Patterson . . ... .. — — -— — — —

(1) These amounts represent the unvested portion of restricted share awards granted as incentive grants, which
awards vest ¢ither on (i) a three-year vesting schedule of 33.33% on each anniversary of the date of grant
as in the case of ali the grants to Mr. Pote ar (ii} a four-year vesting schedule of 25% on the first
anniversary of the date of grant and 6.25% at the end of each quarter thereafter as in the case of the grants
to each of the other Senior Executives. The original restricted share awards granted to the Senior
Executives that were subject to vesting as of December 31, 2006 according to the above vesting schedule

are as follows: .

Senior Executive Date of Award Amount of Award
Harold W. Pote . ...... ... .. .. .. ... 3/31/2006 6,000
6/1/2006 2,513
8/16/2006 500,000
Glenn Blumenthal . ........... .. .. ... .. ... ....... 3/1/06" 77,011
1/4/05 64,367
1/2/04 60,000
David L Nettina. .. ........ ... i, 3/1/06° 45,985
4/27/05 16,000
Edward J. Matey Jr. .. ........... ... ... ......... 3/1/06° 30,949
1/4/05 32,184
1/2/04 30,000

* For vesting purposes the grant date is fanuary I, 2006.

(2) These amounts represent the Target Units allocated to the Senior Executives under our LTIP. Effective
April 2007, each of Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and Matey has agreed to the dissolution of the LTIP and
the cancellation of the Target Units allocated to him in exchange for the issuance of one-time grants of
restricted common shares. Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and Matey have been granted 240,000, 180,000
and 108,000 restricted common shares, respectively, which shares will vest according to the following
schedule: 12.5% on each of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008, 16.7% on each of December 31,
2009 and December 31, 2010 and 20.8% on each of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012.
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OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Shares Number of Shares
Acquired on Value Realized on Acquired on Value Realized on
Name Exercise (#) Exercise Exercise (#) Vesting'"
Harold W. Pote ................ — $— —_ 5 —
David J. Nettina .. ............. — — 7,000 77,800
Glenn Blumenthal . .. ........... — — 83,516 932,455
Edward J. Matey Jr. ............ — — 35,592 399,327
Nicholas S. Schorsch'® .. ........ —_ — 188,109 2,079,603
Robert J. Delany . .. ............ ‘ — — 8,928 102,070
Robert M. Patterson® .. ..... .. .. — — 7,307 81,003

(1) Based on the closing price of the Company’s common shares on the day of the applicable vesting.

(2) Only includes vesting during term of employment; acceleration in vesting in connection with separation
from the Company is not included.

POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL

The tables below reflect the amount of compensation to each of the current Senior Executives of the
Company in the event of termination of such executive’s empleyment. The amount of compensation payable to
each Senior Executive officer upon voluntary termination, early retirement, involuntary not-for-cause
termination, for cause termination, termination following a change of control and in the event of disability or
death of the executive is shown below. The amounts shown on the tables assume that such termination was
effective as of December 31, 2006, and thus includes amounts earned through such time and are estimates of
the amounts which would be paid out to the executives upon their termination. These amounts also reflect the
dissolution of the LTIP and the issuance of one-time restricted common share grants to each of
Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and Matey as described on page 16 of this proxy statement and the April 2007
amendments to the employment agreements with each of such executives as described below under the
heading “Payments Made Upon Change in Control.” The amounts that such executives would have received
had the LTIP not have been terminated and had their employment agreements not been amended are shown in
the footnotes to these tables. The actual amounts to be paid out can only be determined at the time of such
executive's separation from the Company.

Payments Made Upen Termination

Regardiess of the mannér in which a Senior Executive’s employment terminates, he may be entitled to
receive amounts earned during his term of employment. Such amounts include: accrued salary, bonuses and
incentive payments already determined and payments pursuant to other existing obligations. In addition, except
with respect to Harold W. Pote, if we terminate the executives’ employment without cause, we will be
obligated to pay (i) a lump sum payment of severance equal to the base salary payable under the agreement
for a severance period equal to the greater of the remaining term of the employment agreement or 12 months,
(ii) the cash portion of the incentive bonus prorated for the year in which the termination occurred,

(iii) payment of premiums for group health coverage during the applicable severance period, and (iv) certain
other benefits as provided for in each employment agreement. Under the terms of his employment agreement,
Mr. Pote is not eligible for any of these payments, even if his employment agreement is terminated by the
Company without cause. Additionally, except as described below, in the event of a termination by us for any
reason other than for cause, all of the options and restricted shares granted to Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and
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Matey will become fully vested, and such executives will have a period of two years in which to exercise all
vested options.

Payments Made Upon Death or Disability

In the event of the death or disability of a Senior Executive, in addition to the benefits listed under the
heading “Payment Made Upon Termination” above, the Senior Executive will receive benefits under the
Company’s disability plan or payments under the Company’s life insurance plan, as appropriate.

Payments Made Upon Change in Control

Upon a change of control, the Senior Executives will become fully vested in their options and restricted
shares. Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and Matey will also become fully vested in the restricted shares that they
were issued in April 2007 in connection with their agreement to dissolve the LTIP and cancel the Target Units
that were awarded to them under such plan as described on page 16 of this proxy statement.

Further, on August 30, 2005, we entered into amended and restated employment agreements with Glenn
Blumenthal, David J. Nettina and Edward J. Matey Jr. to provide for severance upon termination in connection
with a change of control in lieu of the severance that would otherwise be payable in the event of a termination
without cause. Each of their employment agreements was amended to provide for severance payment in the
event the executive’s employment is terminated during a change of control termination period, which is
defined in the employment agreement as the period six months prior to the date on which a change of control
occurs and two years following such date. If the executive is terminated by us for any reason other than for
cause, death or permanent disability during a change of control termination period, then the executive will be
entitled to a severance payment equal to 2.5, in the case of Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and Matey, multiplied
by the sum of (i) his average base salary for the calendar year in which the termination occurs and the two
preceding calendar vears, plus (ii) the average annual cash incentive bonus received by him for the three full
fiscal year periods immediately prior to his date of termination, plus (iii) the average value of the restricted
share grants awarded to him over the three year period immediately preceding his date of termination. In April
2007, in connection with dissolution of the LTIP and the issuance of one-time restricted common share grants
to each of Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and Matey, each of such executives agreed to amend their respective
employment agreements by eliminating clause (iii) in the above formulation of the change in control severance
payment. These amendments will result in a reduction in the change in control severance payment to each of
Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and Matey by an amount equal to 2.5 multiplied by the average value of the
restricted share grants awarded to him over the three year period immediately preceding his date of
termination. This change of control severance payment will be made in lieu of the severance payment that
would otherwise be payable in the event of a termination without cause that is not during a change of control
termination period. Aside from the full vesting of his restricted shares, Mr. Pote is not eligible for any other
severance benefit in connection with a change of control event, including termination of his employment by
the Company for any reason following any such event.

In general terms, a change in control gccurs:

+ if a person, entity or affiliated group (with certain exceptions) acquires more than 50% of our then
outstanding voting securities;

« if we merge into another entity unless the holders of our voting shares immediately prior to the merger
have at least 50% of the combined voting power of the securities in the merged entity or its parent;

 upon the liquidation, dissolution, sale or disposition of all or substantially all of our assets such that
after that transaction the holders of our voting shares immediately prior to the transaction own less than
50% of the voting securities of the acquiror or its parent; or
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« if a majority of our board votes in favor of a resolution stating that a change in control has occurred.

If payments become due as a result of a change in control and the excise tax imposed by Internal
Revenue Code Section 4999 applies, the terms of the employment agreements require us to gross up the
executive for the amount of this excise tax plus the amount of income and other taxes due as a result of the
Zross up payment.

. POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL TABLE

Termination Without Voluntary Change in Change in Centrol and
Cause or Permanent Termination or Control Withont  Termination Without
Name Disability* Death!”  Termination for Cause ‘Termination">% Cause! DK

Harold W. Pote . . . . ... 5 — 3 — §— $ 5,817,389 $ 5,817,389
Glenn Blumenthal . . . .. 2,031,210 1,706,279 — 4,166,379 5,558,781
David J. Nettina . . .. .. 1,270,179 914,528 — 3,551,241 5,005,476
Edward J. Matey Jr. . . .. 1,207,817 896,699 = 1,859,469 4,020,067
$_—- $15,394,478 $20,401,713

Total . ........... : 54,509,206 53,517,507

{1) Based on stock price on December 31, 2006 of $11.44. Excludes restricted share grants on March 1, 2007
to Mr. Blumenthal (60,000 shares), Mr. Nettina (160,000 shares) and Mr. Matey (35,000).

(2) The Company’s employment agreements with Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and Matey provides that in the
event there is an excise tax imposed on their respective severance payment, then the Company will gross
up the executive’s compensation for the amount of this excise tax plus the amount of income and other
taxes due as a result of the gross up payment.

(3) These amounts reflect the dissolution of the LTIP with respect to each of Messrs. Blumenthal, Nettina and
' Matey effective April 2007 and the issuance of 240,000, 180,000 and 108,000 restricted common shares,
respectively, in exchange for such dissolution and cancellation of their respective Target Units granted
under the LTIP. If the LTIP was not dissolved, the amounts under this column would have been 39,014,236
for Mr. Blumenthal, $6,618,485 for Mr. Nettina and $3,946,717 for Mr. Matey, which total amounts
consist of the following:

Senior Executive Source of Payment Amount of Payment
Glenn Blumenthal Acceleration of unvested restricied share awards $1,420,779
Acceleration of unvested Target Units awarded under
the LTIP 5,491,200
Tax Gross-Up 2,102,257
David J. Nettina Acceleration of unvested restricted share awards 629,028
Acceleration of unvested Target Units awarded under
the LTIP 4,118,400
Tax Gross-Up 1,871,056
Edward J. Matey Ir. Acceleration of unvested restricted share awards 623,949
Acceleration of unvested Target Units awarded under
the LTIP ] 2,471,040
Tax Gross-Up 851,728

(4) The termination without cause must occur during a period commencing on the date that is six months
prior to the Change in Control event and ending on the date that is 24 months after the date of such event.
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(5) These amounts reflect (i) the dissolution of the LTIP with respect to each of Messts. Blumenthal, Nettina
and Matey effective April 2007 and the issuance of 240,000, 180,000 and 108,000 restricted common
shares, respectively, in exchange for such dissolution and canceliation of their respective Target Units
granted under the LTIP and (ii) the amendments to their respective employment agreements to eliminate
past incentive bonus stock payments in the calculation of the change in control severance payment. If the
LTIP was not dissolved and the employment agreements were not amended, the amounts under this
column would have been $14,749,596 for Mr. Blumenthal, $9,553,330 for Mr. Nettina and $7,582,643 for
Mr. Matey, which total amounts consist of the following:

Senior Executive

Source of Payment

Amount of Payment

Glenn Blumenthal

David J. Nettina

Edward J. Matey Jr.

Change in Control Severance Payment (2.5x)
Acceleration of unvested restricted share awards

Acceleration of unvested Target Units awarded under
the LTIP

Tax Gross-Up
Continuing healthcare benefits

Change in Control Severance Payment (2.5x}
Acceleration of unvested restricted share awards

Acceleration of unvested Target Units awarded under
the LTIP

Tax Gross-Up
Continuing healthcare benefits

Change in Control Severance Payment {2.5x}
Acceleration of unvested restricted share awards

Acceleration of unvested Target Units awarded under
the LTIP

Tax Gross-Up
Continuing healthcare benefits

$3,839,946
1,420,779
5,491,200

3,982,032
15,639

1,561,586
629,028
4,118,400

2,331,315
13,051

2,430,487
623,945
2,471,040

2,041,528
15,639

The total payment amounts to each Senior Executive based on the events described in the above table

consist of the following:

Payment upon Termination without Cause or Permanent Disability:

Severance Period Base Salary . . .

Target Incentive Bonus (cash
component)

Acceleration of unvested
restricted share awards

Continuing healthcare benefits. . .

Harold W. Pot¢ Glenn Blumenthal David J. Nettina Edward J. Matey Jr. Total
$ — $ 309,292 $ 342,600 $ 265479 $ 947,371
— 285,500 285,500 272,750 843,750
— 1,420,779 629,028 623,949 2,673,757
— 15,639 13,051 15,639 44,328
$ — $2,031,210 $1,270,179 $1,207,817 $4,509,206
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Payment upen Death:

Harold W. Pote Glenn Blumenthal David J. Nettina Edward J. Matey Jr. Total
Target Incentive Bonus (cash '
component) . . ............ F — $ 285,500 $285,500 $272,750 $ 843,750
Acceleration of unvested
restricted share awards (stock .
incentive bonus) . . .. ....... — 1,420,779 629,028 623,949 2,673,751
§ — $1,706,279 $914,528 £896,699 $3,517,507
Payment upon Change in Control without Termination:
Harold W. Pote Glenn Blumenthal David J. Nettina Edward J. Matey Jr. Total
Acceleration of unvested
restricted share awards (stock
incentive bonus) . .. .. .. .. 85,817,389 $1,420,779 $ 629,028 § 623,949 $ 8,491,146
Acceleration of unvested
resiricted shares award (LTIP
dissolution grant) . ........ — 2,059,200 2,059,200 1,235,520 6,040,320
Tax Gross-Up ............. — — 863,012 —_ 863,012
$5,817,389 $4,166,379 $3,551,241 $1,859,469 $15,394,478
Payment upon Change in Control Period and Termination without Cause:
Harold W. Pote  Glenn Blumenthal David J. Nettina Edward J. Matey Jr. Total
Change in Control Severance : :
Payment (2.5x) . ........ $ — $1,376,763 $ 967,542 $1,274,265 $ 3,618,570
Acceleration of unvested
restricted share awards
(stock incentive bonus) . . . 5,817,389 1,420,779 629,028 623,949 8,491,146
Acceleration of unvested
restricted share award
(LTIP dissolution grant). . . — 2,745,600 2,059,200 1,235,520 6,040,320
Tax Gross-Up . .......... — — 1,336,655 870,695 2,207,349
Continuing healthcare )
benefits . .. ........... ‘ — 15,639 13,051 15,639 44,328

$5,817,385 $5,558,781 $5,005,476 $4,020,067 $20,401,713 -

TRUSTEE COMPENSATION

The Company uses a combination of cash and stock-based incentive compensation to attract and retain
qualified candidates to serve on the Board. In setting director compensation, the' Company considers the
significant amount of time that trusiées expend in fulfilling their duties to the Company as well as the skill-
level required by the Company of members of the Board. Trustees who are employees receive no additional

compensation for their services as a trustee.
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Cash Compensation

Each trustee who is not an employee is paid a trustee’s fee of $20,000 per year. In addition, non-employee
trustees will receive a fee of $2,000 for each board of trustees meeting attended as weli as $2,000 per board
committee meeting attended regardless of whether the committee meeting is held on the same day as a board
meeting. In addition, we will reimburse all trustees for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in
connection with their services on the board of trustees.

Quarterly Chairman Fee Paid in Shares

We pay an annual fee for service as Chairman of our board and Chairman of a board committee. This
Chairman fee, paid quarterly, in shares of common stock, is $20,000, $15,000, $10,000 and $10,000 for the
board, the audit committee, the compensation and human resources committee and the corporate governance
committee, respectively, and $15,000 for other committees,

Annual and Other Grants of Restricted Shares

Non-employee trustees are awarded an annual grant of restricted stock with a value of $25,000, made on
the date of each annual shareholders’ meeting based upon the closing price of our common shares
immediately after the meeting. This award will vest in three equal annual installments with accelerated vesting
if the trustee leaves the board. New non-employee trustees are awarded restricted stock with a value from
$50,000 to $75,000 upon joining the board. These awards also vest in three equal annual installments but they
do not accelerate in vesting if the trustee leaves the board. The board of trustees may make additional grants
of restricted common shares or options to purchase common shares from time to time to non-employee
trustees.

TRUSTEE SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Fees Earned or Stock All Other
Name Paid in Cash‘" Awards®™  Option Awards®  Compensation Total
Lewis §. Ranieri............... $ 56,000 $303,476 — — $399,476
Raymond Garea . .............. 82,000 102,456 — — 184,456
Michael J. Hagan .............. 102,000 107,460 -— — 209,460
John P Hollthan I, ,,.......... ~ 102,000 109,964 — — 211,964
William M. Kahane™ . . ... ... .. 49,333 99,959 — — 149,292
Richard A. Kraemer ............ 100,000 96,201 — —_ 196,201
Alan E. Master .. .............. 112,000 32,042 — — 144,042
Harold W, Pote®™ ... ... ... ... 55,500 — — — 55,500

{1) The amount reflected consists of the annual cash retainer of $20,000 and the aggregate payments of the
$2,000 fee for each board of trustees or committee meeting attended.

(2) The amount reflected is the cost recognized by the Company in 2006 under SFAS No. 123R for all stock
grants to the executive in 2006 and prior years. These stock grants consist of (i} initial grants of restricted
stock that independent trustees receive upon joining our board of trustees, (ii) annual grants of restricted
stock with a value of $25,000 and (iii) quarterly fees paid in unrestricted stock to the chairman of our
board of trustees and each of our committees. Except with respect to the shares that we issue quarterly for
service as chairman, which shares are fully vested on issuance, each of these grants vest at a rate of
33.33% on each anniversary of the date of issuance. As of December 31, 2006, the aggregate number of
stock awards outstanding, both vested and unvested, with respect to each of these trustees is as follows:
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Lewis S. Ranieri, 234,645; Raymond Garea, 48,257; Michael }. Hagan, 27,821; John P. Hollihan III,
30,168; William M. Kahane, 28,821; Richard A. Kraemer, 47,819; Alan E. Master, 8,513; and Harold W.
Pote, 8,513 (see footnote 5 below).

(3) As of December 31, 2006, Lewis S. Ranieri had an outstanding option award for 150,000 common shares,
which became fuily vested in 2003.

{(4) Mr. Kahane resigned from the board of trustees effective September 5, 2006.

(5) Mr. Pote joined the board of trustees on March 31, 2006 as an independent trustee. On August 16, 2006,
Mr. Pote assumed the role of President and Chief Executive Officer and ceased being an independent
member of our board of trustees. During his tenure as an independent trustee, Mr. Pote was paid $55,500,
which amount represents his annual trustee fee pro-rated for the period that he served as an independent
trustee and fees paid for his participation in board and committee meetings as an independent trustee. In
addition, he was awarded 6,000 and 2,513 restricted shares on March 31, 2006 and June 1, 2006,
respectively. The corresponding expense associated with these shares as determined in accordance to SFAS
No. 123R is included in the Executive Compensation Summary.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board is comprised of three independent trustees: Messrs, Hagan (Chairman),
Kraemer and Master. Each of these trustees meets the independence and experience requirements of the New
York Stock Exchange. The audit comunittee maintains a written charter outlining the audit committee’s
practices.

Management is responsible for the preparation, presentation and integrity of the Company’s financial
statements, accounting and financial reporting principles and internal controls and procedures designed to
ensure compliance with accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations. The Company’s independent
public accountants are responsible for performing an independent audit of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) and issuing a report thereon. The audit committee’s responsibility is to monitor and oversee
these processes, including the recommendation to the Board of the selection of the Company’s independent
accountants.

The audit committee members are not professional accountants or auditors, and their functions are not
intended to duplicate or to certify the activities of management and the independent auditor, nor can the audit
committee certify that the independent auditor is “independent” under applicable rules, although the audit
committee will oversee that the Company’s independent accountants are and continue to remain independent.
The audit committee serves a board-level oversight role, in which it provides advice, counsel and direction to
management and the auditors on the basis of the information it receives, discussions with management and the
auditors and the experience of the audit committee’s members in business, financial and accounting matters.

In this context, the audit committee has met and held discussions with management and the independent
accountants, including meetings with the independent accountants during which managernent was not present.
Management represented to the audit committee that the Company’s consolidated financial statements were
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and the audit committee has reviewed
and discussed the consolidated financial statements with management and the independent accountants. The
audit committee discussed with the independent accountants matters required to be discussed by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communication with Audit Committees).

The Company’s independent accountants also provided to the audit committee the written disclosures and
" the letter required by applicable professional standards, and the audit committee discussed with the
independent accountants that firm’s independence.

Based upon the audit committee’s discussion with management and the independent accountants and the
audit committee’s review of the representation of management and the report of the independent accountants to
the audit committee, the audit committee recommended that the Board include the audited consolidated
financial statements in the Company’s 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

This report'is provided by the following trustees, who constituted the audit committee for the 2006 fiscal
yedr.

Respectfully Submitted,
Audit Committee:

Michael J, Hagan, Chairman
Richard A. Kraemer

Alan E. Master
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SHARE OWNERSHIP OF OUR TRUSTEES, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND 5% BENEFICIAL OWNERS

The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of common shares, as of April 5, 2007, by (i) each
of our trustees, (ii) each of our executive officers named in the “Summary Compensation Table” beginning on
page 21, (iii) all of our trustees and executive officers as a group and (iv) any sharecholders known to us to be
the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common shares. The SEC has defined “beneficial” ownership of
a security to mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of voting power and/or investment power. A
shareholder is also deemed to be, as of any date, the beneficial owner of all securities that such shareholder
has the right to acquire within 60 days after that date through (a) the exercise of any option, warrant or right,
(b) the conversion of a security, (c) the power to revoke a trust, discretionary account or similar arrangement,
or (d) the automatic termination of a trust, discretionary account or similar arrangement,

Number of Shares  Percentage of All

Beneficially Common

Name of Beneficial Owner Owned Shares™"
Trustees and Named Executive Officers ]
Harold W POtE . . . oo ettt et e 608,513 *
Glenn Blumenthal . . .. ..o ovrs oo 826,713 *
David J. Nething . . ..ottt e et e e ee it 223,185 *
Edward J. Matey JT. ... oottt e 225,235@ *
Nicholas S. SChOTSCR . . . o\ vttt et 2,285,767 1.8%
Robert . Delany . ... ... . o — *
Robert M. PatterSOn . . o v o oo et et e e et et e me e 36,850(5’ *
Lewis S. RANIEH . . o oo v ovee et e e et 806,115® *
Richard 1L Bermy .. ...t . 6,000 *
John R.Biggar . ...........iunininnee.nn R INIINNN 6,000 *
Raymond Garea .. ...............: e 73,492 *
Michael J Hagan . ... ...ttt 56,273 *
John P Hollihan T, . .. .. e i e e 80,403 *
Richard A. KIaemMer . . o oo oo ottt e e e e et ea e 63,1717 *
ALAn B MaSIET « . . o oot e et e et e e e e 13,928® *
All executive officers and trustees as a group (15 persons). . ........ 5,311,645 4.1%
5% Shareholders
FMR COMP. .« o v e o e ettt e e et e e e et e 13,507,468 10.5%
Neuberger BermanInc. ...... ... i 12,310,503“0) 9.5%
Barclays Global Investors, NA. . ... ..o ivuinoroeaaene oy 8,297,551 6.4%
Barrow, Hanley, Mewhinney & Strauss, Inc. .. .................. 7.921,2000% 6.1%
The Vanguard Group, Inc. ... ... ... 7,720,7314% - 6.0%
Hunter Global Investors LB .. ... vn et 7,030,900 5.4%

* Represents less than 1%.

(1) Calculated on the basis of 129,076,553 common shares outstanding as of April 5, 2007. Common shares
that are deemed to be beneficially owned by a shareholder within 60 days after April 5, 2007 are deemed
outstanding for purposes of computing such person’s percentage ownership but are not deemed
outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other sharcholder.

(2) Includes vested options to purchase common shares held by Mr. Blumenthal (388,335} and
Mr. Matey (37,500). 100,000 of Mr. Pote’s shares, 72,667 of Mr. Blumenthal’s shares and 111,753 of
Mr. Matey’s shares are pledged.
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(3) Mr. Schersch’s shares consist of 6,800 common shares, 852,539 vested options to purchase common
shares and units of our operating partnership convertible into 1,326,842 common shares. Mr, Schorsch’s
shares also include units of our operating partnership convertible into 37,086 common shares and 62,500
vested options to purchase common shares held by Mr. Schorsch’s spouse, Shelley D. Schorsch, our
former Senior Vice President-Corporate Affairs.

(4) Information based on Form 4 filed by Mr. Delany on July 5, 2006.
(5) Information based on Form 4 filed by Mr. Patterson on March 3, 2006,
(6) Includes vested options to purchase 150,000 common shares.

{7) Includes 15,000 common shares held by Mr. Kraemer and Gail Kraemer, Mr, Kraemer’s spouse, as
tenants in common.

{8) Includes 915 common shares held by Mr. Master’s spouse.

(9) Based solely on information obtained from a Schedule 13G/A filed by FMR Corp. on March 12, 2007.
The address of FMR Corp. is 82 Devonshire Sireet, Boston, MA 02110,

(10) Based solely on information obtained from a Schedule 13G filed by Neuberger Berman Inc. on
February 13, 2007. The address of Neuberger Berman Inc. is 605 Third Avenue, New York, NY 10158.

(11) Based solely on information obtained from a Schedule 13G filed by Barclays Global Investors, NA on
January 23, 2007. The address of Barclays Global investors, NA is 45 Fremont Street San Francisco,
CA 94105.

(12) Based solely on information obtained from a Schedule 13G filed by Barrow, Hanley, Mewhinney &
Strauss, Inc.on February 8, 2007. The address of Barrow, Hanley, Mewhinney & Strauss, Inc. is 2200
Ross Avenue, 31st Floor, Dallas, TX 75201-2761.

{13) Based solely on information obtained from a Schedule 13G filed by The Vanguard Group, Inc. on
February 13, 2007, The address of The Vanguard Group, Inc. is 100 Vanguard Blvd., Malvern, PA 19355,

{14) Based solely on information obtained from a Schedule 13G/A filed by Hunter Global Investors L.P. on
February !4, 2007. The address of Hunter Global Investors L.P. is 485 Madison Avenue, 22nd Floor,
New York, New York 10022.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Related Party Benefits

Person Receiving the Benefit

Nature and Amount of Benefit

Nicholas S. Schorsch, our former President, Chief
Executive Officer and Vice Chairman of our
board of trustees

Elizabeth Ann Wright, spouse of one of our former
non-employee trustees, William M. Kahane

Review and Approval of Related Person Transactions.

In connection with Mr. Schorsch’s separation from
the Company on August 16, 2006, the Company
entered into a Separation Agreement with

Mr. Schorsch which provided for, among other

_things, the termination of two leases for properties

owned by Mr. Schorsch’s family and trusts by
buying out the remaining lease payments for
aggregate amounts of $194,045 and $212,563,
respectively. Up through the termination of these two
leases, the Company paid an aggregate of $117,151
in rental payments in 2006 under these two leases.
The terms of the Separation Agreement are
described under the heading “Employment
Agreement” on page 17 of this Proxy Statement.

Elizabeth Ann Wright, a licensed independent
commercial rea) estate broker, represented

Jack Resnick & Sons, Inc. in their purchase of five
of our properties for a gross sales price of

$301 million, which transaction was completed on
April 10, 2006. Ms. Wright received $1.5 million
from Jack Resnick & Sons, Inc. for her service as
the buyer’s broker. Due to Ms. Wright’s participation
in this transaction as buyer’s broker, Mr. Kahane
recused himself from the review and approval of the
transaction by our board of trustees.

We review all relationships and transactions in which the Company and our trustees and Senior
Executives or their immediate family members are participants to determine whether such persons have a
direct or indirect material interest. Qur legal staff is primarily responsible for the development and
implementation of processes and controls to obtain information from the trustees and Senior Executives with
respect to related person transactions and for then determining, based on the facts and circumstances, whether
the Company or a related person has a direct or indirect material interest in the transaction. In addition,
pursuant to its charter, our audit committee reviews and approves all related party transactions, which we
interpret to include any transaction that is required to be disclosed under SEC rules. The Company does not
have any written standards for approving related party transactions. However, the audit committee only
approves a related party transaction if it believes the transaction is in the best interest of the Company and its

shareholders.




INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

KPMG LLP has served as our independent registered public accountants since we were formed in May
2002, and has been selected to continue to serve in such capacity during 2007. We expect that a representative
from KPMG LLP will attend the Meeting. Such representative will have an opportunity to make a statement,
if he or she desires, and will be available to respond to appropriate questions from shareholders.

During 2006 and 2005, KPMG LLP performed certain non-audit services for us. The audit committee has
considered whether the provision of these non-audit services is compatible with maintaining the accountants’
independence. During 2006 and 2005, KPMG LLP provided services and received fees in the following
categories and amounts:

2006 2005
Auditfees. . .......... IR $1,157,500  $1,101,500
Audit-related fees .. ... .. e 132,660 106,000
Tax feBs . . o i i e e e 14,310 160,370

51,304,410  $1,367,870

Fees for audit services in 2006 and 20085, related to the audit of our consolidated annual financial
statements, stand-alone audits of certain parinerships pursuvant to loan covenants and review of our annual
report, quarterly financial statements and proxy materials. Fees for audit services in 2005 also related to the
audit of management’s assessment of internal controls over financial reporting and the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting.

Fees for audit-related services in 2006 primarily related to comfort letter services in connection with our
equity offering (approximately $122,100) and review of registration statements (approximately $10,500).

Fees for audit-related services in 2005 primarily related to comfort letter services in connection with our
convertible senior note offerings (approximately $61,000), acquisition audits in connection with SEC
regulation SX 3-14 (approximately $23,000), and review of registration statements (approximately $22,000).

Fees for tax services in 2006 and 2005, primarily related to the preparation of federal and state tax
returns and consultation on various tax matters.

There were no fees for other services rendered by KPMG LLP in 2006 or 2005.

All of the audit engagements relating to audit services, audit-related services and tax services described
above were pre-approved by our audit committee in accordance with its pre-approval policy. The audit
committee’s pre-approval policy provides for pre-approval of all audit, audit-related, tax and other accounting
engagements. The audit committee has engaged KPMG as part of its annual formal engagement of our
independent registered public accountants for audit services, and with respect to non-audit engagements, the
audit committee has approved each of such engagements through direct communication and confirmation
between the audit committee and KPMG.

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Company’s executive officers and
trustees and persons who own more than 10% of the Company’s common shares to file reports of ownership
and changes in ownership of the Company’s common shares and any other equity securities with the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the New York Stock Exchange. Executive officers, trustees and greater than
10% shareholders are required by SEC regulations to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a)
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forms they file. Except for a late Form 4 filed by Richard A. Kraemer on June 6, 2007, the Company believes,
based solely on its review of the copies of Forms 3, 4 and 5 furnished to the Company, or written
representations from certain reporting persons that no such forms were required to be filed by such persons,
that all its executive officers, trustees and greater than 10% shareholder complied with all filing requirements
applicable to them.

2006 ANNUAL REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

We have enclosed along with this Proxy Statement a copy of the Company’s 2006 Annual Report to
shareholders that includes all financial statements and schedules. We will provide additional copies of the
2006 Annual Report to each person solicited by this Proxy Statement upon request in writing to the Director
of Investor Relations, at ir@afrt.com or 610 Old York Road, Jenkintown, Pennsylvania 19046.

RECEIVE YOUR ANNUAL REPORT AND
PROXY STATEMENT ONLINE NEXT YEAR

You can save the Company future postage and printing expense by receiving future annual reports and
proxy statements over the Internet instead of receiving paper copies in the mail.

If you wish to receive your annual reports and proxy statements by mail, please so indicate by making the
election in the enclosed proxy card. Unless you specifically elect to receive your proxy materials by mail,
when the proxy statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and the Company’s 2007 Annual
Report become available you will not be receiving such materials over the mail. Instead, you will be provided
with a notice on how access them on the Internet.

Even if you elect to receive your proxy materials over the Internet, you can stili request paper copies free
of charge by writing to the Director of Investor Relations, at ir@afrt.com or 610 Old York Road, Jenkintown,
Pennsylvania 19046.

HOUSEHOLDING

Some banks, brokers and other nominee record holders may be participating in the practice of
“householding” proxy statements and annual reports. This means that only one copy of our proxy statement or
annual report may have been sent to multiple stockholders in your household. We will promptly deliver a
separate copy of either document to you if you request one by writing as follows: Director of Investor
Relations, at ir@afrt.com or 610 Old York Road, Jenkintown, Pennsylvania 19046. If you want to receive
separate copies of the annual report and proxy statement in the future, or if you are receiving multiple copies
and would like to receive only one copy for your household, you should contact your bank, broker or other
nominee record holder, or you may contact us at the above address.
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CORPORATE

INFORMATION

Executive Officers Trustees Senior Vice Presidents
Harold W. Pote Lewis S, Ranieri John P. Hollihan III Fred J. Arena
President and Chairman Trustee Senior Vice President
Chief Executive Officer Hyperion Partners L.F American Financial Realty Trust Asset Management
Glenn Blumenthal Glenn Blumenthal Richard A, Kraemer Brian §, Block
Executive Vice President and Executive Vice President and Trustee Senior Vice President

Chief Operating Officer Chief Operating Officer

American Financial Realty Trust Chief Accounting Officer

American Financial Realty Trust

Edward J. Matey Jr.
Executive Vice President and Raymond Garea
General Counsel Trustee

American Financial Realty Trust

David J. Nettina

Executive Vice President, Michael J. Hagan
Chief Financial Officer and Chairman,
Chief Real Estate Officer President and

Chief Executive Officer
NutriSystem, Inc.

Alan E. Master Jeffrey P. Foster

Principal Senior Vice President

The Master Group Associate General Counsel
Harold W. Pote Sonya Huffman

President and Senior Vice President
Chief Executive Officer Operations

American Financial Realty Trust

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
KPMG LLP
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Investor Inquiries

Shareholders, prospective investors and analysts seeking
information about the Company should direct their
inquiries to:

Muriel S. Lange

Director of Investor Relations
American Financial Realty Trust
610 Cld York Road

Jenkintown, PA 19046
215-887-2280

ir@afrt.com

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of shareholders is scheduled for 10:00
am ET on Wednesday, June 6, 2007 at the office of Motgan,
Lewis & Bockius LLP, 101 Park Avenue, New York, NY.

Executive Certifications

The Company has included as Exhibit 31 to its 2006
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission certificates of the chief executive
officer and principal financial officer of the Company
regarding the quality of the Company’s public disclosure.,
The Company has also submitted to the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) a certificate of the CEO certifying that
he is not aware of any violation by the Company of NYSE
corporate governance listing standards.

SEC Filings

The Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, including financial statements, may be
obtained without charge from the Company.

Stock Market

AFR The Company’s shares are traded on the New York
_ istn 3 "

NYSE Stock Exchange under “AFR.

American Financial Realty Trust is 2 member of National
Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (NAREIT).

Headquarters
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Jenkintown, PA 19046
215-887-2280
215-572-1596 Fax
www.afrt.com
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